Sound Simulation and Visualization in virtual Manufacturing Systems

Vom Fachbereich Maschinenbau und Verfahrenstechnik der Technischen Universität Kaiserslautern zur Verleihung des akademischen Grades Doktor-Ingenieur (Dr.-Ing.) genehmigte Dissertation

von

Diplom-Wirtschaftsingenieur Xiang Yang

aus

Yangzhou, China

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 26. Februar 2013

Promotionskommission:

- Vorsitzender: Prof. Dr.-Ing. Eberhard Kerscher
- 1. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr.-Ing. Jan C. Aurich
- 2. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Bernd Hamann
- 3. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Achim Ebert

Kaiserslautern, Oktober 2013

This work is dedicated to my beloved parents 谨以此书献给我亲爱的父母 杨臻和张小凤

Vorwort des Verfassers

"Zu wissen, was man weiβ, und zu wissen, was man tut, das ist Wissen." / Konfuzius/

Die vorliegende Dissertation entstand während meiner Tätigkeit als wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter am Lehrstuhl für Fertigungstechnik und Betriebsorganisation der Technischen Universität Kaiserslautern (FBK).

Danken möchte ich an dieser Stelle Herrn Prof. Dr.-Ing. Jan C. Aurich und Herrn Prof. Dr. Hans Hagen für die Möglichkeit, meine Dissertation am FBK anzufertigen. Ihre kontinuierliche Unterstützung und zahlreichen Anregungen habe das Gelingen der Arbeit ermöglicht. Weiterhin danke ich Herrn Prof. Dr. Bernd Hamann und Herrn Prof. Dr. Achim Ebert für die Übernahme der Berichterstattung. Herrn Prof. Dr.-Ing. Eberhard Kerscher danke ich für die Übernahme des Prüfungsvorsitzes.

Besonders danken möchte ich allen aktuellen und ehemaligen Kolleginnen und Kollegen am FBK und in der Forschungsgruppe IRTG 1131. Herrn Dr. Eduard Deines, Herrn Prof. Dr. Martin Hering-Bertram, Herrn Dipl.-Inf. Simon Schröder, Herrn Mathias Hummel, Herrn Dipl.-Inf. Daniel Engel, die immer wichtige Impulse und Ideen zum Thema Visualisierung und Virtuelle Realität geliefert haben, möchte ich für die Unterstützung und die gute Zusammenarbeit danken. Herrn Dr.-Ing. Christian Lauer, Herrn Dr.-Ing. Martin Siener, Herrn Dipl.-Ing. Christian Weidig, Herrn Dipl.-Ing. Pascal Winkes, Dipl.-Wirtsch.-Ing. Tobias Max, Dipl.-Ing. Marco Zimmermann und Frau Dipl.-Kffr. Techn. Nicole Menck danke ich für die konstruktiven Diskussionen und die tolle Zusammenarbeit in zahlreichen Projekten, aus denen wertvolle Anregungen für die Arbeit resultierten. Dank auch an Frau Dr.-Inf. Fang Chen, Herr Dr.-Ing. René Malak und Herr Dipl.-Wirtsch.-Ing. Sebastian Waltemode für das Korrekturlesen der Arbeit.

Weiterhin danke ich Frau Seher Tuncay, Frau Rosemarie Schleret, Frau Dr.-Ing. Inga Scheler, Frau Mady Gruys und Herrn Roger Daneker für die tolle Unterstützung. Herrn Dipl.-Ing. (FH) Hartmut Sprengart, Herr Holger Huber und allen Azubis danke ich für die erforderliche IT-Infrastruktur und die stets schnelle Hilfe. Schließlich danke ich Herrn Dipl.-Ing. Dirk Bonnert, Herrn Tim Biedert, Frau Christina Puszkar, Herrn Dennis Mosbach und Herrn Dipl.-Inf. (FH) Jianda Xu für die zuverlässige Unterstützung.

Zum größten Dank bin ich jedoch meinen Eltern verpflichtet, die meine Ausbildung und damit auch diese Arbeit ermöglicht haben. Ihnen ist diese Arbeit gewidmet!

子和

Sindelfingen, im Oktober 2013

Xiang Yang

Contents

Co	ntents	5	I
Eng	glish S	SummaryI	Π
Deu	utsche	e ZusammenfassungI	$[\mathbf{V}]$
Lis	t of A	bbreviation	٧I
1	Intro	oduction	.1
2	State	e of the Art	.3
	2.1	Noise in manufacturing systems	. 3
		2.1.1 Effects of noise in a factory	. 3
		2.1.2 Legal regulations in Germany	. 5
		2.1.3 Noise investigation and reduction	. 9
	2.2	Sound simulation and visualization	11
		2.2.1 Basic laws of sound propagation	11
		2.2.2 Acoustic modeling and simulation	15
		2.2.2.1 Numerical methods	15
		2.2.2.2 Geometric methods	16
		2.2.2.3 Summary of sound modeling and simulation methods	21
		2.2.3 Visualization of sound propagation	23
	2.3	Virtual Reality (VR) theory	24
		2.3.1 A brief history and definitions	24
		2.3.2 Main features of VR	26
		2.3.3 Various VR systems	29
		2.3.3.1 Main components of a VR system	29
		2.3.3.2 VR system classification	31
	2.4	Industrial VR applications	33
		2.4.1 Manufacturing system level	34
		2.4.2 Manufacturing cell level	37
		2.4.3 Workstation and machine level	39
		2.4.4 Other VR applications	42
3	Rese	arch Question	43
4	VR A	Application for Sound Simulation and Visualization	45
	4.1	Development of the approach	45
	4.2	Data acquisition	46
		4.2.1 Data from a real factory	46
		4.2.2 Data from acoustic measuring	49
		4.2.2.1 Sound power	49
		4.2.2.2 Sound pressure	52
	4.3	Modeling	57
		4.3.1 Modeling of the virtual environment	57
		4.3.2 Modeling of sound source	59
		4.3.3 Modeling of human	50
	4.4	Acoustic simulation	51
		4.4.1 Simulation of sound propagation	51
		4.4.2 Evaluation of sound pressure level	53
	4.5	VR interfaces	54
		4.5.1 Data management	54
	1.1	4.5.2 User interface	56
	4.6	CAVE system preparation	57
		4.6.1 Hardware configuration	5/
	4 7	4.6.2 VK software	59 70
	4./	Summary of the approach	12

5	Softv	vare Implementation						
	5.1 Software architecture							
	5.2 Data basis							
	5.3 User interface							
	5.3.1 Simulation interface							
		5.3.2 Visualization interface	80					
	5.4	Distributed computing	82					
	5.5	Implementation results	83					
6	Exan	nples of Software Use	86					
7	Conclusion and Future Work							
8	References							
9	List of Figures							
10	List (of Tables	107					
11	Appe	endix	108					
	11.1	IIDB assessment from 2003/04 to 2008/9	108					
	11.2	Some features of legislation in various countries [Embl97]	109					
	11.3	A list of to be modeled objects in FBK Manufacturing Lab	110					
	11.4	A filled check list of modeling of machine NG 200	111					
	11.5	Absorption coefficient of common building materials [WSDG11]	114					
Cu	rricul	um vitae	115					

English Summary

The noise issue in manufacturing system is widely discussed from legal and health aspects. Regarding the existing laws and guidelines, various investigation methods are implemented in industry. The sound pressure level can be measured and reduced by using established approaches in reality. However, a straightforward and low cost approach to study noise issue using existing digital factory models is not found.

This thesis attempts to develop a novel concept for sound pressure level investigation in a virtual environment. With this, the factory planners are able to investigate the noise issue during factory design and layout planning phase.

Two computer aided tools are used in this approach: acoustic simulation and virtual reality (VR). The former enables the planner to simulate the sound pressure level by given factory layout and facility sound features. And the latter provides a visualization environment to view and explore the simulation results. The combination of these two powerful tools provides the planners a new possibility to analyze the noise in a factory.

To validate the simulations, the acoustic measurements are implemented in a real factory. Sound pressure level and sound intensity are determined respectively. Furthermore, a software tool is implemented using the introduced concept and approach. With this software, the simulation results are represented in a Cave Automatic Virtual Environment (CAVE).

This thesis describes the development of the approach, the measurement of sound features, the design of visualization framework, and the implementation of VR software. Based on this know-how, the industry users are able to design their own method and software for noise investigation and analysis.

Deutsche Zusammenfassung

Mitarbeiter in produzierenden Unternehmen sind zahlreichen Emissionen ausgesetzt, die ihre Gesundheit und ihr Wohlbefinden negativ beeinflussen. Unter den unterschiedlichen Emissionen verursacht Lärm die meisten gesundheitlichen Schäden. Zudem sind viele Mitarbeiter in der Produktion Lärm ausgesetzt. Daher stellt die Lärmreduzierung eine wichtige Aufgabe dar, da Geräusche aus Bearbeitungsprozessen die Gesundheit der Mitarbeiter schädigen können. Aktuelle Methoden zur Lärmmessung und -analyse sind häufig zeitaufwändig, verursachen hohe Kosten und werden daher in der Regel nicht in den Fabrikplanungsprozess integriert.

Die Virtuelle Realität (VR) bietet im Rahmen der Gestaltung von Produktionssystemen erhebliches Unterstützungspotential. Änderungen können an Modellen von Produktionssystemen virtuell durchgeführt und analysiert werden. Dadurch werden Auswirkungen auf Produktionssysteme bereits im Vorfeld identifiziert und unnötige nachträgliche Änderungen vermieden. Durch die Veränderungen der Daten über eine zentrale Schnittstelle wird der Aufwand, um die Konsistenz der Daten aufrecht zu erhalten und sie zu pflegen, deutlich reduziert.

Ziel der vorliegenden Dissertation ist die Simulation und Visualisierung von Lärmanalysen in die VR zu integrieren. Die Gestaltung von Produktionssystemen wird verbessert, indem Schallquellen und die Schallausbreitung in Produktionssystemen bereits im Vorfeld betrachtet werden. Dadurch erfolgt eine Gestaltung von lärmreduzierten Produktionssystemen, die nicht erst im Nachhinein aufwändig geändert werden müssen.

Zunächst erfolgt eine umfangreiche Literaturrecherche im Bereich Lärmschutz, Gesetze der Arbeitssicherheit, akustische Modellierung und Simulation, VR Theorie und industrielle VR Applikationen. Um die Simulation und Visualisierung von Lärmanalysen in die VR zu integrieren, wird auf bestehende Ansätze aus dem Stand der Technik zurückgegriffen. Darauf aufbauend, werden das Konzept zur Implementierung und die benötigten Methoden entwickelt. Dabei werden digitalen Werkzeuge, wie Modellierungssoftware und VR-Editierungssoftware, nach definierten Kriterien ausgewählt und angewendet.

Drei Hauptdatenquellen werden für die Datenerhebung und -erfassung herangezogen. Zunächst werden geometrische und Objektdaten aus der Fertigung nach einer vorgegebenen Checkliste gesammelt und mit Software modelliert. Dadurch wird die 3D-Umgebung für die spätere Implementierung geschaffen. Informationen, die innerhalb der virtuellen Umgebung erfasst werden, sind beispielsweise die Form, Massen, Material und Oberflächeneigenschaften. Durch akustische Messungen in der realen Fabrik, werden grundlegende Daten aufgenommen, wie Schallquellenenergie und Schalldruckpegel. Die Messungen werden in Abhängigkeit von unterschiedlichen Bedienungspositionen und Arbeitsvorgängen durchgeführt. Zusätzliche Informationen aus der deutschen Gesetzgebung und aus technischen Richtlinien werden in die Visualisierung implementiert. Dadurch werden Überschreitungen von Grenzwerten visualisiert.

Zur Schallsimulation wurde ein Phonon-Tracing-Algorithmus verwendet, der die Ausbreitung und Reflexion der Phononen (Schall- bzw. Soundteilchen) berechnet. Als Inputdaten dienen die Geometriegegebenheiten, die Eigenschaften der Schallquellen und die Schallabsorption der Oberflächen auf den Produktionsobjekten. Die Simulation wird in zwei separaten Durchgängen durchgeführt. Im ersten Durchgang wird die Energie- oder Druckzersetzung für jedes Phonon aus einer Schallquelle berechnet. Anhand der Ergebnisse des ersten Durchgangs wird die Impulsantwort im zweiten Durchgang für ausgewählte Positionen berechnet und dokumentiert. Anschließend wird das Ergebnis aus beiden Durchgängen visualisiert, wie z. B. die Schallintensität, die Schallausbreitung und die Oberflächen der Hauptreflektionen.

Für die Implementierung der Simulation und der Visualisierung in die VR wird eine Softwarearchitektur aufgebaut, die einen Webserver benutzt. Als Modellierungs- und Visualisierungssprache für die VR wurde die Virtual Reality Modeling Language (VRML) verwendet. Eine 3D-Benutzeroberfläche ermöglicht Anwendern eine intuitive und interaktive Navigation und Modifizierung in einer virtuellen Umgebung. Die Visualisierung von VRML-Modellen und Simulationsergebnissen ist mit Hilfe einer Datenschnittstelle sowohl in desktopbasierten als auch in Cave Automatic Virtual Environment (CAVE) basierten VR-Systemen umgesetzt. Die Schallemissionsniveaus in einer virtuellen Umgebung wurden nach Simulationsergebnissen und Bedienungspositionen bewertet und mit verschiedenen Farben visualisiert. Durch die Visualisierung und die Interaktion wird das Verständnis der Anwender für große Datenmengen deutlich verbessert.

Das Konzept wird in mehreren Anwendungsfällen umgesetzt und evaluiert. Somit kann es effektiv zur Lärmevaluation und Lärmreduzierung eingesetzt werden. Innerhalb der Dissertation wurden wichtige grundlegende Erkenntnisse zur Modellierung und Simulation Lärmentwicklungen gewonnen. Die entwickelte Datenvon und Programmierungsschnittstelle kann auf weitere Applikationen erweitert werden. Die Visualisierung der Schallausbreitung in beiden VR-Systemen – desktopbasiert und CAVEbasiert – ermöglicht es, ausgehend von Schallquellen wie z.B. Maschinen, und der Wirkung verschiedener Materialien und Geometrien, die spektrale Energie- und Druckverteilung im Raum zu beobachten. Die Untersuchungen geben Aufschluss darüber, welche Frequenzbereiche stark absorbiert werden und wie viel Schallenergie in die Umgebung reflektiert wird. Die Schallintensität einzelner Arbeitsplätze wird durch verschiedene Farbindikatoren angezeigt. Diese sind entsprechend den Normen klassifiziert, wie zum Bespiel der Verordnung zum Schutz der Beschäftigten vor Gefährdungen durch Schall und Vibrationen (LärmVibrationsArbSchV). Bei Bedarf können Baumaterialien zunächst in der Digitalen Fabrik ersetzt werden. Nach einer Evaluierung der Änderungen in der VR können diese anschließend in der Realität ausgetauscht werden.

List of Abbreviation

ANC	Active Noise Control				
ANSI	American National Standards Institute				
AR	Augmented Reality				
ArbStättV	Arbeitsstättenverordnung				
ASiG	Arbeitssicherheitsgesetz				
BAuA	Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin				
BEM	Boundary Element Method				
CAD	Computer-Aided Design				
CAM	Computer-Aided Manufacturing				
CAVE	Cave Automatic Virtual Environment				
CFD	Computational Fluid Dynamics				
CIP	Continuous Improvement Process				
CNC	Computerized Numerical Control				
dB	decibel				
DIN	Deutsches Institut für Normung				
DGUV	Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallversicherung				
e.g.	for example				
etc.	et cetera				
ERP	Enterprise Resource Planning				
GUI	Graphic User Interface				
HMD	Head-Mounted Display				

IEC	International Electrotechnical Commission
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
IIDB	Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit scheme
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
FEM	Finite Element Methods
FDTD	Finite Difference Time Domain
FIR	Finite Response Filters
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration
Pa	Pascal
PDE	Partial Differential Equations
rpm	Revolutions per minute
SME	Small and Medium-sized Enterprises
SPL	Sound Pressure Level
SWL	Sound Power Level
TA	Technische Anleitung
VDI	Verein Deutscher Ingenieure
VR	Virtual Reality, Virtuelle Realität
VRML	Virtual Reality Modeling Language
UVV	Unfallverhütungsvorschrift
X3D	Extensible 3D

1 Introduction

The employee is a key element in manufacturing systems, but they are often stressed out by different influences during their work. Negative factors typically include the noise emitted by the machine processes, pollution from chemical solvent, heat from thermo forming process, or extremely high/low levels of humidity in some industries. The noise - an essential problem and risks for workers in a factory - can be caused by machinery, power tools or other activities. The uncontrolled noise can influence employees' wellbeing potentially causing diseases and other health problems. Not only are the employees exposed to the noise from the factory, the neighbors are as well. Responding to the neighbors' complaints and reducing their acoustic pollution is also a duty of the enterprisers.

Currently, the study of negative noise factor is often ignored during factory design and planning. Therefore, to analyze and reduce the negative noise effects in the working environment of manufacturing systems is an essential and urgent issue. This issue is also related to ergonomics research, human factors, working safety, as well as other topics.

The conventional method is to measure the sound pressure level (SPL) after the factory is built and the manufacturing system is setup. Using the data, the necessary changes are made if the noise level exceeds the limit. This approach is useful, but is usually costly and causes production to stop. Sometimes the necessary changes cannot be made because of the required time and costs. Thus, a new and more efficient approach needs to be developed.

One of the useful tools to support the noise investigation in factory is acoustic simulation, which provides the data of sound wave behavior and SPLs. Inspired by the well-established approaches and algorithms in computer graphics, acoustic simulation has been investigated and further rapidly developed in recent years. Furthermore, the increased computer hardware performance and software technology enables complex calculation of sound propagation and evaluation of its effects to the environment.

In recent years, the Virtual Reality (VR) or virtual environment has become one of the most important research topics, not only in computer science but also in mechanical engineering. Due to its beneficial features –immersion, interaction and imagination– VR has opened a new perspective for researchers in a variety of fields, which enables them to extend current implementations. In industry, VR applications are being developed for experimental and practical research, especially for product design, production and factory planning, information and data visualization, simulation integration, etc. Within a virtual environment, high quality visualization and other types of output, such as audio output and haptic feedback, facilitate participants' perception and understanding. The rich methods of interaction, such as using fly stick and the gesture tracking, allow users to explore the virtual world, analyze the complex data sets, and manipulate the single virtual object.

VR has extended the power of the digital factory concept and become a more and more widely applicable platform to address different issues in manufacturing. Acoustic simulation and visualization in the virtual environment is a sub-topic of virtual workplace design, addressing the issue of noise analysis and control in a manufacturing system. More precisely, sound simulation concerns the influence of sound propagation in workplace design and planning of a factory. Through analysis of the simulated factory layout, absorption material

and used machinery, designers and planners can understand the noise effects before the factory is actually setup. In a virtual environment, changes could be easily made without high costs and potential risks. Different planning choices are able to be viewed and evaluated directly in VR.

Currently, some research projects integrated sound simulation in a digital factory or a VR system. However, there is no existing and well-developed solution for noise investigation in a virtual factory. Some solutions focus on the improvement of simulation algorithms; others only use VR as a visualization tool, ignoring the communication between simulation software and VR systems. To make a better use of acoustic simulation connecting VR systems for industrial applications, it's necessary to connect it to VR systems.

This thesis attempts to contribute to the noise investigation through combining acoustic simulation and VR. The acoustics simulation provides the necessary data and VR is considered to be an ideal implementation platform for simulation and visualization. Although the acoustic measurements are expensive and complex, data from an actual factory provides important input and validation of the simulation, as well as information for further investigation. Hence, the sound pressure and sound energy measurements are taken from a real factory. This factory is then recreated in 3D with geometric details, which provides the basic input data for acoustic simulation and visualization in VR. To facilitate the use of acoustic simulation and enhance the data interface between simulation and VR, a software tool is designed based on the research proposition and application scenario. Several issues are taken into account, such as the converting of file formats, control of simulation processing, and generation of user interfaces.

This thesis is structured as follows. Chapter 2 provides an overview of related research topics and current research. First, the noise issues in manufacturing, general knowledge of noise effects and the established noise investigation methods are introduced. Second, the basic laws of sound waves, acoustic modeling and simulation, and visualization methods are described. The third part provides a brief introduction of VR, including the historic development, term definition, system components, and main features. Then, a review of current VR application from manufacturing system level to the workstation level are presented and summarized. Chapter 3 introduces the main research question in this thesis and defines the key tasks and requirements. Based on research question, chapter 4 describes the development of research approach in five steps. Data acquisition step of the design introduces the required data, the methods to collect the data from an actual factory, acoustic measurements, and a legal regulation study. The modeling step provides a guide to model a virtual manufacturing environment, a sound source, and a human model (avatar). The acoustic simulation step introduces the implementation of "phonon tracing" and "phonon collection" for sound wave simulation and visualization. The last two steps introduce the connection between sound simulation and the VR system, as well as the required hardware and software configurations. Chapter 5 presents the implementation process of the software tool. The software architecture, data basis, user interface design and distributed computing concept are discussed. In chapter 6, several use cases are used to validate the software tools and sound simulation in a virtual factory. The result provides an evaluation of proposed approach and the software tool. Chapter 7 provides a summary of the entire research work and an outlook for further development.

2 State of the Art

In manufacturing systems, noise is an important issue which affects the health and safety of workers, as well as the working efficiency. Therefore, the impact of noise in a factory, selected legal regulations, and some established investigation and control methods are described. To handle such issues, different computer aided methods are implemented, such as the acoustic simulation and visualization. Therefore, brief introduction of these methods is made. Further chapters give an overview of the VR technologies and their recent development. And the implemented applications in manufacturing systems are discussed, which enables a systematic analysis and comparison of current research work in VR field. Based on the information presented here, the main research questions and involved tasks will be defined in later chapter.

2.1 Noise in manufacturing systems

2.1.1 Effects of noise in a factory

The factory workers are exposed to any number of occupational hazards every day, such as chemical solvent, heat, vibration, bad lighting, etc. The noise issue is among these hazards, which is starting point of this thesis. Noise in a factory can be caused by machinery, power tools or other activities, which can influence employees' health and even cause diseases. According to Deutsches Institut für Normung (DIN) standard 1320 and Association of German Engineers (VDI, Verein Deutscher Ingenieure) standard 99, noise is described as unwanted sound causing disorder and health problems. When the noise exceeds specific limits, the risks of hearing loss or other sicknesses increase. Figure 1 shows a brief identification of the noise influences to humans at different SPLs [Fuch10, Mart94, Work02 and Hoes75].



Figure 1: Scale of SPLs in common situations

In acoustics, the SPL is usually used to measure the effective pressure of a sound wave (*P*) relative to a reference value (*P*₀). The unit of SPL (*L*_p) is decibel (dB), which is converted from sound pressure unit Pascal (Pa). The basic calculation is: $L_p = 20 \lg (P/P_0)$ in dB

Noise is becoming one of the most frequent occupational hazards in manufacturing. A literature study shows that the well-established investigations are made in different countries. The following facts show the importance of this issue.

According to the investigation of the Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (BAuA), about five million employees are exposed to noise in Germany [Schm09 and BAuA11]. Figure 2 shows the recognized occupational diseases and patient rates in 2009, which is based on German Statutory Accident Insurance (DGUV) data. About 34% occupational diseases belong to noise-induced hearing loss and the accident insurances pay about 170 million Euros every year for those cases. Especially in metal manufacturing enterprises, the proportion of noise related diseases is 41% of all recognized occupational diseases [Schm09].



Figure 2: Recognized occupational diseases in Germany 2009, based on DGUV data

- □ In Singapore, an investigation was made in small and medium-sized enterprises (SME). Over 38,000 workers are examined by designated factory doctors annually. Among them, about 88% are due to noise exposure [Phoo90].
- CLARK stated in 1991 that over six million workers in the USA are exposed to hazardous noise [Clar91]. According to the evaluation by Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in 2011, approximately 22 million workers in the United States are exposed to hazardous noise levels at work. An estimated 242 million dollars are spent annually on workers' compensation for hearing loss disability [CDC11].
- □ There is no national standard in Kuwait. Therefore, the researchers investigated the industrial noise pollution in Kuwait according to the UK standard (British Noise at Work Regulation of 1989). The research results show that the workers at all five investigated manufacturing facilities, such as cutting, canning or packing, are exposed to noise louder than allowed minimum values [Khur00].
- □ A study of the Health and Safety Executive estimated that as many as 170,000 people in England suffer from deafness, tinnitus, and other hearing difficulties resulting from

exposure to noise at work. And over one million employees are estimated to be exposed to potentially harmful levels of noise [Brit10]. From 1991 to 1995, members of UK Association of British Insurers handled about 230,000 noise related claims for deafness [ABI96]. Furthermore, in the period from 2008 to 2009, 210 people in England qualified as new cases of noise caused deafness (permanent hearing loss) based on the statistical data from the Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit (IIDB) scheme (see appendix 11.1).

□ In the study made by CHEW and LIN in Hong Kong at 1988, more than a thousand workers were examined. 37.5% were found to be working in locations with the noise level in excess of the limit and 18.6% were found to have industrial hearing loss [Wong90].

The impacts of noise to the workers in manufacturing systems are classified into three main categories: occupational safety, negative health impact and preservation of work performance. They are described as follows:

- □ The occupational safety: according to International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 7731 [ISO03a], for workers' safety the loudness of warning signal in industries must be 15 dB louder than the ambient noise. The high noise level could cause the waning signal to be ignored which may cause accidents. Another case is the communication requirement among workers. The quality of lingual communication is deteriorated with excess noise in a working environment, another potential unsafe factor. More details about communication problems caused by noise refer to [ISO03b].
- □ The negative health impacts: health damages results from exposure to repeated or very loud noise at work. The health damage could be stress and tiredness, dizziness, hearing damage, temporary/permanent hearing loss, heart diseases, among others. However, the effects of noise caused hearing loss are irreversible, which means there is no cure if an employee's hearing has been lost [Brit10]. For other noise related health risks, such as physiological effects, loss of eye clarity, or loss of color perception and night vision refer to [VDI88, Kryt94 and VDI99].
- The preservation of work performance: Much research work discusses about the impact of noise to workers' performance. The results of studies point to the same conclusion. Different authors stated a significantly poorer performance when employees are exposed to noise [Sher90, Sund94 and Ljun07].

The costs paid for the negative effects of noise to employees are huge. "Such costs include not only the financial compensation or damages that must be paid, and the reduced enjoyment of everyday life for those with a hearing loss, but also less quantifiable factors such as reduced productivity, increased stress, disturbed speech communication and risk of accidents for a large number of workers." [Embl97] Therefore, a comprehensive approach to investigate the noise issue in earlier planning is necessary. The costs and time to take this issue into account in design and planning is considerably less than the costs for factory re-planning or the costs for employee compensations.

2.1.2 Legal regulations in Germany

The laws and guidelines for noise control differ among countries. Some examples are the British Noise at Work Regulation of 1989 in England, the US Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) standards of 1996 in USA, and the Law of the People's Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution of 1996. These legislations show differences, such as the upper limits on noise over an eight hour period and

the limits of peak SPL. For example, the limitation of an eight hour average A-weighted SPL is 85 dB in Austria, Brazil, Finland and Germany, but 90 dB in Argentina, India, Japan, and some states in Canada. An overview of the main features of legislation in various countries can be found in 11.2 [Embl97]. The investigation in this thesis uses the legislations of Germany. Based on this study of the essential laws and guidelines, the noise limits to ensure employee health and safety in German industries are well-defined and used in this thesis's approach.

ASiG

The Germany's Occupational Safety Adviser Act "Gesetz über Betriebsärzte, Sicherheitsingenieure und andere Fachkräfte für Arbeitssicherheit (Arbeitssicherheitsgesetz - ASiG)" was legislated in 1973 and the last change was made in 2006. This Act defines the basic organizational structure of occupational safety and the employers' duties at operational level including their tasks, responsibilities and established collaboration. It can be used in combination with other occupational safety laws as guidelines for employers.

LärmVibrationsArbSchV

Commonly in the European Union, the minimum requirements to protect the workers from noise are determined by European Parliament and the Council with directive 2003/10/EC [EC03]. In 2007, the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of Germany (BMAS) published the "Verordnung zum Schutz der Beschäftigten vor Gefährdungen durch Lärm und Vibrationen (Lärm- und Vibrations-Arbeitsschutzverordnung - LärmVibrationsArbSchV)" as guidelines for employers [BMAS07]. It is the German transposition of the European directive 2003/10/EC. This ordinance closed a gap in the German law for occupational safety and health. Since then, the 2003/10/EC directive has been adapted by using national legislation LärmVibrationsArbSchV. The most recent changes were made in 2010 (BGB1. I S. 964).

The main features of the both ordinances are identical. For example, based on §6 of LärmVibrationsArbschV, correspondingly §6 of 2003/10/EC, the upper and lower action values are provided to guide the noise control duties. The upper and lower action value of a eight hour average A-weighted (L_{ex} , 8h) are 85 dB(A) and 80 dB(A), respectively. Furthermore, the upper and lower action values of peak SPL (LC_{pk}) are 137 dB(C) and 135 dB(C), respectively.

With the new ordinance, employers have legal information about the limits of dangerous noise and risk assessment methods for the noise hazard. The employers are also responsible for informing the workers about the noise hazard and for providing the safety training and the appropriate health surveillance. In addition, the employees need to know the technical and organizational methods that can be used to eliminate or to reduce the risk of over-limited noise. It is an essential duty for the employers to train their workers about safe working practices to minimize the exposure to industrial noise.

UVV - Lärm

In 1989, the European directive 86/188/EWG was implemented in Germany by using the guideline "Unfallverhütungsvorschrift (UVV) - Lärm" (number BGV B3), which aims to reduce the risks of hearing damage and hearing loss resulting from working conditions. In

2007, the use in this guideline was replaced by LärmVibrationsArbSchV. The corresponding accident prevention measures were passed on the new directive.

ArbStättV

The workplace ordinance "Verordnung über Arbeitsstätten (Arbeitsstättenverordnung - ArbStättV)" was released in 2004 and the last change was made in 2010 (BGBl. I S. 2179). In this ordinance, the setup and operation of the workplace with respect to the safety and health of employees are established. Chapter §2 defines the term *noise* and *noise hazard* in industry and further defines an area of noise over 85dB as noise endangered area. Chapter §15 establishes the upper limits of noise in different work areas, namely the labor, office, industry and social room. This ordinance also suggests that the noise should be kept as low as possible given the nature of the undertaking. The action values of A-weighted SPL and peak SPL are identical to the defined action values in LärmVibrationsArbSchV.

TA Lärm

Based on §48 chapter of the national law BlmSchG, the guideline "Technische Anleitung zum Schutz gegen Lärm mit Erläuterungen (TA Lärm)" was made (GMBl Nr. 26/1998 S. 503). It aims to protect the neighborhood and the general public from the harmful effects of noise and prevent negative environmental effects caused by noise. It provides many realistic based methods and tools to measure, analyze, and evaluate the effects caused by noise emitted from industry. Different limitations for day and night time are provided, with the area types, such as the pure residential area, the mixed residential area, and the pure industry area taken into consideration.

VDI 2058

This German directive, which was established by VDI, aims to provide guidelines for assessment of industrial noise and prevent its negative effects in the neighborhood. This directive is not a law, but as a collection of expert options, it is still essential reference for noise control. Therefore, it is now often implemented together with "TA Lärm" and is as generally the accepted principle for manufacturers in Germany.

	Indoor Area							
Legislations	LärmVibrationsArbSchV and ArbStättV							
Situation	lower action value	exceptional situation						
Limitation of SPL (A) L _{ex, 8h}	80 dB(A)	85 dB(A)	87 dB(A)	90 dB(A)				
Limitation of Peak SPL LC _{pk}	135 dB(C)	137 dB(C)	140 dB(C)					
	Outdoor Area							
Legislations	TA Lärm and VDI 2058							
Situation	day, industry area	night, industry area	day, mixed area	night, mixed area				
Limitation of SPL (A) L _{ex, 8h}	65 dB(A)	50 dB(A)	60 dB(A)	45 dB(A)				

Table 2-1: A brief summary of various legal limitations in Germany

According to the study of these laws, directives and guidelines, the limitations of A-weighted SPL and peak SPL that are implemented in German industry are listed in Table 2-1. For an

indoor area, the lower action value, upper action value and the exposure threshold of SPL are 80dB, 85dB and 87dB, respectively. They are the most essential limitations for noise control in a factory. The actions to be implemented as the limits are exceeded are shown in next section. For outdoor limitation for the two typical areas in day and night are also shown in Table 2-1. However, this thesis focuses on the indoor acoustic simulation and evaluation. In addition, the simulation algorithms and approach for indoor area limitations is not further considered.

Duties of employers

The laws and guidelines require employers to act on the noise risks, namely to eliminate or reduce the risks from exposure to noise. Specific duties are also placed on employers when the noise exposure to average SPL and peak SPL reach certain limits. Then, the corresponding methods should be implemented in the factory. Table 2-2 provides an overview of these methods at different limitations, which are based on the investigation of LärmVibrationsArbSchV and ArbStättV [Schm09].

	Information Provided for Staffs								
	information, introduction on the risks posed by noise and and training on protection methods								
		general information and instruction of occupational health							
Duties of	Hearing Protection								
employer at		provided suitable and sufficient hearing protection							
different							required hearing protection		
action values									
and	Preventive Medical Examinations								
limitations		provided health surveillance			nce	re	equired me	dical examination	
	Additional Measures								
							identifie	d noise areas	
							noise	reduction programms	
L _{ex, 8h} dB(A)	80	81	82	83	84	85	86	≥ 87	
LC _{pk} dB(C)	135	136				137	138	≥ 140	

Table 2-2: Employer duties as this noise arrived specific limits [Schm09]

At the lower action value (average SPL of 80dB or peak SPL of 135dB) employers have a duty to provide their employees information on the risks posed by noise and about how to protect themselves. Hearing protection methods and wearable equipment, as well as the health surveillance, should also be provided by employers at the lower action value.

Additional measures are required as the noise level reaches the upper action value (average SPL of 85dB or peak SPL of 137dB). The employers have a legal duty to identify/mark the noise area and make sure the workers are protected by wearing ear protections. The blue sign to identify the noise threatened area is shown in Figure 3a. If the noise evaluation shows that the workers are often exposed at or above upper action value, the employers have to implement suitable noise reduction measures. More investigation about noise control and employer duties can be found in [Hoes75 and Brit10].



Figure 3: The sign of a noise-identified area (a) and various hearing protection tools (b)

2.1.3 Noise investigation and reduction

To evaluate the noise risks and to select suitable noise control measures in a factory, a few methods are commonly implemented. These methods include the identifications of noise types, noise sources, noise related effects, hearing protection methods, and the noise assessments. They are listed as follows [Brit10]:

- □ Identify the different types of noise in the workplace. Usually all sound sources are taken into account, from speech between employees to the sound from machinery.
- □ Identify people who might be exposed to noise. The exposure time and area are recorded as well.
- □ Estimate the employees' noise exposures and compare them with legal limits.
- □ Identify the types of noise measurements that are needed.
- □ Identify the types of hearing protection that are needed. Determine protection method which is best for each employee based on their noise exposure.
- □ The results of health surveillance are taken into account.
- □ Record all results of noise assessment in factories.
- □ Update the assessment regularly, etc.

These measures ensure a step by step noise investigation in a factory. However, most of these measures are based on the measurements and surveys once a factory is running. An early check during factory planning is not possible. Due to the high costs and time, subsequent adaptions and modifications in a manufacturing system are preferred to be avoided. Therefore, an approach to enable the noise assessment during the factory and workplace design phase, with respect to the manufacturing processes and facilities, is required.

According to the noise analysis and evaluation, the methods to reduce noise in a factory are required in case of exceeded action values. SCHMISCHKE summarized the different methods and classified them into five main categories [Schm09]. These methods, shown in Figure 6, rang from technical solutions to organizational measures and personal protections. The primary methods are more efficient and more cost-effective than the secondary methods. The objective for implementing such methods is to create a better working environment, improve communication in the workplace, reduce stress, and reduce the risk of hearing damage.

The methods in the first category achieve to eliminate the noise sources directly. For example, selecting and using low-noise machines and manufacturing processes. Commonly, a duty of facility manufacturers is to provide the emission information of their products [VDI96 and EC06], so that the factory designer and production planner are able to compare and evaluate different facility choices in the design phase. In other words, the noise related risks should be reduced before the manufacturing system is established, if possible. It helps the employers to meet their legal obligations and reduces the need for additional sound reduction measures at a later stage, which mostly result in high costs. In [Fach07 and Brit10], the author provides a set of guidelines to help employers purchase quieter machineries.



Figure 4: Noise reduction method classification

The methods in the second category focus on reducing the sound propagation through air and objects. Typical methods are encapsulation and shielding of noisy machinery, use of noise absorption materials to isolate the noise sources, or vibration isolation etc. [DIN10d and Möse10b]. The third category provides the noise reduction methods for noise polluted areas. Methods include building a cabin or using absorption shields. Figure 5 shows the cabin and shield products from the company J.I.M. GmbH. More suggestions and guidelines to implement cabins and shields in a manufacturing system can be found in [VDI83a and VDI83b]



Figure 5: The noise isolation cabin (a) and noise absorption shield (b) [JIM12]

The organizational methods include factory layout planning and work scheduling related approaches. For example, the redesigning of the workplace and more breaks for the workers in a quiet social room. Such measures cannot reduce the noise and its propagation in a factory, but can reduce the negative effects of noise to the workers. The personal hearing protections would also be required. It is important for the employees to have a range of protectors to choose from, so that they can have the best suitable ones. Therefore, it is important for the employees to provide a wide range of hearing protection solutions and encourage their employees to use them. Some of the protectors, such as foam earplugs, pre-molded earplugs, earmuffs, and custom ear molds are shown in Figure 3b.

In addition to the typical noise control methods, Active Noise Control (ANC) approaches have rapidly developed in recent years. Limited by the high costs of hardware configuration, these methods are not widely implemented despite their efficient noise reduction effects. Several successful implementations can be found in military and aerospace use. Hansen provides a review of current and future ANC industrial application. Different essential components, such as sensor, controller and filter, are described. He also discusses the necessary further developments to overcome the technical limitations of ANC applications in industry [Hans05]. As an important supplement to currently widely used methods, ANC offers new potentials to improve the noise control systems in industrial applications.

2.2 Sound simulation and visualization

Nowadays, there are many established methods for sound simulation and sound visualization, which are widely implemented for computer games, multi-sensory user interface, or acoustic prototyping. These methods are mostly wave-based or geometric methods. This chapter provides an overview of the basic laws of sound propagation, as well as existing acoustic modeling and simulation approaches.

2.2.1 Basic laws of sound propagation

Both the wave-based method and geometric method of sound simulation are based on the fundamental physical laws of sound wave propagation. Phenomena such as reflection, refraction and absorption are used in the methods and are briefly introduced in this section.

A sound wavefront is commonly understood as a surface consisting of all points on a sound wave at the same position in a wave cycle. That means all of the points located on the crests or troughs of the same wave form a sound wavefront. Based on Huygens's principle, a basic physical law which interprets the propagation of waves, the sound envelope of sound waves can be understood well. The Dutch physicist CHRISTIAN HUYGENS states that: every point of a wavefront may be considered the source of secondary wavelets that spread out in all directions with a speed equal to the speed of propagation of the waves [Grim91]. Figure 6a and Figure 6b show the propagation of plane and spherical sound wavefronts resemble plane wavefronts as they travel. Each of the spherical wavelets for all of the points on each wavefront has the same radius and travels to another plane wave (the sound speed is considered as constant). And as shown in the figure with the arrow, the direction in which the spherical wavelets travel is locally perpendicular to the wavefronts.



Figure 6: The illustration of plane wavefronts and spherical wavefronts [Dein08]

When the sound wave leaves one medium and enters another one, a portion of the sound wave will be absorbed by the medium (absorption), while the rest reflects off of the medium surface (reflection). Secondary effects such as refraction, dissipation and diffraction are also involved. Using HUYGENS's principle, such phenomena during sound wave propagations can be explained well.

Reflection

The effect of reflection changes the direction of the waves that are emitted by the sound sources. A refection occurs when the sound wave bounces off a surface, such as a surface on a wall or a machine. The reflection of the sound wave follows the law "angle of incoming (incidence) equals angle of outgoing (reflection)", also known as the "law of reflection." The same phenomena are observed with light and other waves as well. Therefore, performing calculations using Huygens's law obtains identical results as NEWTON's geometric optics, which focuses on the particle principle of light.



Figure 7: The illustration of sound wave reflection at surfaces (specular and diffuse)

According to the surface features, the reflections are divided into two types, specular reflection and diffuse reflection. Figure 7, illustrates both cases. If the reflecting surface is "smooth", for example a flat mirror, the sound wave reflexes specularly. The incident sound wave and the reflected sound wave are on the opposite sides of the normal with the same angle (Figure 7a). If the surface is not smooth, the sound waves are reflected unevenly in different directions, referred to as diffuse reflection (Figure 7b). For more discussion about diffusion effect, refer [Cowa94 and Embr01]. The smoothness of surface is measured by using wave-length. If the dimensions of surface unevenness are considerably smaller than the wave-length then the sound wave is specularly reflected. Many common materials show a mixture

Absorption and refraction

When the incident sound wave strikes a surface, only a part of the energy is reflected back, the rest is absorbed by the material. The energy loss of a sound wave during absorption can be considered as two parts: refraction and dissipation. As a result of dissipation, the fibers or particles the absorbing material vibrate and cause heat due to the friction. In other words, the sound absorption is accomplished by way of energy to heat conversion. This also explains why a fibrous material is more absorptive than a denser material.

The velocity of a sound wave is dependent upon the properties of the medium through which the wave propagates. If the medium property changes, the wave velocity changes. Therefore, refraction occurs as the sound waves pass through from one medium to another in a changed direction due to changed wave velocity. Huygens's principle also explains the refraction phenomenon and is used to derive SNELL's law, also known as law of refraction. The refraction coefficient is able to be calculated through the ratio between the transmitted sound intensity and the incident sound intensity.

To describe the absorption property of a material surface, one factor and four coefficients are used. The reflection factor *R* expresses the amplitude and phase changes of a sound wave, which strikes a material surface and reflects back. The absolute value of *R* varies according to the frequency and to the direction of the incident sound wave. Then the reflection coefficient ρ is equal to $|R|^2$. Derived from the reflection coefficient, the absorption efficient is $\alpha = 1 - \rho$. For more details about the derivations, refer to [Kutt00]. The absorption coefficient can be further divided into two parts: refraction coefficient τ and dissipation coefficient δ . The energy balance of a sound wave can be described using following formal: $\alpha + \tau + \delta = 1$ [Faso84].



Figure 8: The refraction of sound waves

The absorption coefficient value at different frequencies can be determined by experimental approaches. A commonly used method is the KUNDT's tube measuring method, which is normed according to DIN EN ISO 10534-1 [DIN10a] and DIN EN ISO 10534-2 [DIN10b]. Two different measurement settings are respectively based on voltage standing wave ratio [DIN10a] and transfer function [DIN10b]. DIN EN ISO 354 shows another measuring method for estimating the absorption coefficient in a reverberation room [DIN03b]. Two reverberation times are measured, with or without a specimen placed in a reverberation room. The sound absorption coefficient of the acoustic material for various angles of sound incidences is then averaged. This method is widely implemented as an evaluation index for acoustic design of a concert hall, interior materials for automobiles, or construction materials. Both of these two methods are limited to laboratory measuring conditions, while the ADRIENN-method is more application-related. Using this method, the absorption coefficient is calculated by determining the difference between the impulse responses in empty space and in front of the measuring surface.

Air which absorbs sound is a medium in most working space. The amount of the absorption is dependent upon the frequency, the relative air humidity, the air temperature and the environmental pressure. The sound intensity after absorption can be calculated through the original sound intensity at the source, the distance the wave travelled, and the attenuation coefficient [Kutt00]. Some of the attenuation coefficients at 20 °C and normal environment pressure are shown in Table 2-3. For the calculation, refer to [Bass90].

Relative	Frequency in kHz						
Humidity in %	0.5	1.0	2.0	3.0	4.0	6	8
40	0.60	1.07	2.58	5.03	8.40	17.71	30.00
50	0.63	1.08	2.28	4.20	6.84	14.26	24.29
60	0.64	1.11	2.14	3.72	5.91	12.08	20.52
70	0.64	1.15	2.08	3.45	5.32	10.62	17.91

Table 2-3: Example air attenuation coefficients at 20 °C with normal pressure [Kutt00]

Diffraction

Diffractions occur when a sound wave goes through an opening within a barrier. According to the HUYGENS's principle, every point of the sound wave within the opening can be considered as a newly created circular wave which propagates outward from the opening (see Figure 9).



Figure 9: The diffractions of sound waves

In other words, the sound bends around a change of medium [Berg95], which is why sound can be heard around corners or behind a barrier between the sound source and the listener [Crem78]. The diffractions occur often around bigger objects, such as tables and lathes, while small objects, such as bottles and cups, have little effect on the sound wave propagation.

2.2.2 Acoustic modeling and simulation

In order to determine the influences of noise in a factory, the acoustic simulations rebuild the sound propagation processes, enhancing the understanding of noise behavior. Based on the literature review, an overview of the different simulation methods is provided in this chapter. The methods are commonly divided into numerical and geometric methods. A survey of those methods is also given in [Rabe97, Sche98, Sven02, Dein08 and Silt10b].

The numerical methods, such as Finite Difference Time Domain (FDTD), Boundary Element Methods (BEM), and Finite Element Methods (FEM), rely on the first principles of physics. Discrete simulations are developed by discretization of Partial Differential Equations (PDE). They enable the exact physical modeling and simulation since the spatial and temporal step sizes are defined small enough. To ensure the accuracy, the step size has to be smaller than the wave length, but this causes the computational load to exceed today's desktop capabilities.

The geometric methods, such as the image source method, ray tracing and beam tracing methods, use a simplification of the sound propagation processes. The sound waves are considered as acoustic rays, which travel in the mediums and reflects at the boundaries of mediums according to the geometric laws. Compared to the numerical methods, the geometric methods improve the computational performance of sound simulation significantly, but at the cost of simplifying assumptions.

2.2.2.1 Numerical methods

The numerical methods, also known as wave-based methods, are based on Huygens's Principle and commonly use the KIRCHHOFF-HELMHOLTZ integral [Helm60, Kirc83, Born99 and Rile02]. They provide accurate solution of sound propagation and are independent of model complexity. However the computing performance is limited at low and middle frequencies.

The FDTD method is one of the grid-based differential time-domain numerical modeling methods, which uses a Cartesian grid for discretization [Yee66]. A FDTD formulation without a Cartesian grid is also implemented in [Bott95]. In traditional FDTD methods for sound propagation simulation, the sound pressure and volume velocity are needed and determined for each grid point. However, using only one variable is also possible [Savi10]. The corresponding PDE are estimated using finite difference functions simplifying the solution of the system. The implementation of the FDTD methods is straightforward and all the calculations are done in the time domain. More discussions of FDTD methods can be found in [Bott95, Savi02, Wils04 and Savi10].

In FEM, the computational domain is subdivided into small volumes called elements. Each element is assigned to a size and a constitutive behavior that describes the acoustic material properties to which the element belongs [Ihle98 and Brae03]. For a closed space, the wave equations could preferably be solved using FEM, which approximates the wave equations by a large system of ordinary differential equations (ODEs). However, the FEM simulation is not

able to simulate the sound waves at high frequencies because it approximates the oscillating pressure field by smoothly. To resolve a wave, at least three or four elements per wave are needed, leading to a huge number of degrees of freedom. For more implementations of FEM simulation in acoustic investigation, refer to [Kopu95 and Kaga98]

The BEMs are numerical computational methods to solve linear PDEs that are formulated as integral equations (such as KIRCHHOFF-HELMHOLTZ equation). This method is widely applied in science and engineering areas [Bane94], including the acoustic investigations [Kopu95 and Wu00]. The BEMs only subdivide the boundaries of the considered environment, not the entire surface or volume. In the FEM or FDTD simulations, the whole domain of the PDEs is discretized. The basic idea is to describe the propagation of sound waves in the interior of the domain by means of the static variables at the boundary. And the estimation of the sound pressure or velocity is a linear combination of a finite number of basic functions on the elements. Hence, the BEM is often applied because it is easier to use and more computationally efficient than the FEM and FDTD methods [Kaga92 and Kopu95].

Such numerical methods for sound simulation are mainly used at low frequencies and for simple geometric models, because the computing time and storage space increase dramatically at higher frequencies. Therefore, due the time and memory consuming, FEM and BEM methods are not often used for interactive virtual environment applications.

2.2.2.2 Geometric methods

Sound, like light, is also a wave. Therefore, many geometric methods for sound propagation modeling and simulation are inspired by methods in computer graphics, such as the ray tracing related, beam tracing related, and radiosity related methods. Some essential differences between light and sound were considered and taken into account during the method development for this thesis. For example, the sound wave has a much longer wave length than light, so diffractions around small objects are not remarkable. As a result, the geometry for sound simulation is usually large scaled and with a low level of detail. For more different considerations between the methods from computer graphic and sound wave simulation, refer to [Sche98, Dein08 and Silt10b].

Image source methods

The image source method is the simplest solution of the geometric simulation methods which treats boundary problems. Figure 10 shows the basic idea of image source method: new sound sources model the specular reflections. The sound effect caused by the reflected sound source S at the surface 1 is simplified to the sound effect caused by a new sound source S_1 , which is reduced by absorption. For simple geometries, construction of image sources up to certain number of reflection times is easy. Based on the image source simulation, the SPL at the listener position can be calculated by using all the new generated sound sources (virtual sound sources).

However, the number of virtual sound sources increases remarkably with geometry complexity and exponentially with the number of times the reflection occurred. Therefore, this method is usually implemented for simple geometry and a low number of reflection order cases. More details about image source method can be found in [Alle79, Bori84, Kris93 and Rabe97].



Figure 10: Illustrated principle of image source [Rabe97]

Ray tracing related methods

Specular reflection is well simulated in the image source method, but diffuse reflection needs other methods. In the ray tracing method, reverberation paths between a source and listener are determined by emitting rays from the sound source position and following them through the room until an appropriate set of rays reach a representation of the listener position [Kroc68 and Kulo84]. Monte Carlo path tracing methods are used to generate paths from the source to the receiver randomly.

The ray tracing method depends on the calculation of the intersections between rays and surfaces and the energy loss in the paths. Therefore, the computing complexity increases sub linearly with the number of surfaces. When each intersection is found, the paths of specular reflections, diffuse reflections, diffractions, and refractions can be sampled [Cook84]. However, the discretely sampled set of paths leads to aliasing and errors in predicted room responses. Moreover, the results are dependent on listener position dependent, so that a recalculation is required if the listener moves in the room. More discussion of advantages and disadvantages of the ray tracing method can be found in [Kaji86 and Lehn93].



Figure 11: Illustrated basic principle of ray tracing method [Funk98]

Beam tracing related method

Beam Tracing can be considered an improvement of the ray tracing method [Funk98]. The ray line, whose thickness is zero, is replaced with pyramidal beam. In beam tracing, the intersection between beams and surfaces (polygons) are detected. The original beams are split into transmission beams and reflection beams. The transmission beams are used to determine the shadow region and the reflection beams are constructed by mirroring the transmission beam over the polygon's plane. This basic idea is shown in Figure 12. This method has been widely used in acoustic modeling [Dado85, Funk98 and Funk99] and radio wave propagation [Fort99].



Figure 12: Illustrated basic principle of beam tracing method [Funk98]

When compared to the image source method, the beam tracing method needs less virtual sources for simulation. The beam tracing method has also the advantage of spatial coherence when compared to the ray tracing method. For interactive application, such as the VR applications, beam tracing results can be pre-computed to enhance the usability of the applications. However, similar the image source method, beam tracing cannot handle complex geometry, especially curved surfaces, and depends on listener position.

Radiosity related methods

Another type of geometric method is the radiosity method, which was originally used in thermodynamics [Sieg81] and further implemented in computer graphics [Cohe85]. Unlike the image source and ray tracing methods, the radiosity method is a listener position independent algorithm. Based on the input of geometry and sound source features, the sound field within the geometry can be constructed without recalculation when the listener moves.



Figure 13: Illustration of the radiosity method [Cohe85]

The basic idea of radiosity is to calculate the wave energy within the given environment. The space is split into more finite sub-patches and the energy transfers among them are determined (Figure 13). As compared to the FEM simulation, the size of each patch does not have to be smaller than the wave length, so this method is more efficient than FEM.

However, the energy exchange between two patches is commonly defined through the socalled form factor, whose calculation is time consuming. In [Shi93], an algorithm is introduced to use the radiosity method for sound wave simulation. The air absorption and time delay of arriving sound are considered in this algorithm. More introduction and improved computation approaches can be found in [Nosa04].

More acoustic simulation methods

In addition to the previously discussed methods, there are also computer aided approaches, which are implemented for sound wave propagation modeling and simulation. Some of them are inspired by the computer graphic methods and others combine two or more basic methods to overcome the disadvantages of a single method.

- □ The radiance method is closely related to radiosity method. The main difference is that the radiosity methods uses Lambertian diffuse reflection algorithms, while the radiance method allows for any directions of reflection. SILTANEN et al. introduced an adapted radiance method for sound wave implementation. The hybrid modeling brings benefits by combining the advantages of the beam tracing and radiance methods [Silt07b and Silt10a].
- □ Inspired by photon mapping, another geometric method called sonel mapping is introduced in [Kapr04 and Kapr06]. The sonel mapping is a particle based Monte Carlo method and can be implemented for acoustic calculations for complex geometries. Sonel mapping is a two stage method which enables the modeling and simulation of sound specular reflection, diffuse reflection and diffraction. In the first stage, sound particles called sonels are traced through the virtual scene in order to populate the sonel map. This map is then used in the second stage called the rendering stage. In combination with distribution ray tracing, the rendering stage calculates the echogram at a given listener position.
- □ The simulation software "ODEON" provides a hybrid method, which uses rays to discover the location of image sources. The ray cones are used to find valid image sources that could possibly be missed [Nayl93].
- □ In [Vorl88], the ray tracing method is used for visibility detection. Moreover, the ray tracing method is combined with image source method for calculation of direct sound and early reflection [Hein93].
- □ LEWERS represented another hybrid simulation method combining beam tracing with radiosity [Lewe93] in a two stage approach. Firstly, the triangular beams are traced in the space for calculation of early specular reflection. The diffuse energy is stored at the surfaces for each reflection. Secondly, the stored energy is used to determine the diffuse reverberant.
- To combine the advantages of image source method, tray/beam tracing methods and radiosity method, the quantized pyramidal beam tracing approach is introduced by STEPHENSON. The sound wave energy is carried with polygonal beams and split into reflection and diffraction. This method improves the computation time but used more memory [Step04].

- □ SCHIETTECATTE and NACKAERTS introduced a so called "mesh tracing" approach, which combines both the mesh-based numerical method and ray tracing method. Three computing steps are included: preprocess to create a randomized waveguide mesh, impulse response calculation for each pair of sound source and listener, and real-time reverberation using a fast convolution algorithm. This approach enables an acoustic simulation in real-rime [Schi03].
- □ To overcome the high computing expense of geometric methods in the case of complex geometry, TSINGOS et al. developed an improved method using programmable graphics hardware. This method can accelerate the simulation calculations and provide more realistic modeling scattering [Tsin07a and Tsin07b].

Phonon tracing method

Due to the computation complexity, the wave-based and geometric methods are not practical or efficient for large geometric models. An improved geometric approach called "phonon tracing" was developed by DEINES et al. to simulate sound propagation [Bert05, Dein06a, Dein08 and Dein10] and is introduced and implemented in this thesis. This method is inspired by the photon tracing method which uses the light particles called photons and simulates photo realistic images [Chri00 and Jens96]. Analogous to photon tracing, the phonon tracing method uses particles called "phonons" to model the sound source with defined acoustic energy. The simulation result is further used for visualization of wavefronts and evaluation of the sound energy, as well as sound pressure levels at different positions inside a virtual environment.

This phonon tracing method involves phonon emitting/tracing and phonon collecting/filtering processes. Using an unchanged sound source, only one tracing step is needed. The tracing only needs to be executed again if the sound source is changed. Based on the traced phonon map, more collections can be made for different listener positions. In the phonon emission step, the phonons emitted from the sound source carry defined information: energy, initial position, outgoing direction, and the distance traversed from the source. The emission is based on the given energy distribution, which is estimated as a sphere shape. The speed of phonons in the air is set as a constant. With each reflection, the phonon's sound pressure is decreased according to the material's absorption coefficient. At each reflection position (intersection point), the current sound pressure of the phonon is stored. The simulation can be terminated according to a pre-defined minimum number of phonons distributed to the phonon map or minimum number of reflections. These two conditions will be explained in chapter 4.

After the emission and tracing step, the phonon collection step calculates the influence of all phonons to a particular listener position. The information of all reflection positions is collected and weighted according to their distance to the listener. To trace the energy and the pressure for different frequency bands, the finite response filters (FIR) are used for each listener position. More details about filter design can be found in [Bert05].

In phonon tracing, all reflections are considered as specular reflection and the diffuse reflections are not taken into account. This simplification does not significantly affect the accuracy of the simulation, because sound wave lengths are long, therefore the diffuse reflection is usually not as considerable as light. However, the assumption is not true if the surface structure is not significantly smaller than the wave length. In order to model the diffusion, a scattering coefficient could be implemented to differentiate the reflection type

between specular and diffuse. If the implementation is done, the phonon emission step would be improved [Mich08].

Using phonon tracing, refraction and dissipation are both considered as absorption and are not separately computed, since only the reflected sound waves are essential in room acoustics. Compared to the wave-based methods, the phonon tracing method and other geometric methods fail in the low frequency range. There are two main reasons for this:

- Because the wave lengths of sound are long and of the order of typical dimensions of the room, the diffraction and interference are necessary to consider. However, they are however not taken into account in geometric methods.
- □ The air damping is commonly lower at lower frequencies so the reverberation time becomes much longer. Representing such a long reverberation time using reasonable length for a convolution kernel is difficult.

Due to the limitation of geometric methods, a combined approach could provide more ideal and accurate simulation. For example, DEINES suggested an additional wave-based method implementation to simulate the sound wave propagation at low and middle frequencies [Dein06b]. In this thesis, the simulation algorithm is not extended. However, based on the application scenario, a new software tool is made to facilitate the use of it.

2.2.2.3 Summary of sound modeling and simulation methods

A short summary and comparison of wave-based and geometric methods can be seen in Table 2-4. These methods are shown with a short description of the features, such as the input/out data, advantages and disadvantages, and the essential references used in this thesis. To compare the methods, several features, such as the computing performance, listener dependence, geometric applicability, frequency accuracy, are taken into account.

The selection between wave-based and geometric methods for a given frequency depends on the complexity and size of the model. For example, for small rooms the wave-based methods can be used in the mid-frequency range. But for large space such as factory halls, geometric models are needed. More discussion about the strengths and weaknesses of sound simulation methods can be found in [Rabe97, Sven02 and Silt10b].

In room acoustic investigation and especially in VR applications, most implemented methods are based on geometrical acoustics methods, due to the higher computing speed. Because the accuracy and performance fulfill the implementation requirements of current research work, the original phonon tracing is used in this thesis without any improvement.

		Data Input	Pros and Cons	References
Wave-based Methods	Finite Difference Time Domain (FDTD)	 sound position and time discreted pressure grid discreted geometry 	 * straightforward * ideal computing for low frequencies * operating in the time domain * accurate and robust - middle computational expense - restricted to low frequencies 	Bott95 Savi02 Wils04 Savi10
	Boundary Element Method (BEM)	 position of sound source and sound energy mesh discreted geometry set of boundary conditions 	 + very accurate + relative high computing speed + less discreted mesh +/- mesh size dependent computing speed - restricted to low frequencies - middle computational expense - only solves linear problems 	Kaga92 Kopu95 Wu00 Sven02
	Finite Element Method (FEM)	 position of sound source and sound energy mesh discreted geometry 	 + very accurate + also solves nonlinear problems + many commercial software +/⁻ mesh size dependent computing speed - restricted to low frequencies - high computational expense 	Kopu95 Kaga98 Ihle98 Brae03
	Image source related method	 position of sound source position of listener geometry with material acoustic properties 	 * simple and robust * accurate for low ordered specular reflection * fast computing in box shaped geometry - not physical modeling - diffuse reflection is not considered - only for simple geometries, not for curved surfaces - only for low order of reflections 	Alle79 Bori84 Kris93 Rabe97 Sven02
sthods	Ray tracing related method	 position of spherical sound source spherical listener position geometry with material acoustic properties 	 * easy to implement * efficient computing for complex geometry * generality for reflection, diffraction etc. - aliasing and errors in predicted room responses - to avoid possibly missed reverberation paths, a large number of samples are required for computation - recalculation is needed for new listener postion 	Kroc68 Kulo84 Cook84 Kaji86 Lehn93 Rabe97
Geometric Me	Radiosity • sound source description related method • geometry with material acoustic properties		 ⁺ listner postion independent ⁺ efficient computing for complex geometry ⁺ ideal difuse reections ⁻ high computing expense 	Shi93 Nosa04
	Beam tracing related method • position of sound source • position of listener • geometry with material acoustic properties		 ⁺ less virtual sources ⁺ spatial coherence with less sample error ⁺ possible pre-computing for interactive applications ⁻ too complex for 3D geometry ⁻ only for simple geometries, not for curved surfaces 	Dado85 Funk98 Funk99 Rabe97 Fort99
	Phonon tracing method	 position of spherical sound source with energy distribution geometry with acoustic properties position of listener 	 ⁺ listner postion independent ⁺ efficient computing for complex geometry ⁺ pre-computing for finite response filter ⁺ reusable phonon map ⁻ diffuse reflection is not considered ⁻ restricted to high frequencies 	Bert05 Dein06a Dein08 Dein10

Table 2-4: A comparison of main sound simulation methods

2.2.3 Visualization of sound propagation

Sound propagation can be described as data sets, which are complex, not intuitive, and difficult to understand. Visualization serves as a key method to improve verification of models, understanding of simulation results, design, and communication among a non-technical audience [Rohr00 and Kühn06]. According to the survey made by LOKKI and NENONEN [Lokk06], simulation, when compared to measurement data, enables several essential features of sound visualization, such as the ray/phonon paths, beam paths, particle clouds and diffractions. Therefore, high quality visualization enhances the understanding of data significantly.

The main acoustic visualization methods are divided into two groups. The first group of methods focuses on the propagation of the sound waves inside a room. Based on simulated results using the FDTD approach, YOKOTA et al. visualized sound propagation in 2D room sound fields [Yoko02]. PETRAUSCH and RABENSTEIN introduced an OpenGL based visualization of 2D sound wave propagation in real-time [Petr05]. BERTRAM et al. introduced their approach to visualize the frequency-dependent sound fronts in a room which enables the viewing of sound propagation in air and sound reflection at selected material and selected frequencies [Bert05]. This approach was further extended by DEINES et al. through more functions, such as the visualization of SPLs [Dein08]. In [Toki05], the authors represented the particle displacements in a cube-shaped room, which is pre-computed using wave-based simulation. Additionally, an implementation using VRML, enabling a time step dependent presentation, was shown.

The second group of methods focuses on the room impulse response for individual listener positions based on measured or simulated data. LOKKI and NENONEN provided a review of acoustic visualization and further implemented the visualization using the CAVE System, in which the trace paths and particle paths are shown. [Lokk06]. Based on the beam tracing approach, FUNKHOUSER et al. visualized source point, pyramidal beams, and reverberation paths, which enhance the understanding and evaluation of their modeling method [Funk98]. KHOURY et al. represented the visualized SPLs using color maps and the first wavefront using isosurfaces. The color maps provide not only sound propagation information but also an overview of sound pressure in a room [Khou98]. After optimization of acoustic systems, MONKS et al. introduced the visualization using different acoustic metrics. For example, the sound strength was visualized at room surfaces, which indicated the SPL at different time using colors. This approach enables the users to optimize their room design and compare the acoustic values between two designs [Monk00].

In this thesis, the visualization of acoustic simulation is basically an adaption and further development of the approach introduced by DEINES et al. [Bert05, Dein06a, Dein08 and Mich08]. Several visualization methods are implemented, which enables the viewing of the source point, phonon path, 3D sound front and SPLs at specific positions in a virtual environment. The simulation algorithm is not further developed, but the implementation of a software tool helps the user to use phonon tracing method to analyze noise issues in a manufacturing system.

2.3 Virtual Reality (VR) theory

2.3.1 A brief history and definitions

The human perception of the outside world is controlled by five senses: sight, hearing, touch, smell, and taste. If the sensory inputs are produced intentionally and artificially, commonly by computer technology, the reality could be called "Virtual Reality (VR)." The term "Virtual Reality" was introduced by JARON LANIER in 1986 in a conversation regarding the work of SCOTT FISHER, who used the term "Virtual Environment" in 1986 [Fish86].

MORTON L. HEILIG invented the first multi-sensory simulator named "Sensorama" (see Figure 14a) in 1957 and patented it in 1962. This mechanical device provided the users with an illusion using a 3D motion picture with smell, stereo sound, vibrations of the seat, and wind in the hair. This system was not interactive; the view was fixed and pre-recorded [Rhei91]. In fact, this invention is much older than the computer graphic field itself.

As a pioneer of computer graphics, SUTHERLAND wrote about "the ultimate display" in 1965, which is described as a device providing interactive graphics, tactile feedback, and mentioned audio, smell, and even taste [Suth65]. He invented a "Head-Mounted Display" (HMD) in 1968. This system had two displays which enabled the viewer to have a computer generated graphic overlaid on the real world [Suth68]. Together with his colleagues and students at the University of Utah, SUTHERLAND also developed fast algorithms for removing hidden surfaces from 3D graphics images. This contribution is essential to generate high quality visual image for a VR environment.



Figure 14: The Sensorama system (a) [Rhei91] and the VIVED system (b) [Fish86]

An implementation of a virtual environment named "VIVED" (VIrtual Visual Environment Display) at NASA Ames Research Center was made in 1984 [Fish86]. This system was a head-mounted, wide angle, stereoscopic display controlled by the user's position, voice and gestures (see Figure 14b). The VIVED is considered to be the first low-costs HMD with high immersive degree. Later, based on VIVED, an extension named VIEW (Virtual Interactive Environment Workstation) was implemented with the focus of human-computer interaction.
This project was under the direction of SCOTT FISHER. At the same time, Furness designed a virtual cockpit, which enabled a very wide field of vision, for fighter-airplane pilots [Furn86].

At the University of Wisconsin, KRUEGER worked on the development of his "Videoplace" system. In the graphic scene, the relation between the user's image and the virtual image could be controlled by the computer. Moreover, the movement of a virtual object could be coordinated with the actions of the user [Krue83].

DEFANTI and SANDIN developed the first functional gloves, "Sayre Glove," in 1977, which provided an effective method for multidimensional control. After that, GRIMES developed and patented a digital data entry glove in 1983. This glove integrated finger flex sensors, tactile sensors, orientation sensors, and wrist-positioning sensors. More details about gloves and gesture interface devices can be found in [Stur94 and Bier08].

The first virtual environment, with the concept of a graphic projected room, was invented at the Electronic Visualization Lab at the University of Illinois Chicago Circle in 1992. This system has been called "CAVE" (CAVE Automatic Virtual Environment) [Cruz92 and Cruz93] and significantly improved immersion in a virtual environment.

The rapid development of computer power and software development made it possible to create real-time images and visualize large-scale sets of data. More novel in/output devices were developed to enhance the human-computer-interaction. Each of these earlier efforts and attempts enabled the foundation and development of the VR concept. More investigation about the historic development of VR can be found in [Kala93a, Mazu96, Burd03, Bril08, and Zhou09].

Nowadays, VR is a comprehensively developed technology and widely implemented for scientific visualization, education and training, operation in hazardous environment, space exploration, entertainment etc. [Giga93 and McLe04]. VR became a highly multidisciplinary field drawing from computer graphics, human-computer-interaction, software engineering, and even social and psychological issues. However, there is not unambiguous definition of term "VR".

Under broad definition, VR is often referred to as "Cyberspace," "Artificial Reality," and "Virtual Environments." MYRON KRUEGER discussed "Artificial Reality" in 1983 [Krue83], and a year later, WILLIAM GIBSON used the term "Cyberspace" in his book "Neuromancer" [Gibs84]. The term "Artificial Reality" is described as a video-based, computer-mediated interactive media and the term "Cyberspace" has the meaning of a global information and entertainment network. However, these two definitions do not correctly describe VR. The term "Virtual Environment" is considered by many authors as synonym for VR [Furn86, Kala93a], because it involves the most essential features as VR. Based on a review of current research in field of VR and its applications, various definitions can be found in the literature. Some are selected and listed as follows:

- □ The definition made by SUTHERLAND was: "a system that can display information to all senses of the user with an equal or bigger resolution than the one that can be achieved in a natural way so that the user cannot say that the artificial world is not real." [Suth65]
- GIGANTE provided a definition of VR: "The illusion of participation in a synthetic environment rather than external observation of such an environment. VR relies on three

dimensional (3D), stereoscopic, head-tracked display, hand/body tracking and binaural sound. VR is an immersive, multisensory experience." [Giga93]

- □ BRIGGS defined VR in 1996: "Virtual reality can be defined as a three-dimensional, computer-generated simulation in which one can navigate around, interact with, and be immersed in another environment." [Brig96]
- □ According to BURDEA, "Virtual Reality is a high-end user-computer interface that involves real-time simulation and interactions through multiple sensorial channels. These sensorial modalities are visual, auditory, tactile, smell, and taste." [Burd03]
- □ MANETTA and BLADE defined VR in their book as "a computer system used to create an artificial world in which the user has the impression of being in that world and with the ability to navigate through the world and manipulate objects in the world." [Mane95]
- MCLELLAN defined VR "as a class of computer-controlled multisensory communication technologies that allow more intuitive interactions with data and involve human senses in new ways." [McLe04]

More attempts to define VR term can be found in [Steu92, Kala93a, Bane94, Bril08, VDI09, Zhao09, Zhou09 and Brac11]. Based on above definitions, two main perspectives can be found. The first perspective considers VR as a computer-based technology or an integration of more technologies. Another perspective focuses on the application of VR and sees VR as an artificial environment or a human-computer user interface. These two perspectives identify VR with respect to technical issues and application experience, but also cohere with each other. Therefore, some essential commonalities can be found in these various definitions:

- □ VR is a computer generated environment.
- □ The user can interact with virtual objects inside.
- **□** Real human perceptions are created by artificial world.

In this thesis, the term VR, considering the further implementation in manufacturing systems, can be described as following: a virtual environment generated by combined communication and information technologies, in which the user can navigate, interact and manipulate the environment and its involved objects. Human perceptions, which exist in real world, will be enabled in the VR. The usability of the human-computer-system and the understanding to the objects, which are rebuilt in a virtual world, can be enhanced.

2.3.2 Main features of VR

In addition to term definition, the main features are important in order to distinguish one technology from the others. "Immersion", "Interaction" and "Imagination" are commonly understood as three main features of VR. BURDEA represented these three features in a three I's illustration [Burd93 and Burd03], which is shown in Figure 15a. Figure 15b extends these three features with their essential elements. Similar understanding of these features can also be found in [Kuhl99, Bier08, Bril08 and Brac11]. According to some authors, the "real-time simulation" is considered as the third essential features of VR, instead of "Imagination." The immersion experience can be improved significantly when the real-time simulation is integrated into the VR system. These features distinguish VR systems from other computer systems and illustrate the unique advantages of VR systems.



Figure 15: The three I's of VR systems [Burd93 and Burd03]

Interaction

Interaction is the possibility for the user to move within a virtual world or to interact with the objects in a virtual world. LUNENFELD defines interaction in two categories: extractive interaction and immersive interaction [Lune93]. When the user accesses information via hyperlinks, then it is an extractive interaction. When the user is immersed in a 3D world, then it is an immersive interaction. Each interaction approach can be implemented in a wide variety of ways. The objective is to establish a natural and intuitive mapping between a user action in the reality and the resulting action in the virtual world. VR interactions involve four basic components [Mine95]:

- Navigation: the simplest and the most essential interaction for users in a VR is to move through the virtual environment. To do that, the mapping of physical motion of users to virtual motion is needed. The correspondence between physical motion and virtual motion is an issue that needs to be considered. Navigation be one-to-one or a highly exaggerated correspondence. Some alternative methods to move through a virtual world which are independent of physical motion are also possible (e.g. flying by using a joystick).
- Selection: interaction with virtual objects requires different ways of object selection, such as the touching on grabbing of an object. There are two primary selection techniques: local and at-a-distance. The local technique means that the desired object is within reach and the user can interact with it directly (e.g. a touchscreen). If the user is not able to reach the objects, then the action-at-a-distance selection is required.
- Manipulation: it is one of the most important interactions in VR, which enables the user to change the specifications of an object's position, orientation or scale in a virtual world. Only if the virtual world is changeable, the interaction between virtual objects and participants can be considered as "real". The manipulation function is usually combined with selection and movement.
- □ Menu interaction: the menus and toolboxes in a virtual environment enable the user to change additional functions. For example, the user can set filters for complex data to show the useful information only. The menu interactions are distinguished by using different visual design (e.g. list menu or sphere menu) and selection mechanism (e.g. touching or clicking).

An interaction is also possible to be made between two people in two different virtual worlds or between one immersed person and another person in real world. More interaction possibilities are discussed in [Sher02, Bril08 and Zhao09]. The interaction techniques also rely on suitable hardware devices and VR systems. Some of the input devices are introduced in next section. Generally, no single interaction technique can fulfill all the needs of all tasks. Therefore, several different interaction techniques are usually required at the same time. A comprehensive review of different interaction methods is provided in [Bier08].

Immersion

The term "immersion" has been investigated by psychologists for long time and can be easily understood as "being there". CSIKSZENTMIHALYI defined immersion as "the state of being completely involved in an activity for its own sake and losing other unrelated perceptions is called as immersion" [Csik75]. In other words, the virtual environment created by VR allows the users to be in an artificial surrounding and to isolate themselves from the real world. This immersion perception is attributed to the high quality visualization with wide field of view as well as interactive user interfaces. Because of the missing perception from real world, the users can sometimes feel uncomfortable or even sick [Bril08]. LAVIOLA JR. provided a comprehensive investigation and discussion of the sickness phenomenon in virtual environment and called it "cybersickness" [LaVi00].

Immersion is directly related to real-time visualization and interaction issues. The quality of visual perception determines degree of immersion. SHERIDAN discussed the relation between immersion and interactivity. In order to obtain the feeling of immersion, the user must be able to move through the virtual world and to observe it under any point of view [Sher91]. THANH also investigated the increasing immersion degree by using more interaction functions with higher interaction degrees [Than10]. To enhance immersion, different input devices are needed, which simplify the creating and modifying of 3D models in a virtual environment. Some examples are 3D-Maus, data glove, and fly stick. Additionally, acoustic and tactile perception effects the immersion [Brac11]. The speed of image rendering and interaction is a key issue for immersion, so that real-time interactive graphic is required. BRILL also mentioned that, the interaction speed commonly depends on the hardware and software configurations [Bril08].

Imagination

ALBERT EINSTEIN said, "Imagination is more important than knowledge. Knowledge is limited. Imagination encircles the world." [Vier29] But in reality, imagination cannot be created without perception of knowledge. In VR, different data are visualized and enable the participants to have a comprehensive presentation of the artificially created world. To generate this "replacement" of the real world, modeling and simulation are key elements. Modeling tools enable a static description of existing and non-existing environments and objects in 3D, with realistic color, texture and lighting. Some VR systems allow direct modeling tools in a virtual environment, and others provide data interface for external modeling software. The simulation presents the dynamic process data for VR, such as the object moving, shape changing or time dependent processing. This enables the use of realistic exploring, training, and designing. The virtual world extends the human knowledge and encourages the people to image, overcoming the limits of existing knowledge.

2.3.3 Various VR systems

VR concept involves various computer technologies, such as real-time 3D graphic rendering, stereoscopic displays, viewer position tracking, gesture tracking/controlling, binaural sound, haptic in/output, etc. Based on the need of the application, users can design a suitable system with different system configurations. For example, KALAWSKY represented a simple and a comprehensive VR system in 1993. This full immersive enables the participants to interact with computer generated objects and artificial persons (avatars) [Kala93b].

2.3.3.1 Main components of a VR system

Nowadays, a typical VR system involves computer, VR software, input devices and output devices. The computer is used to install an operating system, to execute a simulation, to manage the data, and to compute different software tools. To enhance the computing performance, powerful computer servers and modern multimode computer systems for distributed computing are implemented [Pach06 and Jin07]. The proportion of computer costs for the whole VR system costs is continually decreasing.

The VR software provides the user with different functions, such as the data input, filter setting, data presentation, connection with different hardware devices, etc. Due to the graphic's role in a VR system, the VR software is a central element in the whole system. The requirements of VR software are application and cost dependent. Issues, such as the data interface, rendering performance, editor functions, network connection security, and programming interfaces are usually taken into account. Currently, numerous types of VR software are being developed, some for specific users and others for more general applications. Some examples of commercial software tools are: VIZARD, EON, 3DVIA, Avizo, Amira, IC:IDO, DeltaGen, and COVISE. A few open source software/library providers are as VTK, VRJuggler, Vrui, VISTA, and VDT.

			Open		3D		CAVE	User
VR Software	Provider	Last Release	Source	API	Visualization	Modular	Support	Tracking
Vizard	WorldViz	V4.0 (02/2012)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
EON	EON Reality	V7.6 (08/2011)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
3DVIA	Dassault Systemes	V6 (12/2011)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Avizo	VSP	V7.0 (09/2011)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Amira	Visage Imaging	V5.4.2 (03.2012)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
IC:IDO	ICIDO	VDP9.0 (03/2012)	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
DeltaGen	RTT AG	V11.0 (06/2012)	No	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
COVISE	HLRS	V6.5 (2011)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
CAVELib	Mechdyne	V3.2 (2008)	No	Yes	Yes	-	Yes	Yes
K2Vi	AAM	V3 (2011)	No	-	Yes	-	No	No
VR4MAX	Tree C Technology	R7 (2011)	No	-	Yes	-	Yes	Yes
VTK	Kitware	V5.10.0 (2011)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
VRJuggler	Iowa State University	V3.0 (06/2010)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Vrui	UC Davis	V2.3 (03/2012)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
VISTA	RWTH Aachen	V1.13.0 (07/2012)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
WorldToolKit	Sense8	V0.8.6 (07/2009)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	-	Yes
VDT	Fraunhofer IFF	- (not specified)	No	No	Yes	-	Yes	Yes

Table 2-5: An overview and comparison of commonly used VR software

Generally, these programs provide an interface to import/export 3D files, connections to VR hardware and interaction devices, and extendable libraries. According to users and applications, the usability and implementation are various. A brief summary and comparison

For a better immersion experience, the interaction quality is an essential element. The interaction combines input and output together as user-computer interfaces, using perception canals of humans.

Output devices usually contain graphic, audio and haptic output technologies. Visual perception provides the main input and dominants the immersion degree. Graphic output technologies are for example the conventional LCD/LED displays and modern active/passive 3D projections. For desktop-based VR solution, LCD/LED displays are often used as the graphic output solution. 3D display is rapidly popularized in recent years. The greatest weakness of the displays is a small field of view. To realize a large sized display for Powerwall or CAVE, projection technology is preferable. Therefore, 3D projection, both active and passive, has been rapidly popularized in recent years.

In addition to graphic output, the sound and haptic output supply the human perception for hearing and feeling. A study by HENDRIX showed that the spatial sound is associated with higher presence than either no sound or non-spatial sound [Hend96]. In [Bril08], a 5.1 surround sound system for VR was introduced. Haptic perception provides non-visual information about shape, texture or force from objects and further improves the co-presence of the user in a virtual world [Basd00]. AZIZ provides a review of current haptic output devices used in VR and defined different terms, such as the "Haptic", "Proprioceptive", "Kinesthetic", "Tactile", etc. [Aziz09].

Input devices can be classified into conventional input devices, tracking devices, navigation devices, and audio interfaces. The conventional input devices include the mouse, keyboard, and draw pad. These devices are commonly used for a desktop system, but are not suitable for immersive systems. To manage a complex file system, the wireless keyboard is sometimes used in an immersive VR system.

Various tracking systems enable the interaction between the user and virtual world. From a technical perspective, the systems are divided into mechanical tracking, magnetic tracking, ultrasound tracking, optical tracking, and hybrid tracking. A review of these technologies can be found in [Burd03 and Bier08]. The tracking systems are developed for position tracking, motion tracking, gesture tracking, and eye tracking. Position tracking provides and maps the user position in a virtual world, so that the viewpoint can be continuously adapted. Motion tracking enables the interaction between real and virtual actions in a virtual environment (e.g. the implementation of fly stick). The gesture tracking technology enables a gesture-interface in VR or a device free interaction. A gesture-interface is implemented by using devices, such as a data glove [Burd03]. Open source software platforms enable a customized implementation, for example the SDK from CyberGlove. A device free gesture-based interaction relies on gesture recognition systems, such as the popular product "Kinect" from Microsoft. Eye tracing technology captures the gaze point and eye motion of user, which can be used for user interface or product design investigation in a virtual environment. Since it is an important technology, eye tracking has already been implemented in several research projects [Duch02 and Haff09]. As an example, Figure 16 shows the fly stick, finger gesture tracker, the head position tracker using markers from company A.R.T., the gesture/motion tracker Kinect from Microsoft, and the eye motion tracker Tobi Glasses from the company Tobi.



Figure 16: Fly stick (a), finger tracker (b) and 3D glasses with markers from A.R.T., gesture tracker (d) from Microsoft and eye tracker (e) from Tobi

Navigation devices enable participant to move and explore the virtual world. They are essential interact devices, which relate directly to tracking technology. The fly stick and track ball, for example, are dependent on the optical or magnetic tracker. New navigation methods, such as the eye tracking or gesture tracking based navigation systems are also found in [Tanr00, Kim04, Pfei08 and Ding09]. The audio input interface, such as a microphone used for voice recognition, can also be implemented to enhance the human-computer interaction. MCGLASHAN described the benefits of voice interface in VR and discussed the requirements of voice recognition and language understanding in a virtual environment [McG195].

In [Mine95, Mazu96, Talb97 and Ni06], more information about VR technologies can be found. TALBERT discussed the human factor in a VR environment and said that a VR system should be a human-centered system. Different visualization and interaction technologies enhance the human perception in a virtual world and further improve the system's usability and practical applications [Talb97]. SANCHEZ-VIVES investigated the relation between virtual presence and different interaction methods. Several case studies show that the presence experience in VR is also worth study on its own [Sanc05].

2.3.3.2 VR system classification

According to the user immersion levels, the VR systems are classified into non-immersive, semi-immersive, and full immersive. A non-immersive VR system is, according to some VR definitions, not a real VR system. In this thesis, this type of VR systems is considered as a desktop-based workstation with conventional graphics using monitors, keyboards, and a

mouse. This system allows users to view 3D models with different perspectives, manipulate the models, interact with the virtual objects, and implement different applications [Robe93].



Figure 17: Various VR systems. From left to right: HMD from SONY, Powerwall at the University of California, Davis and CAVE system at the FBK institute

The full-immersive VR systems, such as CAVE, provide the most costly and complex solution, but with unique benefits. Compared to a non-immersive system, an immersive VR system has a higher sense of situational awareness, a wider field of view, a higher scale perception and a sense of immersion. However, a non-immersive VR has the advantages of lower costs, shorter development time, and better implementation conditions.

VR System	Classification	Advantages	Disadvantages
Display	Non-	□ high resolution	□ small field of view
	immersive	viewed by one or more	very low immersion
		person at same time	□ only active 3D
			visualization available
			• only for simply analysis
			and evaluation
HMD	Semi-	□ 1:1 visualization available	□ small field of view
	immersive	relative high immersion	\Box only for one person
		□ simple implementation	□ low resolution
			□ limited movement by
			connection cables
Powerwall	Semi-	viewed by one or more	□ relative low immersion
	immersive	person at same time	□ the field of view and virtual
		□ active and passive 3D	space are dependent on the size
		visualization available	of projection surface
		□ front and rear projection	
		available	
CAVE	Full-	□ 1:1 visualization	\Box expensive and complex
	immersive	viewed by one or more	solution (equipment, space,
		person at same time	people etc.)
		• wide field of view	□ limited movement inside
		\Box active and passive 3D	CAVE
		visualization available	only rear projection
		very high degree of	available
		immersion	

Table 2-6: Comparison of four typical VR systems

Semi-immersive VR systems have an immersion level between the non-immersive and full immersive ones. Powerwall systems and the head mounted displays (HDMs, und also called "goggles") are a few examples. The costs and system complexity fall in between as well. In Table 2-6, the detailed advantages and disadvantages of different systems are listed [Nube01 and Mujb04].

Due to the considerable advantages, the CAVE system has become a popular visualization environment for scientists and industry users. In 1992, the first CAVE system was invented at the University of Illinois Chicago Circle [Cruz92 and Cruz93]. Based on this method, a virtual environment is built in a room with stereo graphics projected from behind the walls. The first implementation by CRUZ-NEIRA et al. was a back-projection method, which is strongly followed today by many further developers. In CAVE, the users are surrounded by the projected images and are free to move inside the room. Compared to other ordinary VR systems, the CAVE system has the advantage of users having wider field of vision.

A CAVE is not only a surround screen VR system, but also a surround sound system, and a head and hand tracking system, along with some additional parts. Based on the user position tracked by tracking system, the correct perspective is produced. A sound system enables the participants to have audio feedback. Visual and auditory sensorial channels are the main methods to improve the user's perception in a virtual environment. Multiple participants are allowed to share experiences and discuss while inside the CAVE, enabling researchers to exchange their ideas. Usually, one user is the active viewer who is controlling the 3D input device, while the other users are passive viewers.

2.4 Industrial VR applications

As a promising technology, VR is widely used in every field for manufacturing systems. PHILIPPSEN gave a comprehensive review of the VR applications in different fields, such as the telecommunication, entertainment, training, medicine, design and prototyping, and automobile industry [Kala93a and Phil99]. At the annual IEEE Virtual Reality Conference, VR topics related to various application fields are covered. On the one hand, rapidly developed VR technology including simulation, modeling tools furthers implementation; on the other hand, the application needs further research and development to be successful.

VR enables a direct link of simulations to an immersive, virtual environment and allows users to interact and model during processes simulation and visualization. This offers high potential for exploring complex interactions between users, objects and operations [Doro10]. Therefore, VR is a reliable platform for virtual design/planning tools and suitable to support a wide range of manufacturing applications. These applications include production planning, product design or the technical qualification of employees [Benn05, Oliv07 and Rund07].

To set the boundaries for facilitating a literature review of current VR applications, a model of a manufacturing system with hierarchical levels is used. Figure 18 shows the levels including manufacturing network, manufacturing location, manufacturing segment, manufacturing system, manufacturing cell, and workstation/machine [West09]. Due to the proposed development, the focus is on the last there levels and the other three levels are not involved in literature review.



Figure 18: Hierarchical manufacturing levels of an enterprise [West09]

2.4.1 Manufacturing system level

At manufacturing system level, VR is implemented to support analyzing, modifying and simulating existing shop floors to improve the design of new layouts. Some fields such as the layout design, manufacturing environment analysis, CIP (Continuous Improvement Process), and system monitoring are widely investigated by researchers.

Factory layout design and planning

Layout design is a rich area of industrial research and practice, which involves many essential issues, such as the throughput time, production volumes, product quality, and employee morale. A well-designed factory layout provides the investigation basis, on which idle time and bottlenecks in a manufacturing system can possibly be prevented. VR has the potential to help the facility designers and engineers to view and compare various design choices with significantly reduced costs and time.

SMITH and HEIM described a design environment that was constructed to evaluate the use of VR for layout design of manufacturing facilities [Smit99]. Firstly, they reviewed the layout design methods and various virtual environment designs. Then, they summarized the need of layout design and the benefits of VR implementation. Two major benefits could be found in this paper. One is "to improve the decision-making processes from both qualitative and quantitative perspectives". Some needs are the visualization of workplace, assessment of layouts, and rearrangement of workplaces. The corresponding VR solutions were also shown. Another benefit is to enable designer access to use and modify the rich information in VR so that they could do their tasks much more efficiently. This benefit relies on a well-designed virtual environment with rich interaction possibilities, such as haptic feedback or eye tracking input. Furthermore, the authors implemented a design environment for aircraft manufacturing. Because of extra-long materials and work pieces, movement of the objects is a problem. Considering the limitations, the production areas, machine tools and material flows are redesigned. To do so, a non-immersive VR system was used and the interactions, such as the grabbing, moving, coloring, were enabled. Data import and export between CAD system and VR system was also introduced. Of course, the network structure is not comparable with current technology. However, this paper provided a relatively comprehensive view of the VR implementation addressing the layout planning issue.

WESTKÄMPER and RUNDE presented VR applications relating to the "digital factory" concept in industry, especially in factory design and planning fields [West06]. Various research issues were involved: factory planning, assembly planning, manufacturing process planning, workplace design, and training and learning. Different VR systems and their applications were represented in this paper. For example, the application based on Holobench was shown, which enables user to evaluate the assembly workplace considering the issues such as the light, air and noise [Mers02]. Another application showed the visualization of the relationships among objects in a factory, which represented their complex logistical connections in a CAVE system. Not only was each single application field discussed, but also the work technique, such as the distanced and collaborative use of VR.

ABEL and FRANKE provided a practical case study of VR application for factory and facility planning. Based on the needs of a middle-size foundry, they showed solutions based on Powerwall, planning table and CAVE systems [Abel07]. Their solution enabled the integration of the data from modeling, simulation and designing and the use of data from product design to layout planning and even employee training.

Based on their study, BRACHT and REICHERT introduced the use of 3D factory planning and provided fundamental methods as well as the implementation requirements [Brac10]. Considering the needs and limitations of small and middle size enterprises, they demonstrated their concept including the analyzing step, check list generation, modeling method selection, adaption of technique infrastructure, and project execution. Several essential check questions were listed to evaluate the implementation conditions. For example: "If the hardware performance fulfills the application requirements?", "What kinds of data should be shared/not shared/partly shared/highly protected?", or "Which ERP interface is needed?" The authors showed a comprehensive project information system and considered VR as an essential component of it. Additionally, they introduced the potential use of a VR mobile platform in factory planning, especially the potential improvement of data input, output and visualization.

Manufacturing environment

There are numerous factors within a factory environment, such as noise, light, air pollution and radiation. These effects are difficult to measure, analyze and control. Based on an existing factory, the adaptions to reduce these factors that cause damage to employees are costly. However, employee as a human factor is the most essential element in manufacturing systems. In other words, the working safety and health are top priority for the manufacturing designer and employers. To avoid remedies and huge compensation costs, these factors are considered during design. For example, AHREND and FLOSS investigated the noise control issue in manufacturing design. Comprehensive study of limitations and control methods are included in [Ahre00]. However, a VR-related discuss is not provided. Due to the immersion feature of VR, some other researchers have already attempted to integrate visualization and simulation in VR in order to investigate these manufacturing environment issues.

In [Viga09], Viganò et al. introduced the "GIOVE" toolkit, which enables planning with respect to the human factor. They conclude that there are major advantages of the humanoriented factory planning, such as the increased efficiency of collaboration, reduced complexity of communication, reduced factory design time, and better working conditions. However, concrete methods to describe the light, air quality or noise in a factory were not mentioned. In the computer science field, RAGHUVANSHI et al. represented a real-time simulation approach for sound wave propagation, especially for game engine [Ragh10]. This approach was further tested using different scenarios, such as in a living room and outdoor walkway. The potential implementation in manufacturing system is considerable.

"SoundPLAN" is a commercial software tool, which provides an indoor noise model based on VDI 3760 [Soun12]. Using this model, a simulation and evaluation of noise level in manufacturing is facilitated. Different assessment and visualization methods are included in this tool. At the same time, the extended module "AirPLANs" enables the designer to simulate the indoor and outdoor environment air pollution levels. However, the application of this tool is limited by simplified conditions and environments. Furthermore, an interface connecting the simulation and extended visualization tools and VR systems has not been found.

CIP (Continuous Improvement Process)

To support the improvement of processes in a manufacturing system, a well-established method is applied, namely the CIP-workshop. The research focus of AURICH and OSTERMAYER is investigated continuously in a virtual environment [Auri06, Oste08 and Auri09]. This extended VR-based CIP-workshop overcomes the disadvantages of a traditional one. In a virtual manufacturing environment, the workers, designers and decision makers are involved together on a shared platform. The immersive environment provides the participants rich perception and better understanding of the manufacturing systems. Within this virtual environment the CIP-workshop is implemented in five steps: i) detecting problems, ii) analyzing selected problems, iii) developing improvement measures, iv) realizing the measures with workers and v) evaluating the results. Following the successful implementation of the workshop the results are immediately transferred to enable the realization in the real production environment.

System simulation and monitoring

As a promising approach, VR enables users to have a clear overview of complex systems. Customized interfaces connect simulation and the VR system, so that the information in the virtual environment is much richer. Static and dynamic data are visualized and allows interactive modeling and analyzing.

DANGELMAIER described a system architecture using VR and AR to support the planning process of complex manufacturing systems [Dang05]. The integration of discrete simulation into the virtual factory was shown. The proposed system assisted users during modeling, simulating, validating and the optimization of a manufacturing system. To visualize the 3D-data within VR and AR environments, a graphic rendering library was used. As an example, the visualization of an assembly line in automotive industry using Powerwall was demonstrated. According to their approach, the dynamic process simulation is directly connected to this visualization.

In his dissertation, RUNDE investigated VR implementation possibilities, methods and benefits in industrial enterprises systematically [Rund07]. Four methods were developed to describe the four steps: the requirements in digital factory identification, job description, VR

system/solution selection, and the implementation of VR in industry. This work provided concrete implementation steps with detailed information, such as the hardware device model, rendering library, and software tool.

ZHOU et al. combined process simulation and system monitoring into one VR application [Zhou11]. Established simulation architecture with a closed loop of virtual factory integrated platform was introduced, which includes the 3D data, dynamic and static simulation data and integrated database system. A chemical industry was taken as an example to validate this concept. Functions included the visualization of static and dynamic simulated fluid and gas flows or the visualization of process information (temperature, pressure, flow volume, etc.). The most interesting use of this concept was to visualize the process faults, for example the spilled oil from the tower top. Important process information was well visualized and monitored using a 3D environment, which brings significant benefits for complex manufacturing systems.

To summarize, a few selected research works were studied, considering their application fields at the manufacturing system level. The most investigated field is the layout design and planning, due to the large scale visualization feature of VR. Manufacturing environmental studies and the CIP-workshop can be seen as small but necessary supplements to mainstream research work. More studies and discussions of VR applications including the research issues can be found in [Flai98, Wien02, Brac06 and Brac11].

2.4.2 Manufacturing cell level

At the level of the manufacturing cell, VR is often used to design and analyze a single work cell or assembly process within a system. Comparing several approaches and related problems occurring in physical situations, different methods using VR lead to suitable benchmarks. Through identifying constraints and oblique problems in early design stages, various choices can be compared and improved. To improve the parts flow through a shop floor or factory is another key issue, which can be solved by using different simulation measures in VR.

Work cell design

Combining the uses of different software tools, such as "Delmia-Quest", "eM-Workplace" and "Factory CAD", CAPUTO et al. introduced their concept to simulate layout and robotics in work cells. They recommended that the using real size of the factory plant in VR facilitates the layout evaluation for the work cell. Their research also involved the ergonomic issues in a work cell. The workers were modeled as avatars (e.g. "JACK" model) and integrated to the virtual environment. The process of train manufacturing was studied as an example for both work cell layout planning and ergonomic evaluation [Capu06].

Considering the special needs of engineering changes and the impacts to factory layout planning and rearrangement, MALAK et al. presented their concept to enhance the planning processes [Mala11]. This concept was further implemented using Java3D based software tools, which enabled users to access, view and modify the object information directly. A 3D-visualisation of the manufacturing system and its objects, such as the machine tools, transporters and energy slots, provided users a clear and panoramic overview. The needs of factory planning, which are discussed in [Smit99], were realized in this paper. Users are

allowed to change the layout directly in a non-immersive VR system and compare the different planning choices.

Material flow simulation

BRACHT and MASURAT integrated material flow simulation and process simulation in Virtual Reality for digital process prototyping in logistics and production [Brac03]. They studied a high-frequency welding process and built 3D models in a digital factory. Based on the digital data, the movement sequence of robots, band conveyers, cutting machines, and feeders were programed according to the well-designed manufacturing processes. The material flow was further simulated using both geometric and process data. The process information of each facility, such as the manufacturing time, pending time and set-up time, could be monitored in real-time. The movement and material flow was then visualized in a non-immersive VR.

Combining the virtual manufacturing environment and simulation, AURICH et al. introduced their concept to integrate material flow simulation and FEM simulation in VR [Auri07]. Software tools VD2 and eM-Plant were used to operate the CAVE system and simulation respectively. Concrete implementation steps were well described and an implementation guideline was provided.

JIMENO and PUERTA made a state of the art study involving current research works in the VR field for product design and manufacturing processes [Jime07]. According to their survey, using VR use for process simulation minimalizes material waste and material flow bottlenecks. In addition to presenting essential VR benefits, several disadvantages, such as complicated implementation in some cases, were also noted by them.

SCHENK et al. implemented both production simulation and worker qualification in VR [Sche09]. This application could be used firstly as simulation tool for foundry planning. The eM-Plant runs as a material flow simulator and the VR software VDT (also see in Table 2-5) provides a VR environment. Furthermore, this application enables the simulation and training of a power generator assembly.

Assembly simulation and visualization

Assembly is an interaction-intensive and physically based process. To simulate these processes in a virtual environment, the algorithms, framework, and suitable devices are all necessary. The VR provides significant benefits to improve the user experience, filling the perception gap between the real and virtual world. So, complex and high-risk assembly jobs can be simulated and visualized in advance and even be practiced by workers.

SHARMA et al. introduced their assembly evaluation tool [Shar97] and two implementations were presented. The first one showed an AR-based assembly support system. Useful information could be shown and mapped to the real objects. The second implementation enabled image capture and identification during assembly and interrelationships were verified. Since the technology was not as advanced as today, there was no high quality 3D graphic implementation. However, this method opened a new prospective.

CHRYSSOLOURIS et al. investigated the VR-based method to simulate and verify manual assembly processes [Chry00]. In an immersive and interactive virtual environment, the processes are realistically generated. Additionally, an ergonomic model was integrated in this application, which enabled ergonomically acceptable conditions. To validate this method, a

semi-experimental time model was developed for an assembly test case. In this application, a number of process parameters and their interrelations were considered as well.

BEIER described several web-based VR applications for the manufacturing system [Beie00], such as the simulation of ship production or the robotics simulation in a manufacturing cell. VRML was the basic VR language and the modeling was implemented by CAD/CAM. However, these applications were limited at the low complex level without Java supported algorithms. The geometric modeling and human-computer interaction was relatively simple. Thus, the user perception was relatively poor.

Using haptic devices, KRAUSE et al. [Krau00] implemented VR as test platform for simulation and evaluation of complex assembly and disassembly processes. The parts were modeled graphically and the user hand motion could be transferred to the virtual assembly scene through haptic hardware. The manipulation of virtual objects and the force feedbacks were simulated in real-time. Even though it is not an immersive environment, the user perception is in this case significantly improved through the haptic interaction.

ZACHMANN provided a comprehensive review of VR techniques, focusing on collision detection, interaction and simulation algorithms. He also introduced an implementation concept for assembly simulation in VR and developed a framework and several native functions, such as the nature grasping and collision detection [Zach00]. Based on this framework, he implemented the assembly simulation using the VD2 platform.

REINHART et al. introduced the integrated use of AR and VR in the area of manual assembly. The extended use of digital models was not only implemented for assembly planning in a virtual environment, but also supported the assembly workers using AR. A case study in the automotive industry showed the steps and benefits for the user. [Rein02]

Using IC:IDO software, an application to simulate and validate the complex cable bundle was developed [Wien08]. A real-time simulation and visualization of the physical behavior of flexible objects (cables) was realized. The algorithms were adapted according to the cable types and showed high accuracy. Based on their validation, 90% of the solutions would be adequate, if the environment is typical.

At the manufacturing cell level, the most intensive investigated issue is the assembly process. This issue directly or indirectly influences the design of the work cell and material flow. More applications about virtual assembly can be found in [Brac11 and Seth11].

2.4.3 Workstation and machine level

As essential element in a factory, the human factor is more of a focus at the workstation and machine level, because the interaction between human and machines influences directly the processes in manufacturing system. In addition, human factor involves more research issues in virtual environment [Stan98]. A lot of research has been done with respect to the human performance, health and safety. Next, the research work in fields of workstation design, training and manufacturing process simulation are described.

Workstation design

The issue of workstation design relates with rich research topics, such as the CIP, training, and assembly simulation. In addition to these topics, ergonomics is another close related

research focus. ZÜLCH classified ergonomics into micro- and macro-ergonomics [Zülc05]. Micro-ergonomics analyzes human posture and body motion during tasks execution, whereas macro-ergonomics analyzes the stress and strain of the tasks accomplished by the workers. Some of the following research work showed the application in this field.

HEGER introduced a VR-supported method to analyze and evaluate the manual assembly workstation. Using the virtual product prototypes and the algorithms of grapping, moving and joining, the virtual manufacturing processes were simulated and visualized in VR. An interaction between the participant, virtual objects, and avatars were possible. The assembly time, steps and schedules could be analyzed and optimized in a virtual world in advance, which provided a significant advantage to reduce the planning time and costs [Hege98].

BENNIS et al. gave a review of the VR technology and applications in industry and considered VR as a human-centered tool. Therefore, more human-centered applications, such as training, ergonomics, maintenance were discussed [Benn05].

Within the research project "DiFac" (Digital Factory for Human Oriented Production System), LAWSON et al. described ergonomics, presence, and collaboration in virtual environment. They extended the conventional method of an ergonomics study using VR. The benefits were analyzed by using a few established applications and software tools [Laws06].

YANG et al. investigated an engine assembly line and implemented VR for workplace planning and ergonomics evaluation [Yang07a]. For the use of "JACK" model in this application, refer to [Capu06].

HOFFMANN and DANGELMAIER used their applications to facilitate the optimization of industrial manual workplaces [Hoff08]. Numerical human models and user motion tracking systems were integrated. The user motion from the real world could be mapped to the avatar in the virtual world. Through 1:1 large size visualization, analysis of workplace layout design and assembly processes was significantly improved. In addition to this application, they provided an evaluation tool "iTeach" to reduce the assessment process.

SCHIRRA described an innovative concept to enable a complete planning workflow with one VR application [Schi08]. To do so, user requirements and technical requirements were studied. A data server for CAD data was built to control the parametric and VR converter and the data model was made by using information from entire product, process and resources. Changes of the system components could be made directly through the server in an immersive environment. The 3D GUI made the interaction more straightforward and intuitive. Furthermore, six persons were involved in the evaluation which showed positive results.

Process simulation and visualization

Simulation and visualization enable an essential feature of VR: imagination. In the lower levels of manufacturing process, simulations and software tools like CAD/CAM are widely used in the industry today. However, just a few of them can be implemented directly in a virtual environment [Ceci07].

RANGA and GRAMOLL [Rang00] introduced and implemented Java programming into VRML and improved the performance in 3D FEM analysis. This web-based virtual environment includes customized GUI as well. The useful implementations of Java and JavaScript enable a mobile 3D FE analysis and visualization without high performance software and hardware. A

similar application made by YANG et al. also showed significantly improved simulation by implementation do to the JavaScript coding. Chip formation and material removal were simulated and visualized in real-time in a VRML based scene graph [Yang11c].

HUHN and SIEGERT attempted to improve machinery development. The features and advantages of VR, such as immersion and interaction, were found to enhance the process analysis and optimization [Huhn02]. USTARROZ et al. introduced their application "VIRTOOL", which enabled users to perform a 3D cutting process analysis [Usta04]. At the same time, this application provided a learning environment for machine tool use.

By using VTK and VISTA (also see in Table 2-5), SCHÖNING and HAMEYER implemented both non-immersive and immersive VR systems for FEM simulation [Scho08]. Huge data could be managed, filtered and visualized according to the engineering needs.

JIN et al. introduced an X3D based method to support 3D visualization and animation of cutting processes. The method also enabled a collaborative use through the web for people with the same models [Jin07].

VRABIC presented a grinding animation in the immersive VR [Vrab09]. The kinematic of the grinding process was visualized using a parametric description of the object surfaces. The purpose of this animation was to enhance the understanding of the process and to assist the machine tool operator. However, the simulation software was not connected to the VR system with real-time communication.

For operation for geometrically determined cutting edge, HE and WU [He09] illustrated their architecture for web-based simulations with VRML for milling operations. The positioning of the work piece element, the tool and their interaction by tool movement was realized by Java. The visualization of the work piece and the tool can be used for checking collisions or optimization of tool paths. The combination of Java and VRML upgrades increases the possibilities in VR-visualization.

Training and learning

In addition to various VR applications in their training center, BLÜMEL et al. found value for in-factory training of the manufacturing system [Blüm03]. Through the combination of more sub-systems (authoring system, training scenario, run time system and VR), different training modes were enabled for employees with different qualification degrees. For example, the guided mode was made for new learners and a free training mode was provided for experienced employees. In the application, VRML-sequences, CAD-drawings and video presentations are used to support the different learning modes.

WANG et al. introduced a VR training system for CNC machining [Wang04]. Based on the WTK platform, they implemented a 3D environment with interactive controls. The creation and editing of numerical control codes, as well as the modification of the cutter, was enabled. OLIVEIRA et al. implemented a CAD integrated VR system to enable industrial training [Oliv07]. This application allows the use of the proprietary file format or the VRML/X3D format. The most significant advantage is that the training data and software can be distributed together in a unique device.

Using VR, the company VRSim developed the "SimSpray" software tool for spray painting and coating training and "VRTEX360" for arc welding training [VRSi12]. The costs of spray

painting are caused by high materials usage (e.g. paint, thinners, work pieces, and air filters), facilities, and time. The realistic experience of training in a virtual environment accelerates the learning of fundamental spray painting skills and minimizes costs at the same time. Because the learning and training are operated in the VR, the potential for accidents is also minimized and the solution is environmentally friendly.

2.4.4 Other VR applications

VR applications facilitate the data visualization, analysis, and modification in extensive industrial fields and can involve all essential research issues. A complete review of all industrial VR applications is not made in this thesis. In this section, more than 50 research and practice related papers were reviewed and represented and close to one hundred applications were involved in these papers.

In addition to the applications already mentioned, a few important research works were also studied, without being classified into the pre-defined manufacturing levels. They show comprehensive use of VR in various fields like the logistics system, change management, data visualization and product design.

- □ In [Baro09 and Jime07] and [Bues07], product design and product prototyping using virtual environment are discussed respectively. The essential VR features for designers, such as the realistic texture rendering and shape verification, were shown. NEUGEBAUER et al. described VR tools used to visualize and analyze the energy flow and consumption of machinery during machining processes. This method improved both energy consumption optimization and product design [Neug11].
- □ In the virtual development and training center in Magdeburg, the VR researchers focused not only on the manufacturing system but also the logistics field [Sche10]. Through the study of VR supported product life cycle investigation, the logistics chain was analyzed and the time/costs saving were considerable.
- □ Some authors show the benefits of data visualization in VR [Lang04 and Stra04]. The huge and complex data such as FEM and CFD simulation could be filtered and manipulated in an immersive environment, which makes understanding easier. BARBIERI et al. also showed the integration of CAD/CAE use in VR as well [Barb08].
- □ SCHENK et al. extended VR application to the service field [Sche04]. They provided a few practical case studies and the implemented applications to the use of VR for product presentation, product use introduction, and product maintenance.
- □ Based on established object library and simulation algorithms, KOCAR and AKGUNDUZ introduced their implementation of VR for engineering change management [Koca10]. The merging of graphical and parametric data of the processes into a virtual platform improved the comprehension of users and hence decreased the required time.

The described applications, addressed on three selected manufacturing levels of enterprises, provide a well-established research basis in theory and practice. Some applications are implemented at the low immersive level and provide relative poor user experience. There are two reasons for this. First, many applications are limited by the technologies of the day. Second, some applications serve a customized problem in which the immersion is not the only issue. Thus, these applications provide basic concepts and ideas for the proposal, which will be implemented in this thesis.

3 Research Question

Noise is a prevalent issue in manufacturing systems. The estimation of noise level in a factory and technical solutions to address this issue are usually costly and time consuming. Digital Factory tools enable the analysis and simulation of noise related problems during factory design and planning process. VR systems, one type of Digital Factory tools, provide significant advantages such as the information visualization and user-computer interaction, which enhance the understanding of complex issues. The main objective in this thesis is to develop an innovative VR-supported method which improves the analysis and evaluation of noise level in workplace design. Figure 19 illustrates the research question with the main elements involved. A new method could enhance the assessment quality and efficiency of sound problems in a factory. The simulation method, which serves as central element of this approach, is much more cost-effective compared to acoustic measurement approaches. Furthermore, the virtual environment allows planners to try different solution options without stopping the manufacturing process. The visualization from the simulation results helps the planner to improve their understanding of noise propagation and support the solution finding process in a factory.



Figure 19: The research issue in this thesis

To achieve the aforementioned objective, several tasks (subdivided objectives) are involved and will be implemented in this thesis. They are organized in Figure 20 and listed in below:

- Development of the sound investigation approach in VR
- □ A survey of noise-related legal regulations
- Design and implementation of acoustic measurements in a manufacturing environment
- □ Summary and evaluation of measurement data
- □ 3D modeling of a manufacturing environment
- Description of a sound source
- □ Parameter setting of acoustic simulation
- Comparison and validation between simulation results and measurement data
- Development of a data interface between VR and simulation
- □ Implementation of sound simulation and visualization in VR



Figure 20: A road map of the tasks (objectives)

This road map demonstrates the involved tasks and their contexts. By using acoustic measurements, the necessary data for sound source description and the data for simulation validation are acquired. Before a simulation starts, the parameters are specified according to the knowledge from the acoustic measurements and the interpretation of those measurements. At the same time, a Manufacturing Lab is built into a 3D model which provides a virtual environment for simulation and visualization. A data interface is constructed to enable the data exchange between the simulation and VR system. Then the simulation and visualization are conducted in a virtual environment. The simulation is validated with the measurements from the Manufacturing Lab. Combining with investigation of legal regulations for manufacturing the visualization using simulation results facilitates the analysis of noise issue in a factory.

Several studies are conducted in both manufacturing engineering and computer science fields. The sound simulation and its implementation using a VR system are namely the research focus, which ensure the usability and efficiency of intended approach. Therefore, the following requirements are taken into account:

- **a** comprehensive and simplified solution for the noise issue in manufacturing
- □ efficient and safe data transfer and file converting
- □ a straightforward user interface in virtual environment
- □ enhanced understanding of sound propagation in a factory
- □ simple and understandable visualization
- enhanced layout design and planning taking the noise issue into account
- □ extendable software with function modules
- □ and the hardware and software compatibilities

These requirements are considered during the development, implementation, and validation steps of this approach. For example, the user interface design, software tool development and programming language choice steps consider these requirements as assessment criterion.

4 VR Application for Sound Simulation and Visualization

4.1 Development of the approach

This chapter provides an overview of the approach development, which attempts to achieve the objective detailed in the last chapter. Based on the discussed tasks in this thesis, this approach is broken down into five main steps: data acquisition, modeling, sound simulation, an interface to VR, and VR system preparation (Figure 21). Each level is introduced respectively in the next sections.



Figure 21: Development of the approach and the structure of chapter 4

The research questions defined in chapter 3 are answered and the subdivided tasks are discussed in terms of main elements in this approach. The data acquisition level is introduced in chapter 4.2, which describes the methods for collecting the required geometric data from a real factory and the sound data from acoustic measurements. An introduction of the Manufacturing Lab at the FBK institute and the essential input information for further acoustic simulation are shown. Chapter 4.3 introduces the methods for modeling a 3D virtual environment, describing a sound source, and building a human model inside a virtual factory. The necessary data for modeling step are supplied from chapter 4.2. Chapter 4.4 involves the sound simulation environment, the setting of simulation parameters, and the setting of evaluation positions. This chapter provides a better understanding of acoustic simulation and visualization in a VR system is described, including issues such as data management, visualization methods, and interaction techniques. Finally, the necessary preparation of a VR system for approach implementation is discussed in chapter 4.6. Hardware and software

configuration, as well as system settings, are taken into account. The CAVE system used in FBK is introduced and used as the implementation platform.

4.2 Data acquisition

The data acquisition step, the first step of the approach, provides the necessary data for modeling and simulation. Existing information is analyzed and classified according to the needs of this thesis. Two main data resources are considered: data from real manufacturing environment and data from acoustic measuring.

4.2.1 Data from a real factory

A real manufacturing system contains extensive information which comes from three main sources: the production objects, the production environment, and the people in production. These resources connect with and affect each other. The production objects include machines, transportation equipment, different work tools, storage equipment, etc., which fulfill different jobs in a manufacturing process. The manufacturing environment is usually understood as a given space, e.g. a building or a part of a building, in which the manufacturing processes are implemented. The human is the central factor of a manufacturing system. To consider this factor, some information about the human is required.



Figure 22: Manufacturing Lab in institute FBK

In this thesis, the manufacturing lab is used as a referential data source for an approach development. Figure 22 represents the Manufacturing Lab from two different points of view, in which a middle size and complex system with various manufacturing objects are shown. Due to the need of sound simulation and the complexity of the system, some small and middle sized objects, such as the vernier calipers or the oil bottles, are neglected during the data acquisition step.

Geometry and layout

The fundamental data from a real factory is the geometric data which contains the geometric information of manufacturing facilities, machines, transporters, layout, etc. The shape, location, material feature, textures, and other information of single object in a manufacturing system are represented by 3D-modeling.

The methods of data collection are case-dependent. The general data sources are classified into primary data source (e.g. the blueprint of a factory or original drawing of a machine) and secondary data source (e.g. the measurement data or the estimated parameters). Usually, a construction plan and layout of the manufacturing facility provide a straightforward way to start the data collection step of geometries and layouts. If there are no such plans, a manual measuring is required. In this thesis, a blueprint of the layout was made before measuring (see Figure 23). Number 1 to number 57 refers to objects in the Manufacturing Lab. The names and their classification are detailed in appendix 11.2.



Figure 23: A blueprint of Manufacturing Lab layout

To ensure the completeness of the data collection, an analysis and classification of required information are made in advance. A checklist for the whole Manufacturing Lab is generated to identify and describe the necessary data and chosen methods. In this checklist, the objects in the Manufacturing Lab are listed and information such as identification name, size, manufacturer, position, orientation, color, is recorded. For each of the main machines, e.g. the milling center, tool gridding machine, and CNC cutting machine, an additive checklist is generated to provide more detailed information. Based on such checklists, the needed data from the Manufacturing Lab are measured and documented. Appendix 11.4 shows a filled checklist using the CNC cutting machine as an example. In this case, the requirement for accuracy are low, thus no optical measuring devices are used. Part of the information is directly recorded according to the machine manual from the manufacturer.

Material surface features

As a necessary input parameter for sound simulation, an absorption coefficient for each material is needed, which indicates how much of the sound wave energy is absorbed by a material (for more details about sound wave features see 2.1.1). The absorption coefficient is usually dependent on the material and varies with the frequency of sound: $\alpha_j: \Omega \to (0, 1]$. The value 0 means there is full reflection, while 1 means full absorption. It is also often described

as an absorption function. Figure 24 shows two typical absorption functions provided by the software CARA [CARA12].

If the surface is not specular, but corrugated, then an acoustic BRDF (bidirectional reflection distribution functions) is needed for each material. Because of the complexity of large environments, the case of corrugated surfaces is not discussed in this thesis. More details about the BRDF implementation in acoustic simulation can be found in [Silt07b].



Figure 24: Absorption functions provided by CARA [Dein08]

In this thesis, the absorption coefficients of object materials are taken from existing database, e.g. CARA and WSDG database of common building materials. The data from different databases varies because of different measuring methods and conditions. In Table 4-1, the absorption coefficients of several common materials are shown. More absorption coefficients of materials can be seen in appendix 11.5 [WSDG11].

Description	125Hz	250Hz	500Hz	1kHz	2kHz	4kHz
Door, oak	0,58	0,22	0,07	0,04	0,03	0,07
Drywall, 1/2"	0,10	0,08	0,05	0,03	0,03	0,03
Floor, Concrete	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,02	0,02	0,02
Floor, Linoleum	0,02	0,03	0,03	0,03	0,03	0,02
Floor, wood	0,15	0,11	0,10	0,07	0,06	0,07
Floor, wood parquet	0,04	0,04	0,07	0,06	0,06	0,07
Floor, carpet, 1/8" pile	0,05	0,05	0,10	0,20	0,30	0,40
Floor, carpet. 1/4" pile	0,05	0,10	0,15	0,30	0,50	0,55
Floor, carpet, 5/16" pile	0,05	0,15	0,30	0,40	0,50	0,60
Glass, normal window	0,35	0,25	0,18	0,12	0,07	0,04
Glass, heavy plate	0,18	0,06	0,04	0,03	0,02	0,02
Glass, laminated	0,18	0,06	0,04	0,03	0,02	0,02
Plywood, 1/4"	0,58	0,22	0,07	0,04	0,03	0,07
Plywood, 3/8"	0,28	0,22	0,17	0,09	0,10	0,11
Plaster, rough finish	0,02	0,03	0,04	0,05	0,04	0,03
Plaster, smooth finish	0,02	0,02	0,03	0,04	0,04	0,03
wood paneling	0,24	0,19	0,14	0,08	0,13	0,10
wood roof decking	0,24	0,19	0,14	0,08	0,13	0,10
Carpet, 3/32" pile	0,10	0,16	0,11	0,30	0,50	0,47
Carpet, 3/4" pile	0,15	0,17	0,12	0,32	0,52	0,57
Carpet, 3/8" pile	0,17	0,18	0,21	0,50	0,63	0,83
Person, adult	2,50	3,50	4,20	4,60	5,00	5,00
Person, child, high school	2,20		3,80		4,50	
Chair, hard seat, up		0,19	0,24	0,39	0,38	
Chair, theatre, heavy upholstery		3,40	3,00	3,30	3,60	
Air, per 1000 cubic feet			0,90	2,30	7,20	

Table 4-1: The absorption coefficient of common materials at different frequencies

4.2.2 Data from acoustic measuring

Running machines and their power supply systems are commonly considered as the sound sources in a manufacturing system. Hence, the features of sound sources are directly related with machine types, machining processes, machining tool selection, work piece materials, etc. Acoustic measuring provides the necessary data for characterization of sound sources and the supplementary data for human modeling. One or more sound sources in the Manufacturing Lab need to be described mathematically by using the values of sound power acquired by sound intensity measurements. Further description of sound sources enables simulation settings and validation of simulation results. Sound pressure level measurements from near the machines are needed in order to evaluate worker's exposure to noise. A machine dependent measurement provides additional data for sound source modeling, while the position-based measurement enables a validation for simulation.

Human hearing can only perceive a limited range of frequencies. Depending on the study, the range can be anywhere from 20 Hz to 20 kHz [Wein08] or from 16 Hz to 16 kHz [Henn08]. The human ear perceives equal sound pressure at varying frequencies differently [Crem78]. Therefore, to estimate the perception of sound pressure for human hearing in a manufacturing environment, a frequency weighting is needed. Different weighting methods are introduced in [Möse07] and indicated by using A-, B-, C-, and D-. The B- and D- weightings have fallen partly into disuse. The A-weighting is commonly used for environmental measurements and as a standard in many SPL meters. In this thesis, the measurement results are estimated by using linear and A-weighted methods.

4.2.2.1 Sound power

Sound power is one of the most essential sound features which indicates the total energy of a sound wave per unit of time and is measured in watts. Part of a machine's technical features is to describe the total emitted energy as sound waves.

Experimental setup

The sound power can be measured by using sound pressure methods or sound intensity methods. The advantages and disadvantages of both methods are compared and represented in Table 4-2 [Schi06 and Möse07].

Measures	Pro	Con	Standards	
Sound	□ Simple implementation	Correction of environment	DIN EN ISO	
pressure	□ Simple measurement	□ Correction of interference	3741, 3743,	
method	method	sound level	3744, 3745,	
		□ No near-field measuring	3746, 3747	
Sound	Direct measure of sound	□ High cost and complex	DIN EN ISO	
intensity	intensity	measurement	9614-1, 2, 3	
method	No effect by interferential sound sources			
	□ No effect by reflexion			

Table 4-2: A comparison of sound power measurement methods

Due to the distinct advantage of accuracy, the sound power is measured by using the sound intensity method and is determined by sound intensity level, which is usually expressed as sound power level (sound watts level, SWL) L_w . Considering the high cost and complexity, the measurement is only made on a lathe machine as reference in the Manufacturing Lab. The selected methods, measuring settings, and self-developed supporting equipment can be used for other machines. A sound intensity probe, which shown in Figure 25a, is often used for sound intensity measuring. This probe is made from two condenser microphones and a distance holder between them. For more details of its construction refer to [Brüe91]. The sound intensity can be determined by using the difference between two measured SPLs, which are recorded by both microphones [Henn08]. Before the measurement, a pressure calibrator is needed to calibrate the microphone. See Figure 25b for the calibrator and calibration setup.



Figure 25: Devices for sound intensity measurement: a) a sound intensity probe, b) a pressure calibrator, and c) setting of the probe



Figure 26: Measuring surface and measuring positions

DIN EN ISO 9614-1 [DIN09b], 9614-2 [DIN96], and 9614-3 [DIN10c] define an enveloping surfaces method. The measurements are conducted around a selected machine, directly facing the five surface sides (front, back, left, right, and top) with a measurement distance of 0.5 meters from the machine. According to the guideline, each measurement for every surface should be repeated at least 10 times per square meter [DIN09b]. To complete the measurements, all 5 surfaces and 247 measuring points of the lathe are firstly drawn as a sketch (Figure 26a). Based on this blueprint, a grid is made from several wood frames and thin cords to assist with the measurements around the lathe (Figure 26b). This grid defines the sub-surfaces for measuring and helps the operator find the right position to place the intensity probe.

Result of the measurements

Using the grid the sound intensity measurements are repeated in the middle of each subsurface $A_{x,y}$ (see Figure 27a). The machine speed during measurement is 1120 rpm without cutting a work piece. The sound power of each sub-surface $L_{w,i}$ is visualized in Figure 28 as a 2D and 3D illustration. The point of maximum SWL, which was thought to be near the cutting tool, is actually close to the electric motor. Near the back side of the motor, the SWL reaches 82.9 dB because the back cover is thinner than the front one. Due to the reflexion of floor, the SWL shows a higher value of 86.3 dB at the bottom of the electric motor (Figure 27b). The 3D representation of SWL distribution, shown in Figure 28b, enables a straightforward understanding of sound power of a sound source and provides detailed data for a more realistic modeling of the sound source. The SWL of a sound source L_w is estimated by summing all parts of the $L_{w,i}$. The estimation can be made both with linear and A-weighted methods. Figure 29 shows the SWL which is represented according to third-octave band frequencies. The result the of linear summation L_w is 92.8 dB and the A-weighted value is 92.5 dB (A).



Figure 27: Measurement setting for sound energy



Figure 28: SPLs of sub-surfaces at spindle speed =1120 rpm/SWL 92.8 dB



Figure 29: Linearly estimated SWLs of turning lathe

4.2.2.2 Sound pressure

Sound pressure is calculated by the difference between local pressure and atmospheric pressure caused by a sound wave. The SPL indicates the effective sound pressure relative to a reference value, defined in ANSI S1.1-1994 [ANSI94]. 20 μ Pa at 1000 Hz, the zero dB, is commonly understood as threshold of human hearing [Gelf90]. This index is often used to identify the sound impact on humans (for different effects see section 2.1.1). SPL is measured on a logarithmic scale and ranges from 0 to 140 dB [Henn08]. Every 3 dB increase of SPL means a doubled value of sound pressure.

Experimental setup

A SPL meter is used to measure the SPL. This equipment is normed by IEC 60804 [DIN02], IEC 60651 [DIN03a], and DIN EN ISO 61672-1 [DIN10c]. Figure 30 shows a widely used set of products from company Brüel&Kjær. A portable display (model: "Investigator", type: 2260) allows for parameter settings, the storage of measurement results, and result visualization (Figure 30b). Refer to [Möse10a] for the basic design and mechanisms of this type of SPL meter. Figure 30a shows the condenser microphone which is used to record the sound. Because the microphone has a spherical characteristic, high frequency measurements are accrual (to 10 kHz) [Brüe96]. However, significant errors will appear when measuring

sound waves at extra high frequencies. More investigation and discussion about measurement error caused by the SPL meter can be found in [Brüe94, Payn04]. In this thesis, this type of errors is not taken into account because the extra high frequency sounds are not commonly found in a factory.

Before being used, a calibration of the microphone is done by using an airborne sound calibrator, which is normed by IEC 60942 [DIN04]. This calibrator is placed in front of the microphone and generates a reference sound wave with pre-defined pressure and frequency. The calibrator and calibration setup are shown in Figure 30c. During measurement, the microphone is positioned by using a tripod with an extension arm. The microphone is adjusted to the head position and viewing the direction of the operators with a distance of 0.10 meters and a height of 1.55 meters. More details about microphone placement for different situations can be found in DIN EN ISO 9612 [DIN09a]. For example, in Figure 33a, the microphone is placed to face the control panel or operation side.



Figure 30: Devices for SPL measurement from company Brüel&Kjær: a) condenser microphone, b) SPL meter, and c) microphone calibrator

Result of the Machine-based SPL measurements

The SPL measurements are taken in both machine-based and position-based setups. Firstly, the investigation and analysis of SPLs at working areas in the Manufacturing Lab are machine-based, based on the guidelines DIN 45645-2 [DIN97] and DIN EN ISO 9612 [DIN09a]. When it's feasible, the measurements should be conducted in front of running machines without the influence of operators or other machines. However, this optimal simulation is not usually possible in practice. The measurements are made in five main manufacturing facilitates in Manufacturing Lab (CNC milling center, CNC grinding machine, CNC machining center, and two different models of turning lathe), during 3 typical machining processes (idling, normal machining speed, and high machining speed).

The time-averaged sound level (energy equivalent) L_{eq} , peak SPL LC_{pk} , as well as the L_{eq} over third-octave frequency bands are determined by the previously described measuring devices, methods, and setups. L_{eq} and LC_{pk} enable an evaluation of noise emission level in a manufacturing environment. In laws and guidelines of manufacturing noise, the noise

exposure L_{ex} is commonly equal to L_{eq} . And the L_{eq} over third-octave frequency bands provides additional data for sound source modeling.



Figure 31: Comparison of average SPL of grinding machine during idling and machining

Using the CNC grinding machine as an example, Figure 31 shows the average SPL and peak SPL at idling status and at grinding speed of 4500 rpm, while Figure 32 shows the L_{eq} over third-octave frequency bands. Significant differences of L_{eq} between idling and middle speed grinding is not found, but the peak SPL shows a considerable increase during the 4500 rpm grinding. Seen in Figure 32, the highest sound pressures are found between 250 Hz and 2500 Hz. Since 2500 Hz is lower than 10 KHz, the measurement error caused by condenser microphone can be ignored.



Figure 32: Comparison of average SPL of grinding machine during idling and machining



Result of the position-based SPL measurements

Figure 33: Measurements setup and measured positions in Manufacturing Lab

The measurements are conducted at 11 pre-defined positions in the Manufacturing Lab during a typical workday. These positions are usually used as operation positions in the Manufacturing Lab. In Figure 33, the measuring positions are illustrated on Manufacturing Lab layout from 1 to 11. The detailed description, coordinate, and microphone orientation are shown in Table 4-3.

Position Nr.	Description of measurement positions	Coordinate (x,y)	Microphone orientation (x,y)
1	operator station of the milling center	(4.13, 13.08)	(0,-1)
2	operator station of the grinding machine	(4.57, 4.38)	(0,-1)
3	operator station of the CNC machining center	(10.8, 9.75)	(1,0)
4	operator station of the turning lathe 1	(12.2, 5.80)	(1,0)
5	operator station of the turning lathe 2	(12.57, 4.78)	(0,1)
6	operator station of the drilling machine	(8.22, 6.35)	(1,0)
7	position of the desk	(8.37, 3.46)	(1,0)
8	position of sink nearby the grinding machine	(2.30, 1.23)	(-1,0)
9	workbench of the milling center (facing the wall)	(2.33, 13.05)	(1,0)
10	position of sink nearby the CNC machining center	(8.84, 13.01)	(1,0)
11	Position of the table between the milling center and the CNC machining center (facing the CNC lathing center)	(5.65, 10.85)	(0,1)

Table 4-3: Description of the measurement positions

The typical machining speeds as well as the setups of the five machines during measurements are shown in Table 4-4. This information is used as reference for manufacturing setup to evaluate noise exposure in a workday. The noise level will be different when the setup is changed, however the evaluation describes an average measure.

Machine	Running speed	Description
DMU Deckel Maho 70eVolution II (CNC milling center)	18000 rpm	Milling 3 mm HSK 63, without cooling
WALTER Helitronic Vision (CNC grinding machine)	idling	Active ventilation
Boehringer NG 200 (CNC machining center)	4500 rpm	With chuck, without cooling
Triumph 2000 (Turning lathe 1)	1120 rpm	With chuck, without cooling
HARDINGE (Turning lathe 2)	3000 rpm	Without cooling

Table 4-4: Operation status of five machines during measurement

Figure 34 shows the average SPLs at different positions during operation of the turning lathe 1 (Triumph 2000) located at position 4. The maximum L_{eq} appears at position 4, which is directly facing the running lathe, while at position 9 has the lowest L_{eq} .



Figure 34: Average SPLs at 11 measured positions in the Manufacturing Lab

The determination of acoustic power is an essential factor for further sound propagation simulation. Due to complexity and time, finding out the acoustic power and sound pressure of every noise source in a large factory is a challenge. First, there is a large number of sound sources including fans, engine powered equipment, turbines, electric pumps, etc. Second, for economic reasons, the manufacturing can't be stopped in order to measure every each single sound source.

One solution is using the detailed technical acoustic information provided by facility manufacturer. Various other solutions by different authors exist in the literature. For example, GUASCH et al. introduced an inversion modeling method to obtain the sound source power in a

large factory. This method is based on a large number of measurements and the support of sound propagation software [Guas02]. Another computer aided solution using ray tracing is discussed in [Luzz86]. This solution uses geometric acoustic model and acoustic ray method to identify the sound source and estimate the sound power in a closed room. However, the both solutions are dependent on acoustic measurement results and detailed description of geometric features. For a large room with a complex layout and large number of objects, the solutions are not practical.

4.3 Modeling

Based on the acquired data from the manufacturing environment, the modeling step is used to bridge the real world and the virtual world. This means the digital or analogue data describing from factories, machines, sound sources, etc. are transformed to specific formats, so that the information can be used for simulation and visualization in a VR system [Kels98, Souz06]. In this section, different software and methods are introduced and the rebuilt virtual world with different production objects and a human avatar is represented.

4.3.1 Modeling of the virtual environment

To visualize a virtual environment as well as the sound simulation, the geometric data and description of a sound source are needed. The measurements from the factory provide the basic data for the 3D geometric models. Figure 35 illustrates this process from a (a real factory) to b (check list for data collection, also see Appendix 11.4) and then c (a 3D geometric model). A geometric model of the environment provides the following information:

- environment features, such as the building geometries, machine layout, environment lighting, etc.
- □ shape, size, coordination, position and orientation of the objects in the environment
- □ surface features of the objects, such as material, texture, color etc.
- □ process-based interrelationships among the objects



Figure 35: Modeling of a virtual environment

Unlike visible light, audible sound has wave lengths between 0.2 and 17 meters. The reflections are primarily specular on large and smooth surfaces. The diffractions often occur around big objects (such as lathes), while small objects (such as bottles) have little effect on

the sound propagation. Therefore, the 3D geometric models for sound simulation need less detail than the models for computer graphics.

A common method to create a virtual environment and related objects is using Computer Aided Design (CAD) software, such as "SolidWorks," "Solid Edge" and "CATIA," which enables precise 3D description of objects. However, this precision leads to a huge number of polygons which decrease the computing performance of both the simulation and visualization. Also, the modeling of the environment features, such as the lighting in a factory, and the modeling of object features, such as the surface textures, is limited using the CAD software. Therefore, the modeling software, such as "3ds Max" or "Blender," are used to improve the visual effect of a virtual environment. Figure 36 shows a comparison between a photo of a grinding machine and a virtual model rendered using 3ds Max. The number of polygons is optimized to balance the visual effect and computing performance. The surface material features and lighting effect are enhanced as well.



Figure 36: 3D modeling of a virtual environment with real lighting effects

In addition to CAD and modeling software, several computer languages provide libraries and tools for direct modeling. VRML, X3D and Java 3D are some examples. These languages enable the data to be converted to a VR-compatible file format. The VRML is the specified modeling language for VR applications, which was established at 1997 and accepted by ISO as standard ISO 14772 [ISO97]. It is widely used for VR applications, e. g. the assembly design, machining process simulation, evaluation and visualization of the planned facility or the training of employees, all while keep the production running [Oliv07 and Brec09]. The advantages of VRML language for engineering applications are significant:

- □ The VRML description is a text file format (ASCII or UTF-8).
- □ Associations can be structured between URLs and graphical objects, so that the web-based uses of VRML models are enabled.
- □ The most important feature of VRML is the "Nodes", which are the basic elements for creating a specific function in a scene graph. Each kind of Node has a specific field, values and children statements.

- □ The VRML Nodes offer a customized link to different positioning and allocations between different objects. The needed user interface with icons and description field can be easily adjusted.
- Program code written with Java or JavaScript can be embedded in VRML using Script-Node, which allows the implementation of calculations, mathematical results or databases into the VRML script as well.
- □ The Proto Node enables the user to construct a set of customized Nodes, e.g., building a Chip-Geometric Node. Consequently, Proto offers an increasing usability of VRML and allows creating different objects, interactions, and Scripts.
- □ Using VRML, the integration of multimedia applications in a virtual environment is possible, e.g. text, images, audios and movies.
- □ VRML Viewer integrated browsers and editing tools for the creation and modification of VRML files are widely available for many different platforms (platform independent).

VRML imports different graphic objects with various geometries from simple polygons all the way up to complex CAD files. It provides the ability to use and combine dynamic 3D objects within a VRML world and thus allow reusability. Objects in CAD file can also be exported as VRML files (.WRL) and visualized in VR. JavaScript enables the implementation of mathematical functions, which describe the different manufacturing processes.

As the successor to VRML, X3D is also standardized by ISO and contains most of the VRML features. For current applications X3D has no remarkable advantages compared to VRML. VRML, however, has many more users developed Nodes (functions), application programming interfaces (APIs) and extension modules. Using plain text description and existing Nodes, the development of applications is accelerated and facilitated. Therefore, in this thesis, VRML is used as the modeling language and scene graph standard for VR application. SolidWorks is used for basic object modeling, 3ds Max is used for virtual environment modeling, and "VrmlPad" is used for WRL file modification and modeling. Detailed implementation of VRML files using "VrmlPad" will be shown in chapter 5.

4.3.2 Modeling of sound source

In this thesis, the phonon tracing algorithm is implemented. To do this, a sound source needs to be modeled. The basic idea is to represent the energy emission of a sound source as a simplified sphere. Hence, the modeling method developed by DEINES is implemented [Dein08]. Figure 37 illustrates a sound source with its energy enveloping surface.

And the following information is needed during modeling:

- Position of the sound source
- Emission distribution of the sound source according to the reference position
- □ Number of phonons that will be traced from the sound source

Sound source modeling is still an essential issue in acoustic and computer science research. In this thesis the sound source position and number of phonons are implemented as simulation parameters, which are set before simulation start. The emission energy is based on the acquired data during measurement and the emission enveloping surface is simplified as a sphere-like shape. This model provides a straightforward and relatively accurate sound source model for acoustic simulation.



Figure 37: Representation of a sphere-like sound source

4.3.3 Modeling of human

The needs of 3D avatar modeling are various considering the different implementation and use scenarios. In [Span10], the most frequently used human models, such as the "Human Builder," "Jack" and "RAMSIS," are represented in Figure 38a. They are widely used for manufacturing operation investigation, ergonomic research and visualization function. For example, the software "eM-Human" by TECHNOMATIX allows users to simulate the work load in a virtual factory [Tecn03]. However, no human model (avatar) provides an indication of noise level through color. For more discuss about human model use in a digital factory, see [Zülc05].

The sound issue is strongly affects humans. In this thesis, the human model is used to define the positions of SPL estimation during simulation, as well as an indicator to show the reached limits. Hence, the human model should involve essential information, such as scale, position, texture, etc.



Figure 38: Different human models [Span10] (a) and the ergonomic study using software eM-Human [Tecn03] (b)

Several companies offer catalogs with human models, at different levels of detail. Compared to creating models themselves, it is cheaper and faster for users to buy models directly. The
basic geometric model shown in Figure 39a is directly acquired from open source database. The model height is set at 1.7 meter and could be modified again considering the real situation before simulation. For example, during measurements the microphone is commonly set at 1.55 meter, which is the ear height of a 1.7 meter high person.



Figure 39: Human model and used color scale

The position of human model can be defined directly in a virtual environment and also used in the SPL visualization step (see section 5.3.2). Based on LärmVibrationsArbSchV of BMAS, the lower and upper action values of SPL are at a daily/weekly noise exposure of 80 dB (A) and 85 dB (A) respectively (Table 2-1). The material diffuse color of the clothes of this human model is set as a SPL-related variable. Considering the lower and upper limit, which are regulated by law, the color of clothes change gradually from green (SPL=60 dB) to yellow (SPL=80 dB) to red (SPL=85 dB). Figure 39b illustrates the human model and different cloth colors.

4.4 Acoustic simulation

In this thesis, a phonon tracing algorithm is implemented for acoustic simulation, which is illustrated and compared to other algorithms in section 2.2.2. The phonon tracing method considers sound waves as a particle system involving many fragments (phonons) of the whole sound energy. The algorithm consists of two separate steps: phonon tracing and phonon collection. In the first step, sound energy propagation is simulated as traced phonons. In the next step, the SPLs are estimated at given positions. The implemented approach is described in more detail in the following section.

4.4.1 Simulation of sound propagation

The phonon tracing is a geometric acoustics method, which needs geometric data as input. The geometric data contains the 3D models of factories, facilities, and different machines, etc. This data is provided by the modeling step, which was described in the previous chapter. Besides the geometric data, the following input data is needed:

- □ a triangulated scene with tagged surface material
- □ absorption coefficients/functions for different materials

- position of one or more sound sources
- emission distribution of the sound sources
- \Box sound energy of the sound sources
- number of phonons to be traced
- number of reflections to be traced
- \Box the threshold energy of phonons at the end of simulation

Using the given sound emission level, the distribution of sound energy is modeled as a sphere surface, which was illustrated in Figure 37. From a defined sound source, the phonons are sent out and travel as a ray to the surfaces (boundary of medium) they meet. The number of phonons is defined by the user. A high number of phonons provide simulation data with higher details for visualization and auralization. However, the human ear is not capable to locate the origin of a sound source as exactly as the eye locates a light source. Therefore, a lower number of phonons are sufficient for auralization and efficient for simulation as well. The sound speed in air is considered as constant value 314 meter/second.

The phonons from sound source intersect with the surfaces and these intersection points contribute to the global phonon map. The new phonons reflect with specular with respect to the local surface normal and also contribute to the phonon map at the next intersection. This simulation process is repeated when listener positions are changed. At the intersection point, the absorbed energy is calculated using absorption coefficients.

To terminate a simulation, either the number of phonons or the number of reflections can be used. In the first case, if the energy of a phonon becomes lower than the minimum energy threshold and the minimum number of reflections has been computed, a new phonon is emitted from the source. After a defined number of phonons have contributed to the global phonon map, the simulation is terminated. In the second case, if the threshold of energy is not exceeded but a pre-defined number of reflections are computed, the simulation will be terminated as well. The process of phonon emission is illustrated in Figure 40.



Figure 40: Flow chat diagram of the phonon tracing step [Dein08]

To simplify the simulation parameter setting, a software tool is developed. It provides graphic user interface (GUI) and data interface to VR systems, from desktop based non-immersive system to CAVE based full immersive system. Using this software, the user can perform the simulation straightforwardly. A connection between simulation and VR could improve the usability and user experience in an immersive environment. For example, the user would be able to replace the sound source or evaluate the noise level at different position directly.

4.4.2 Evaluation of sound pressure level

After the phonon tracing step, the phonon map is generated and saved for next step. This step is called phonon collection and visualization. The SPL at different listener positions are evaluated and visualized. Using a similar principle as the enveloping surfaces method used for sound power measuring in section 2.2.2, an enveloping surface for each listener position is created for phonon collection (see Figure 41). The phonons that fly through this enveloping surface are documented and calculated as a SPL.

The human ear can distinguish sound frequencies in the spectrum from 20Hz to 20000Hz, but cannot sense equal sound pressure at different frequencies equally. Hence, the finite impulse response (FIR) filters for each listener position are implemented in phonon collection step. The spectrum of the filters is generated by using 2^{14} samples. To limit the non-causal effect, the widest filters for 40, 80, 160 and 320 Hz are combined as one. Therefore, there are seven pre-defined FIR filters: 320, 640, 1280, 2560, 5120, 10240, and 20480 Hz. The production of FIRs is made in advance to reduce the computing time. The collection is cut off after 6.5^{-3} second. Afterwards, the energy sum of collected phonons is calculated to estimate the corresponding SPL. The method of phonon collection can be found in [Dein08].



Figure 41: Illustration of phonon collection

Based on the simulation, the phonon paths are traced and able to be visualized. The phonons are shown as small spheres propagating from a sound source and reflecting at surfaces. The propagation can also be illustrated as a sound wavefront. In the simulation step, the intersections of phonons and surfaces are documented in phonon mapping. It enables the visualization of absorbed energy on surfaces. Different visualization methods can be used according to the need of applications. The visualization examples are shown in the implementation chapter.

4.5 VR interfaces

As an innovative platform, a VR system provides various interfaces for device connections, data input/output, function module integration, etc. In other words, this platform is a customizable system, able to support various hardware, software and data files. Current research shows that data interface issues are often found because of different data file formats, programming standards and hardware features. The development of interfaces according to user specified applications is needed, since one fixed standard for all users and developers are not possible.

To enable the implementation of sound simulation and visualization tools in VR operated by COVISE, the interfaces at the software level are investigated in this section. Based on the understanding of the execution process of COVISE basis modules, the interfaces include the data interface and user interface. The data interface enables data transfer among more modules and simulation and visualization integration. The user interface creates a straightforward use of simulation tools and human-computer interactions in VR.

4.5.1 Data management

Each software system has its own native file format for data storage and access, which is often not compatible with other systems. For example, the binary format ".3ds" can only be viewed and modified using 3ds Max software. Hence, a data interface enables data transfer, data conversion, and data storage among multiple systems. However, there are issues such as data safeties and transfer/conversion time. Figure 42 shows a typical data flow model of COVISE within one workstation. The various modules communicate with the central controller named "covise" and local data manager named "crb". The control messages are sent and received through TCP/IP sockets. In the case of local application, as in Figure 42, the data is stored in local shared memory and accessible from different modules. The data flows according to the arrangement made by module mapping.



Figure 42: Data flow of COVISE within one workstation

In FBK VR laboratory, the computing is executed using a VR cluster. In other words, the different modules are executed on different client workstations. To do that, more COVISE request brokers (crbs) are needed in each workstation to coordinate the distributed computing.

The module mapping and central controller are executed on the master workstation. Whether a local executed application or distributed computing, both data and control communication are hidden within the COVISE libraries. The distributed processes are illustrated in Figure 43. The communications among the central controller, local data management, and COVISE modules are via a TCP/IP connection. The data in the master workstation is transferred to the shared memory of client computers and accessed by their modules.

There are three approaches to create the connection between sound simulation and the COVISE system. The first approach is to create a COVISE module involving sound simulation functions. The second one is to develop a plugin for acoustic simulation and visualization using the COVISE development API. The third approach is to develop the sound simulation as a separate software tool with a connection port to COVISE. The first approach provides considerably better system compatibility and efficiency than the other two. The first one, however, needs the longest time, while the third one enables the fastest implementation. Furthermore, the third approach provides unlimited connections to different VR systems, but the other two can only work with COVISE system. The objective is to develop interfaces enabling the implementation of sound simulation and visualization in both desktop and CAVE based systems. To achieve this goal, a platform-independent solution makes more sense. Hence, the third approach is selected to be implemented.



Figure 43: Data flow of COVISE using a distributed computing

Figure 44 shows the data flow among simulation and COVISE modules. For example, input data, such as the basic geometric data with VRML format, is read by the input port of a "Read/Write" module into master workstation directly. At the same time, this data will be read by a converter, which converts VRML files to OBJ files and transfers them to a simulation server. As the simulation server receives the data from the converter, additional data is generated, e.g. VRML or JavaScript code for GUI. The additional data is read by the

input port of Read/Write module as well. From the output ports, the simulation server receives data from the COVISE modules as feedback or update message. The input and output ports of various modules share the data through their local data manager (also refer Figure 43).



Figure 44: Data flow among simulation server and COVISE modules

4.5.2 User interface

The user interface using the selected approach enables users to manage the files, to set the simulation parameters, to start/stop a simulation, to place one or more listener positions, to visualize the simulation, or to analyze the simulation results. Two user interfaces for simulation and VR in this thesis are designed. The user interface of the simulation tool allows the user to manage the simulation and monitor the simulation processes. Basic functions such as file storage, error documentation, or process status view are included and a GUI in virtual environment is designed. Some simulation and visualization-specific functions, text information, and buttons are added inside the virtual environment. For example, the user is able to load a new VRML file, start a new simulation or define listener positions in a virtual environment directly, without leaving the CAVE. The user can also view the sound propagation and control the propagation speed using virtual slide function. Such 3D GUI is defined using VRML Node "Billiboard", so that all GUI-involved elements are facing the user automatically.



Figure 45: User interfaces for both simulation and VR

Combined with the COVISE main menu, users are also able to change modules and simulation parameters in a virtual environment through GUI. For example, the parameters of a

renderer module can be the viewpoint, the camera position, the rendering module, the navigation module speed, etc. Such changes are reacted to by the parameter port and call for a renewed rendering. The changes of simulation are communicated to the simulation server directly and are used for next simulation execution. Hence, the user has a straightforward interactive interface for simulation and visualization within a virtual environment.

4.6 CAVE system preparation

To implement the applications in a VR system, essential preparations of hardware and software components are required. This section describes the basic configurations of an immersive VR system, namely a CAVE system (e.g. the basic needs of hardware, VR operation system, and programming environment of applications, etc.). Due to the various system designs of CAVE systems, this description is based on the configuration and author's experience of the Four Walls CAVE system in FBK institute.

4.6.1 Hardware configuration

To fulfill the implementation requirements for a CAVE system, first, enough space is needed. A typical Four Walls CAVE system, like the one in FBK institute, needs at least 144 m^2 spaces for basic hardware configuration. A design without the use of mirror could extend the space to more than 200 m². Hence, the mirrors are used to reduce the projection distance in many CAVE systems. For an overhead placement of the mirror, the room needs to be at least 10 meters high. Furthermore, the brightness of the entire room should be adjustable by using windows and artificial lighting. Thus, the room can be darkened for better projection and also illuminated for maintenance work. To integrate a sound system in a CAVE, acoustical properties of the room need to be considered.



Figure 46: Illustrated CAVE system from front side (left) and back side (right)

There are several other infrastructure requirements: a good ventilation system, enough power supply for all the projectors and workstations, and network connection. The exact specifications, such as the energy need and minimum network speed, are dependent on the specific hardware configuration and software application. The CAVE solution is generally not

only complex and expensive but also needs more space and maintenance during its operating time. Figure 47 shows the layout of FBK CAVE system with a check list of basic hardware.



Figure 47: Layout illustration of a CAVE based immersive VR system

The FBK CAVE system illustrated in Figure 48 consists of 8 projectors, 2 projecting on each of the 4 walls with highest solution of 1280 x 1042 pixels. Three mirrors are used to reduce the projection length. This CAVE system offers an immersive virtual environment more than 17 m^3 . Passive stereo technology with circular polarization is used for stereoscopic rendering of the 3D environment.

The CAVE is operated by a VR cluster, which contains 1 master and 8 client workstations (see Figure 49a). The master workstation is configured with two quad core 2.5 GHz Central Processing Units (CPU), graphics card FX 4800 with 1.5 GB memory, and 24 GB main memory. The client computers are configured with single quad core 2.5 GHz CPU, the same graphics card as the master, and 12 GB main memory. All the workstations communicate with each other using TCP/IP protocol.

The user can interact with the system via different input devices, such as a fly stick (see Figure 49) or a wireless keyboard. Four infrared (IR)-cameras (see Figure 49) from A.R.T. Company are used for the user tracking [ART12]. Six tracking markers are fixed on the fly stick, so that the hand position of the user can also be known by a tracking server. The head position is also tracked through tracking markers on the 3D glasses. The absolute positions

(the real world position of the fly stick and the glasses) are transferred to the tracking server, which is operated on a separate computer. According to calibrated reference coordinates, the absolute positions are calculated to relative positions (the virtual world positions of the fly stick and the glasses) and are sent through tracking module of COVISE to the VR master. Then, the master computer adapts the perspective of the virtual environment according to the user's viewpoint. This mapping between real user position and virtual environment enables the most basic interaction (movement) in VR and enhances the immersive experience.



Figure 48: The CAVE system at FBK

Even if only one user is tracked by the system, several people can work jointly inside the CAVE. This allows a team to analyze the processes in a virtual environment and speeds up the analysis and decision making process.



Figure 49: The devices contained in CAVE system: a) projectors and VR cluster, b) fly stick and 3D glasses with tracking markers, and c) IR-camera

The A.R.T. Company assisted with the calibration of the IR-camera and fly stick using standard software. Usually, when there are no changes or upgrades to the hardware, the calibration is done only once. Maintenance of hardware and devices is performed at specified time intervals.

4.6.2 VR software

In the FBK VR laboratory, both desktop based non-immersive VR systems and fullimmersive CAVE systems are used for various applications. The advantages and disadvantages of both systems are discussed in 2.3.3. As a useful complement to CAVE system, the desktop based VR system enables users to implement the applications with low costs and short configuration time. For example, the VRML viewer is used to view and manipulate WRL file compatible applications. Within Microsoft Windows operating system, different software can be used, such as the "Instant Player," "Cosmo Player," "GLview," and "Cortona3D Viewer". In Figure 50, the user interfaces of GLview (a) and Cortona3D Viewer (b) are shown. Both of them are implemented as internet browser plugins and can be executed online. Using such software, users can check created VR models and make changes from a web-based database. However, the file loading speed file and computation speed are limited by the computer configuration and network capability. A VRML file with a large number of objects could be bigger than 100 Mb, which is not optimal for web browser VRML viewers.



Figure 50: a) user interfaces of GLview and b) Cortona3D Viewer

For the CAVE system, basic software to run the virtual environment and implement various applications is needed. As a platform, the software "COVISE" was selected due to its wide range of supported hardware devices and the variety of different functionality modules. The software was developed at the High Performance Computing Center (HLRS) in Stuttgart in collaboration with the Department of Computer Science at the University of Cologne. It is modular constructed software, so that the applications are implemented through the execution of one or more modules. For more details about the advantages COVISE and the COVISE based application implementations, see [Lang04].

The execution process of a single COVISE module is shown in Figure 51. The "Constructor" creates the module layout and connects with a COVISE controller. A start message is sent by the "Constructor" to COVISE. Next, in order to avoid timeout condition, a time consuming initialization "PostInst" is executed before the process goes into main loop. In the "main loop", COVISE can receive and execute different events. Each module has three event handlers to control execution processes, namely the parameter handler "param()", the event executer "compute()", and the data socket "sockData()". Each change of module parameters is submitted to "param" and reacted to by the "param" subroutine. Then, the controller "covise" tells the module to read input data or create output data. The data will be shared in a local data manager, which will be described later. The data socket "sockData" monitors the data arrival.

Ports establish the connections of a module to other modules. Three typical ports are usually involved in each module: parameter port, input port, and output port. The parameter port reads

the values set by the user. The input port receives data and the output port sends data to other modules. For more details about ports and execution processes of different modules, refer to COVISE documentation [Aumü08a and Aumü08b].



Figure 51: Illustration of a typical COVISE module

To organize and combine the different modules, the module mapping tool "MapEditor" is implemented. The users are able to choose and connect the necessary modules for their applications. Users can also define connections between the modules. Figure 52 shows the user interface of this tool and illustrates the approach used to define connections among modules. The black lines show the data flow from a data output port to a data input port. The required data and allowed data formats of each module are pre-defined. Extended data types are usually implemented by using plugins and user-programmed subroutines.



Figure 52: Module browser and mapping tool "MapEditor" of COVISE [Aumü08b]

COVISE also provides extension interfaces for normal users and programmers. By using read/write plugins, users can make more types of data input and output that COVISE can support. Other plugins enable a direct connection between COVISE and different simulation software, such as the multi body simulation or FEM simulation.

Figure 53 shows a visualization example using COVISE in both a desktop-based display (a) and a CAVE system (b). The graphical user interface in both systems is the same. The main menu includes three different modules of navigation: Walk, Fly and Drive. Other functions such as the "Zoom World," "Scale World," "View All," and "Move World" are also involved. The extension menu enables users to customize the navigation in the virtual environment. The VRML menu provides functions such as scene graph reloading, animation starting, or viewpoint changing. By using predefined API, the users can add features to the main menu themselves. However, some interactions, such as the distance sensor or touch sensor, are only possible by using the fly stick in CAVE. Figure 53 also shows the difference between immersions. The visualization in CAVE provides a much bigger projection surface and wider field of view.



Figure 53: A scene graph visualized using COVISE in display (a) and in CAVE (b)

Using COVISE software modules, the connections to a tracking server or a sound system are also possible. In FBK laboratory, the tracking software for the IR-camera is connected via TCP/IP to COVISE and enables user-movement mapping in a virtual environment. Furthermore, the audio output module supports for a 3D sound system to improve the immersive experience in CAVE. Further connections with other customized functions, such as a tactile simulator, is enabled by using module/plugin extensions.

4.7 Summary of the approach

Based on the research objectives defined in chapter 3, this chapter explained an approach to integrate sound simulation and visualization in VR. Five implementation levels within this approach were discussed. The approach starts with the data acquisition from different resources in section 4.2. Several types of data acquisition were shown, such as the basic geometric data, the data of a sound source and legal regulation data. Table 4-5 listed a short summary of acquired data, used symbol, acquisition methods, and used standards/guidelines. The data formats of acquired data vary. For example, the geometric data file could be ".3ds"

or ".OBJ" files, while the noise exposure level acquired using sound pressure meter could be exported as different sheet formats.

The determined $L_{eq, 8h}$ is considered as $L_{ex, 8h}$, and together with the index LC_{pk} is used for evaluation of noise exposure to employees. L_w is seen as an value to indicate the noise emission from the workplaces to environment. This value could also be provided by facility manufacturers.

Data	Symbol	Acquisition Method	Used Standard
Object geometries		Measurement, Data from facility manufacturer	
Factory layout		Measurement, Building blueprint	
Absorption coefficient	α_{j}	Measurement, Architecture database	DIN EN ISO 10534-1, 2
Sound power level (SWL)	$L_{ m w}$	Sound intensity measurement	DIN EN ISO 9614-1, 2, 3
Machine- and position-based SPL	Leq	Sound pressure measurement	IEC 60804, 60651 DIN EN ISO
Peak SPL	LC _{pk}		61672-1, 9612 DIN 45645-2
Noise exposure level per working day	Lex, 8h	$L_{ex, 8h} = L_{eq, 8h}$	ArbStättV TA Lärm
Peak SPL of noise exposure	LC _{pk}	Measurement and calculation	1

Table 4-5: A brief summary of data acquisition

Based on the collected data, the virtual environment including its objects is created. The sound source models and the human models for sound simulation were discussed as well. The modeling methods were described in section 4.3. Methods of sound propagation simulation and SPL evaluation were also discussed. The phonon tracing and phonon collection algorithms were introduced in section 4.4. Section 4.5 showed the need of the VR system configurations and preparation work. To combine the both simulation and VR systems, the data interface and user interface in VR are constructed considering the current VR hardware and software platform. The data interfaces enable file transfer and conversion among multiple software modules and the user interfaces allows an interaction using a virtual environment. By means of this approach, the user is able to implement a VR-supported software application to improve the implementation of sound simulation and visualization for manufacturing design. In the next section, the implementation of software tool according to developed approach will be discussed.

5 Software Implementation

Section 4.5 described the basic requirements and methods to integrate the simulation and visualization in VR. To implement the data and user interfaces for VR, a simulation server is created, allowing users to manage the geometric files, to configure and execute the simulation, and to interact with VR system. Furthermore, the connection via TCP/IP enables a web-based application.

5.1 Software architecture

Five main functions modules are included in the software: "WRL2OBJ Convertor," "Simulation Engine," "Visualization Engine," "GUI Generator," and "HTTP Port Controller." The function diagram of this software tool is illustrated in Figure 54, in which the arrows show the data flow. The "WRL2OBJ Convertor" transforms WRL files to OBJ files for "Simulation Engine." Based on the generated OBJ file and given surface absorption coefficients, the "Simulation Engine" executes and computes the phonon tracing processes. The results after the simulation are transferred to the "Visualization Engine" via TCP/IP to the VR system directly. In "Visualization Engine", the SPLs are calculated according to the given listener positions and FIR filter files, and then a new WRL file is generated. This file is visualized in VR systems as well. The "GUI Generator" provides additional VRML and JavaScript code to create a straightforward user interface in virtual environments. All communications between the simulation software tool and VR systems are connected through HTTP by using the "HTTP Port Controller". Both simulation and visualization user interfaces will be described in the next chapter.



Figure 54: Function diagram of simulation and visualization software tool

The implementation is completed based on Microsoft Windows system using C++ code and Qt programming environment [Qt12]. Qt facilities an easy GUI to start the server on selected network ports and generates an initial WRL file which has to be opened by the VRML viewer application. Additionally, Qt provides a simple interface for managing network sockets which

is a basis for an HTTP connection. Qt implementations are also portable to major operating systems. One only has to recompile the source code for Windows, Linux/Unix, or Mac OS. MinGW is used as a C++ compiler which is a minimalist development environment for Microsoft Windows applications [MinG12]. The software architecture creates a platform independent and web-based software tool. Users can run software using different operating systems and hardware configurations.

To compile the source code, several essential Dynamic Link Libraries (DLLs) are needed, which are partly provided by Qt and partly by open source libraries. These libraries are all free for research and fulfill the minimal requirements of sound simulation and visualization. They are listed as follows:

- □ QtCore4.dll: contains Qt -core non-GUI functionality (basic Qt-classes and functions).
- □ QtGui4.dll: extends the QtCore4 module with GUI functions, which enables users to create widgets, windows, buttons, etc.
- □ QtNetwork4.dll: contains the most common network protocols, many utilities, and also provides classes to make network programming easier and portable.
- □ QtOpenGL.dll: enables the connection between programs and the necessary OpenGL library, which are essential for visualization.
- mingwm10.dll: provides header files and imports libraries for the default C runtime library, which is required by MinGW compiled programs running on Microsoft Windows operating system.
- □ fftw.dll: a collection of fast C routines for computing the Discrete Fourier Transform (DFT) in one or more dimensions.
- □ gcc.dll: provides mostly basic arithmetic operations that the processor cannot perform directly and is basis for runtime of MinGW compiled program.
- □ CGAL: this C++ library allows users to execute efficient and accurate geometric algorithms, such as the triangulations, polygons, or mesh generations [CGAL12].
- □ GLUT: a toolkit for user to write OpenGL small and medium sized programs using a simple API. The current GLUT API version is 3 [GLUT12].

The necessary input data is stored as the required format. The geometric files are exported as WRL files using the VRML 2.0 standard. The texture information is saved as PNG or JPG files. The FIR filters are saved as ASCII plain text files.

5.2 Data basis

A specific file format is needed to enable the visualization of geometric data in VR. To represent a virtual environment and its objects, the VRML 2.0 standard is implemented. The software "3ds Max" supports WRL file imports and exports. To modify the VRML file, the software tool "VrmlPad 3.0" from ParallelGraphics is used. This tool allows users to view and change a VRML file using several essential functions without special programming knowledge (e.g. the illustration of routing mapping, 3D representation of objects, view of tree-like data structure, etc.). Position, material features and textures can also be modified. JavaScripts can be written directly in a VRML file. The sensor Nodes and interaction routings

are allowed to be defined in VrmlPad directly as well [Vrml12]. Figure 55 shows the GUI of VrmlPad. The visualized Scene Tree, Routing Map and Resource on the left side make the editing straightforward. The single geometric element is also visualized on the right side. The program supports a side-by-side view and allows editing of more than one VRML file at the same time, so that files can be merged easily.



Figure 55: Modifying VRML file using software tool VrmlPad

Other software also exists (e.g. "Caligari TrueSpace 3.0" and "Platinum VR Creator 2.0") to edit WRL files. A feature comparison of commonly used VRML editors is shown in Table 5-1. Geometry modeled using a WRL file, which modeled FBK Manufacturing Lab as a virtual environment, is illustrated in Figure 50 and Figure 56.



Figure 56: Geometric modeling as data basis for software implementation

	Caligari	Paragraph Platinum VR		Rendersoft	Paralle lGraphi	
	TrueSpace 3.0	Internet	Creator 2.0	VRML Editor	cs VrmlPad	
	_	Space Builder	Learning	1.3	3.0	
		2.1	Edition			
File Import						
VRML 1.0	yes	no	yes	yes	Yes	
VRML 2.0	no	yes	yes	no	Yes	
3DStudio .3ds	yes	yes	no	no	no	
AutoCAD .dxf	yes	no	no	no	no	
File Export						
VRML 1.0	yes	no	no	yes	Yes	
VRML 2.0	yes	yes	yes	yes	Yes	
User Interface						
multiple view windows	yes	yes	yes	no	Yes	
real-time shading	yes	yes	yes	yes	Yes	
scene graph	no	yes	yes	no	Yes	
publish tool	yes	yes	yes	no	Yes	
customisable	no	yes	yes	no	Yes	
context-sensitive help	no	yes	no	no	Yes	
tutorials	yes	yes	yes	no	Yes	
Modelling Features						
primitive shapes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
polygon editor	yes	yes	no	no	no	
boolean ops	yes	yes	no	no	no	
File Formats	·					
texture image	BMP, JPEG,	BMP, GIF,	BMP, JPEG	BMP, JPEG	BMP, JPEG	
	TGA, TXR	JPEG				
movie	AVI	animated GIF	none	none	AVI	
audio	-	WAV, MIDI	WAV	none	WAV	
VRML 2.0 Support						
URL Anchor	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
Background	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
Billboard	no	no	no	no	yes	
ElevationGrid	no	no	no	no	yes	
Fog	yes	no	no	no	yes	
Inline	yes	no	yes	no	yes	
LOD	yes	no	yes	no	yes	
Sound	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	
Text	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
Viewpoint	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	
lights	yes	no	yes	yes	yes	
PROTO	no	no	no	no	yes	
Animation						
key-frame editor	yes	no	yes	no	yes	
Sensors and ROUTES	_	no	yes	no	yes	
JavaScript	no	no	yes	no	yes	
Libraries						
objects	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	
materials	yes	no	yes	no	yes	
textures	yes	yes	yes	no	yes	
behaviours	no	no	yes	no	yes	
drag-and-drop	no	yes	yes	no	yes	

Table 5-1: An overview and comparison of VRML software tools

The human model discussed in 4.3.3 is stored as WRL file as well. When the listener positions are defined by the user, the model will be added to the scene graph automatically (see Figure 39). The modeling of a sound source is based on the description in 4.3.2 and the parameter setting of a sound source is based on the measurements described in 4.2.2. A texture file is prepared to visualize the phonons. And the filters for phonon collection are generated as ASCII files separately according to frequencies. The material absorption coefficients are saved according to material type in ASCII files as well. The legal limits to evaluate the SPL at different positions are entered as fix values directly in the simulation server. All the data is prepared for simulation implementation and stored in a main folder, which is accessible by local or remote workstations. A database can be used for large data sets.

5.3 User interface

A well designed user interface ensures the implementation of designed software functions and improves the user experiences. GUIs for simulation server and for virtual environment are implemented. In the GUIs, basic functions, such as setting the parameters and starting a new simulation, are provided. For sound visualization, an interactive navigation menu is implemented to enable the user to view and analyze the simulation results. The 3D GUI for simulation and visualization has a similar design with a sphere in the middle and six connected poles to show the orientation. A touch sensor attached to the sphere allows the user to show and hide the main menu.

5.3.1 Simulation interface

The implemented GUI for simulation server is shown in Figure 57. Different sub segments on the main menu are highlighted and labeled. The output window on the right side can be brought up from main menu.

The simulation setting panel allows users to set the simulation parameters, such as the pressure of the sound source, the number of phonons to be traced, the number of phonons to be visualized, the type of human model, the evaluation method, default file path, etc. The message window shows current server status. Users are also allowed to generate a start file (a VRML file to connect the simulation and VRML viewer) or open a new simulation scene. The generated VRML file containing the simulation results can be viewed in the VRML output window before saving. In the case of distributed computing, the software allows the user to store updated simulation data from the simulation server without viewing it in the VR system.

As the start file is read by a VRML viewer, the server loads the VRML file and adds additional VRML code for user interface elements for interaction in the scene (see Figure 58a). Interactive elements like buttons and sliders are implemented using VRML and JavaScript. Their visual appearance is modeled using simple VRML geometry, such as spheres and boxes. These geometries are connected to TouchSensor Nodes for buttons and to PlaneSensor Nodes for sliders. The sensors emit events which are routed to Script nodes containing simple interaction code written in JavaScript. Through the "Inline" Node, the additional VRML and JavaScript codes are embedded to main VRML files.



Figure 57: Main interface (left) and output monitoring (right) of simulation server

The file navigation menu is constructed with a slider and button combination, which provides good handling for both mouse interaction on a desktop PC and fly stick use in the CAVE. The main control panel to set the sound source and start the simulation is designed as a sphere with six attached sticks oriented along the coordinate axes (shown in Figure 58b). The user can conveniently explore the virtual environment interactively without leaving the virtual environment. For example, users can place the sound sources within the viewer application, start/stop a simulation or load a new geometric file.



Figure 58: a) file navigation and b) simulation start in Cortona3D viewer

Commands of the user are sent back to the server by loading a special URL which encodes the action. Then, the simulation parameters are configured according to the commands and the

calculation is executed by the server. Afterwards the simulated data is delivered back to the viewer again. The viewer opens a new connection using an HTTP request asking for a file encoding commands. The server calculates and answers with a new VRML file delivered by this existing HTTP connection. Figure 45 and Figure 54 illustrate the process. The data flow behind the processes is depicted in Figure 44.

5.3.2 Visualization interface

After the simulation engine has finished the computation, the simulated data will be stored in shared memory for further visualization. The geometric model with the simulated data is loaded into the viewer application. At the same time, a navigation and control panel is generated by a simulation software tool and visualized in the virtual environment. This panel follows the user viewpoint by using the "Billboard" Node and can be attached at any defined position. Using the Node, the user can investigate the sound propagation inside the room by looking at animated phonon paths, which are shown in Figure 59 by using green sphere textures. The size and color of illustrated phonons can be changed by the user. The playback speed can also be adjusted using the "++" and "---" buttons, and the current simulation time interval can be selected using a slider.

This software tool enables the user to place and remove listeners interactively. The human avatar is depicted by two different models, a simplified shape or a concrete human form, which can be chosen by the user. Then, a command to calculate the SPL "Collect" at the listener positions is issued.

The color of the listeners are updated according to the SPL: green for an SPL lower than 80dB, yellow/orange for a critical SPL louder than 80dB and lower than 85dB, and red for above 85dB. The detailed description of the color scale and human model is shown in Figure 39.



Figure 59: Visualization of phonon propagation and SPL at operation position

The visualization is first implemented in a desktop-based VRML viewer, such as the "Cortona3D Viewer", which enables the user to execute and view the simulation results on

any workstation with a VRML viewer plugin. Compared to the CAVE, the experience of navigation using the mouse is poor and the view field is very small. However, the time needed to start and configure the system is short and the interaction is familiar to the users without any experience with an immersive VR system.

Figure 60 shows the phonons building a wavefront emitted from a machine. The red colored cones show the sound particles reflected from the ceiling and floor and the color intensity indicates the absorption of the surfaces. The effects of different materials on the spectral energy/pressure distribution can be observed. The first few reflections already show whether certain frequency bands are rapidly absorbed and how much sound energy is reflected back into the scene causing a higher noise level. Scene materials of high reflectance can be identified and replaced in the virtual model reducing the SPL in the virtual environment.



Figure 60: Sound particle (phonon) propagation and reelections on surfaces

Afterwards the visualization is implemented in the CAVE system. The master workstation of the COVISE cluster communicates with the simulation server and updates the scene graph for all eight clients. The 3D GUI, data flows and the computing processes in the CAVE system are identical with those in the desktop environment (see Figure 65). The computation time in both desktop-based and CAVE based systems are similar when using same geometric file and same simulation settings. However, because of the large projection surface, the rendering time for CAVE system is comparably longer. The visualization in CAVE enhances the representation quality of simulation data and the understanding of sound propagation processes within an immersive environment.

5.4 Distributed computing

The three main functions (data management, sound simulation, and visualization of simulation results) are executed in three different workstations at different locations. To implement this distributed computing approach, TCP/IP protocol is used to enable the communications among HTTP ports.

The implementation framework is illustrated in Figure 64. Workstation 1 serves as the data manager and provides the necessary geometric data for the simulation server. Workstation 2 executes the sound simulation and sends the simulation results back to workstation 1. Workstation 3 obtains the simulated scene graph from workstation 2 and is responsible for handling user interactions. When the visualization is displayed in a CAVE system, workstation 3 additionally serves as the VR master. This workstation distributes the rendering jobs to each VR client, which provides the output for the projection system. Workstation 3 also receives the user commands and data from the tracking system, which means the commands or scene graph updates are sent to the simulation server through workstation 3 for renewed simulation.



Figure 61: Distributed application based on TCP/IP protocol

This distributed computing provides a few benefits for collaborative research and development. In typical use scenario, the geometric data is provided by the manufacturing enterprises and the simulation and visualization are implemented by a research institute. To improve simulation performance, the institute could rent a supercomputer-powered server or a cloud computing service from other companies. For example, the native CAD file of a factory layout and involved facilitates is sent to the simulation server and converted directly to the simulation suitable file, but not sent to the researcher in the institute. This ensures the safety of the native data. The use of external computing for simulation enables the user overcoming computational bottleneck and reduces the simulation time.

5.5 Implementation results

Through the software implementation, the simulation can be visualized on a desktop-based or CAVE-based virtual environment. This subsection summarizes the proposed noise analysis system implementation and discusses some results.

First, the user has a simulation server which not only executes the sound simulation and visualizes the simulation result, but also provides the connection to VR systems. Whether using a desktop-based display or a CAVE-based full-immersive system, users are able to investigate and gain a better understanding of the noise issue in a manufacturing system. Second, based on the message communication and data transfer method, the implementation is considered a server/client approach. VRML visualization is used as a front-end GUI for the user and provides a programming interface for JavaScript coding. Third, using JavaScript, the limits of the VRML standard are partly overcome and the functions are extended. Using this implementation method, the VRML applications can be generated for different platforms and are enabled for further development.

A few visualization examples are shown in the figures below. Figure 62 shows the modeling of a sound source (left) or more sound sources (right). Commonly, there are more sound sources that determine the acoustic effect in a factory.



Figure 62: Visualization of single source and multi-sources of sound

Figure 63 shows the phonon propagation from a lathe in the Manufacturing Lab. A worker is standing in front of the lathe and exposed to an SPL of under 85dB. The green spheres illustrate the traced paths of sound particles, while the red color shows the legal limit of noise level is exceeded and a protection method is needed.



Figure 63: Visualization of phonon propagation and SPL at an operation position

Figure 64 shows the estimated SPLs at more operation positions which are monitored at the same time, which gives an overview of the noise levels over the whole Manufacturing Lab. The user can easily repeat the simulation using different simulation settings and compare the differences among them afterwards. The computation time is relative short compared to FEM or BEM simulation methods. Even a common office computer could be used for simulation. The navigation and analysis in a visualized scene is straightforward and intuitive.



Figure 64: Visualization of SPL at more operation positions

Furthermore, the proposed system is implemented in a CAVE environment. Using HTTP protocol, the simulation server communicates with COVISE modules. Two necessary COVISE modules are "VRML renderer" and "VR" module. The former enables the VRML visualization of a scene graph in CAVE and the latter provides basic interaction functions, such as navigation and user tracking. Figure 65 shows the basic user interface with added interface elements for the simulation software. Using the three button fly stick, the user can

navigate and interact with the virtual environment more intuitively, compared to using a desktop display and mouse. Navigation and selection are basic interactions in this environment. After viewing the factory layout and the machines, the user can set the sound source position and the positions which are required to be evaluated positions. After the simulation, the user can analyze the results directly in the CAVE. The user can also restart or reconfigure a simulation using the file navigation GUI without leaving the CAVE.



Figure 65: Simulation and visualization interface in CAVE

As an additional implementation, sound rendering [Darv95, Rabe97, Sven02, Lenz07 and Dein10] is also possible after the simulation. This method enables a realistic 3D audio rendering (also known as "Auralization") for VR applications inside the CAVE. Most of the sound files used in current VR systems are sampled sounds. Modeling and simulation based sound offers new possibilities to improve the user immersive experience in a VR system, especially in a CAVE system. However, this implementation is not included in this thesis.

6 Examples of Software Use

The implemented software tool demonstrates that the proposed approach is effective and produces realistic results. In this section, this software is tested using four different situations. The first situation shows quick evaluation after layout adaption. The second situation shows verification between simulation and measurement data. The third situation shows integration effects in the CAVE system by using auto play animation and the software tool. Finally, the last situation shows the implementation of the proposed method of distributed simulation and visualization. Through these four situations, the usability, system reliability, simulation efficiency, and visualization effects are well tested.

Situation 1 – reduce the noise in specified area

The first use case has a clearly defined objective: to reduce the noise in specified area by changing the layout of the factory, in which gears of the agricultural manufacturer are produced. To demonstrate the software tool, this use case focuses on the shaft manufacturing process chain. The chain consists of three processes: turning, milling and grinding. The original layout with machine tools is shown in Figure 66 with process chain being presented by A, B, and C. In this initial situation, the lathes have low reliability and are not able to cover the increasing production volume. Also, CNC-programming is not supported by these lathes and the set-up time is very long. In order to solve this identified bottleneck, the lathes are to be replaced by a new CNC turning machine. For the replacement, experts suggest three possible solutions. These three solutions are shown in Figure 66 by number 1, 2, and 3.

In the lower right corner of the layout, a small area with tables and a flip chart is found -the area for CIP workshops- in which the noise level has to be considered. Since the CNC turning machine can have different positions, the layouts of three implemented solutions are shown in Figure 67. The sound simulation tool is then applied in each of the positions.



Figure 66: The initial situation of use case 1 and three reschedule possibilities

The 3D models of three different solutions are prepared using 3ds Max and the sound source parameters are kept unchanged for all three simulations. The preparation for the simulations is time consuming, because a direct position change of objects in the software-generated VRML scene graph is not possible. Therefore, a further development is considered.



Figure 67: Three rescheduled layout solutions

From manufacturing process point of view, there are no essential differences among solution 1, 2 and 3. In order to minimize the noise in the CIP workshop area, the SPLs of the three positions are simulated and visualized by using a color scale. The results are illustrated in Figure 68. According to the simulation results, position 2 is the preferred solution, because the employee is exposed to lowest sound level at 72 dB.



Figure 68: Improved noise situation after change 2

Although modeling the layout for three different solutions is not straightforward, this method allows for quick decision making. The quick decision making is essential since users need a fast and systematic method to adjust their manufacturing systems. However, this software also needs to be further extended to be able to work with other software together.

Situation 2 – compare the simulation with the measurements

The SPL measurements which are described in section 4.2.2 provide necessary data for simulation validation. Figure 69a illustrates the position based measurements in FBK Manufacturing Lab. Figure 69b shows the simulation based on 11 positions using the data



from Figure 69a. The results comparing measured values and simulation results are shown in Table 6-1.

Figure 69: Measurement results (a), defined 11 positions for measuring (b)



Figure 70: Color scaled SPLs

Position Nr.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
Measurement	74.9	77.8	79.3	83.2	81.8	79.6	78.1	76.2	72.5	74.5	74.1
Simulation	62.7	82.1	68.8	85.2	84.3	84.9	81.0	75.8	62.1	67.3	70.0

Table 6-1: Description of the measurement positions

The differences between the simulation and measurement data are most likely caused by three reasons. First, the absorption coefficients can only be estimated, not selected from the existing database, since the facilities are mostly non-standard and old. Second, compared to the wave-based methods, the phonon tracing method as well as other geometric methods fails in the low frequency range. Due to the limitation of geometric methods, a combined approach could provide more ideal and more accurate simulation. For example, DEINES suggested an additional wave-based method implementation to simulate the sound wave propagation at low and middle frequencies [Dein08].

Situation 3 – integration in the CAVE system

To integrate the acoustic simulation into a CAVE system, there are two different methods available. The first one is to convert the simulation result and the geometric file used for the simulation to a VRML file. The phonon propagation is saved as an animation and embedded in VRML for autoplay. Figure 71 shows the animation of sound propagation in a classroom. The number of phonons is fixed as the animation is created and the playback speed is changeable by COVISE. The animation is repeated automatically from the beginning once it is finished. This method is simple and stable and the animation can be presented using almost any computer system. However, an interactive user interface and renewed simulation are not useable.



Figure 71: An animation auto play of phonon propagation

The second method is to use software tool introduced the in chapter 5, which enables users to execute the simulation and view the results interactively. In other words, after viewing the last simulation, the user can configure the simulation parameters results and restart the simulation. By using the embedded interactive GUI, the playback speed can be changed and the autoplay can be stopped at any step. Furthermore, the simulation result can be stored as a VRML file for further viewing and comparison.



Figure 72: Interactive animation of phonon propagation

This situation is based on the use of the VR software COVISE. Using other VR software could change the interactions. However, many current VR software tools are implemented based on the OpenSceneGraph library, which means the visual effect showed in this section is analogous to the effects of other software systems.

Situation 4 – distributed implementation

Using the web-server, the communications via HTTP enable the distributed sound simulation and visualization. A prototypical test is made by using two computers and a shared data base within an established Virtual Private Network (VPN). The framework is illustrated in Figure 73. The database is stored on computer 1 with the geometric files, the texture files and necessary libraries. The web server is installed on computer 2 and provides relatively high performance computation power when compared to computer 3. Computer 3 is configured with an usual internet browser-supported VRML viewer. The users are able to start the simulation and view the results, computed by computer 2, without installing the web-server software. The original geometric files can also be viewed by using computer 3 without request computer 2.

In the case of complex simulation and visualization jobs, this distributed computing can use the full performance of all the computers, which is the main advantage of distributed systems. In this case, both computer 2 und 3 are notebook computers with relatively low computational power. Therefore, the advantage of distributed computing is not clearly shown. Still, the implementation is proven to be successful and efficient. Computer 1 is an institute server, which enables a large storage capacity and provides access for other users in the same institute or users from outside with access rights. Therefore, the geometric database can be maintained by third party, for example by the enterprise which provided the models.



Figure 73: Distributed implementation of sound simulation and visualization

However, this VRML-based method is not the ideal solution for a parallel and distributed simulation. Firstly, the VRML script is not efficient enough for data storage and conversion, as compared to the native OBJ standard. In the case of a large data set, the file transfer and converting time does not to meet the needs of the user. Secondly, the interactive user interfaces have to be generated by JavaScript each time as the VRML file is reloaded in the viewer program, which takes a lot of storage and CPU power from both the web-server computer and visualization client. This problem may be solved by an integrated GUI in the VRML viewer or other VR software which improve the application usability. On the other hand, the GUI-generator even without improvement could be used in any system with a VRML loader. Thirdly, the web-server is not adapted for multi-core CPU processing. For the special need of a distributed sound simulation and visualization, a hardware adapted implementation is necessary.

7 Conclusion and Future Work

This thesis developed an interactive and straightforward noise investigation using VR application. Based on the established concept, a few research issues were addressed and the main research question was answered. In this chapter, the development and implementation of the approach is briefly summarized. Finally, several extension possibilities for further research are described.

Conclusion

First, the noise issue in a manufacturing system and the related legal regulations were studied to later enable investigation in a virtual environment. Sound simulation and visualization methods were described in detail and two main groups of simulation algorithms were introduced and compared using pre-defined features. Then, a relative detailed review of VR technology and current applications in industry was made, which provided a solid basis for concept development and software implementation. However, this review covers only the VR applications in fields of industry.

Based on the study of existing VR applications and their technical solutions, a development concept with five detailed implementation steps was demonstrated. The five steps are: data acquisition, environment/sound source/human modeling, acoustic simulation and visualization, VR interface and VR system preparation. Both non-immersive and full-immersive VR systems were considered. VRML was considered to be the suitable VR language and modeling method for this proposal. A web-server based implementation approach was then established as the interface between simulation and VR. This concept could be used for other simulation integrations and extended for other industrial applications.

Using the introduced concept and implementation approaches, a software tool was made. This software can be used to facilitate determining noise levels at working positions and test different improvement options. The software was specifically adapted for virtual manufacturing environments, e.g. machine halls or factories. Essential required tasks were accomplished, such as the converter for OBJ file, 3D interactive user interface, web-server for simulation and VR connection, and the visualization in a CAVE system. Due to the mentioned advantages of VR, the noise simulation and visualization was made better for use in factory planning and workplace design. Furthermore, this tool provides a straightforward method to check if the noise level is over the limits of legal regulations.

Four example situations showed typical application scenarios in a manufacturing system. The implemented software was used in the different situations to fulfill the planning requirements:

- **Reducing the noise in specified area through layout change**
- Comparing the simulation with the measurements
- □ Visualizing the sound propagation in a CAVE system
- □ Using application with distributed computing

The results validated the positive improvement of sound investigation in virtual environment. Furthermore, the simulated data is well visualized using VR systems and easy to understand. Therefore, this software can be considered a support tool for manufacturing designers and

Outlook

Currently, this software tool provides only basic interactive features for sound investigation. For example, a change of factory layout or modification of room acoustic properties can only be made in modeling step; a direct change in VR is not allowed. This could be extended to provide an interactive adjustment of absorption coefficients and machine positions, e.g. for simulation of different noise control solutions. This extension could make the virtual planning and rescheduling possible.

In addition to the visualization of sound propagation in VR, the auditive representation of sound simulation results is called auralization. In a VR system, the immersion degree is enhanced significantly through integrated auralization. Using simulation generated phonon mapping could be converted and exported to stereo audio data file which would enable the auralization in a CAVE system. This issue could also be considered in further research.

Another potential extension is the integration of sound simulation into the VR-based CIPworkshop. Combined with auditive representation in CAVE, noise in a manufacturing environment can be perceived realistically by participants (workers, designers, executives etc.). The suggestions and ideas could be tested directly without applying them in reality. Hence, this approach would reduce downtime during the conventional CIP-workshops and allow the tests of various improving scenarios without high costs and potential risks.

The noise issue is not only related to working safety and health, but also relates to ergonomics and workplace design. The approach developed in this thesis provides the basic know-how to integrate noise analysis in a digital factory as well as VR concept. The implemented software tool could be considered a prototype for further development involving more essential ergonomic issues, such as the lighting quality, air pollution, heat, chemical emission, etc. In other words, a comprehensive simulation and evaluation of the quality of the working environment, considering the possible negative factors, could be made before the industrial facilities are setup. Possible changes, rescheduling and redesigns are then able to be made in a virtual world. The solution implementation in a real manufacturing system will only be made if the solution completely optimized and validated.

8 References

[Abel07]	Abel, A.; Franke, R.: Virtuelle Fabrikplanung als Basis der Produktion am Beispiel einer mittelständischen Gießerei. In: Virtuell entwickeln, testen und real produzieren, Magdeburg, Februar 2007.
[ABI96]	ABI (Association of British Insurers): Occupational Disease Enquiry 1995, 1996
[Ahre00]	Ahrend, HW.; Floß, D.: Integration des Lärmschutzes in die Fabrikplanung - Ansätze und Erfolgsaussichten. In: wt Werkstattstechnik online. Jahrgang 90, H. 4, 2000, pp. 149-154.
[Alle79]	Allen, J.B.; Berkeley, A.: Image method for efficiently simulating small-room acoustics. In: Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 65(4), 943-950, 1979.
[Aumü08a]	Aumüller, M.; Werner, A.; Woessner, U.: COVISE Programming Guide. Juni, 2008.
[Aumü08b]	Aumüller, M.; Schulze-Doebold, J.; Lang, R.; Rainer, D.; Werner, A.; Woessner, U.; Wolf, P.: COVISE User's Guide. 2008.
[ANSI94]	ANSI S1.1-1994: Acoustical Terminology. American National Standard, New York: American National Standards Institute, 1994.
[ART12]	ART: Advanced Realtime Tracking http://www.ar-tracking.com/, 2012.
[Auri06]	Aurich, J.C.; Hagen, H.; Ostermayer, D.; Bertram, M.: VR-unterstützter KVP-Workshop. In: wt Werkstattstechnik online. Jahrgang 96. H. 1/2, 2006. pp. 36-41.
[Auri07]	Aurich I C.: Ostermayer D.: Warenknecht C. Integration von Materialflusssimulation und
[/ [u1107]	FEM in die Virtuelle Realität. In: wt Werkstattstechnik online, Jahrgang 97, H. 5, 2007, pp. 369-375.
[Auri09]	Aurich, J.C.; Ostermayer, D.; Wagenknecht, C.: Improvement of manufacturing processes with virtual reality-based CIP workshops. International Journal of Production Research, Vol. 47, No. 19, October 2009, pp. 5297-5309
[Aziz09]	Aziz, F.A.; Mousavi, M.: A Review of Haptic Feedback In Virtual Reality for Manufacturing
(D.). (11)	Industry. In: Journal of Mechanical Engineering, pp. 40-68, Vol. 1, 2009.
[BAuA11]	BAUA (Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health of Germany): http://www.baua.de/de/Themen-von-A-Z/Laerm-und-Akustik/Schaeden.html, Germany: 2011.
[Bane94]	Banerjee, P.K.: The Boundary Element Methods in Engineering. Mcgraw-Hill College, 1994.
[Barb08]	Barbieri, L.; Bruno, F.; Caruso, F.; Muzzupappa, M.: Innovative integration techniques between Virtual Reality systems and CAx tools. In: The International Journal of Advanced
	Manufacturing Technology, Vol. 38, Numbers 11-12, 2008, pp. 1085-1097.
[Baro09]	Baron, E.: Successes and Challenges on Using VR in Product Design and Engineering. In: Proceedings of IEE Virtual Reality Conference, 2009.
[Basd00]	Basdogan, C.; Ho, CH.; Srinivasan, M. A.; Slater, M.: An experimental study on the role of
	touch in shared virtual environments. In: ACM Trans. ComputHum. Interact. 7, pp. 443-460, 2000.
[Bass90]	Bass, H.E.; Sutherland, L.C.; Zuckerwar, A.J.: Athmospheric absorption of sound: Update. Journal of Acoustic Society of America, 88(4), 2019-2021, 1990.
[Beie00]	Beier, KP.: Web-Based Virtual Reality in Design and Manufacturing Applications. In: 1st
	International EuroConference on Computer Applications and Information Technology in the Maritime Industries, Potsdam, Germany, March 29 – April 4, 2000.
[Benn05]	Bennis, F.; Chablat, D.; Dépincé, P.: Virtual reality: A human centered tool for improving Manufacturing. In: Proceedings of Virtual Concept 2005, France.
[Berg95]	Berg, B.E.: Stork, D.G. (ed.): The physics of sound. Prentice Hall, 2 nd Edition, 1995.
[Bert05]	Bertram M. Deines E. Mohring I. Jegorovs I. Hagen H. Phonon Tracing for Auralization
[Derto5]	and Visualization of Sound In: Proceedings of IEEE Visualization (VIS'05), 151-158
[Bier08]	Bierz, T.: Intuitive Interaction for Immersive Visualization Systems. PhD Thesis, Department of Computer Science, University of Kaiserslautern, 2008
[D1iim02]	Dismal E. Salam W and Salam W. Hoing in visual scality in factory training: adding more
[Bluiii05]	value to the production system. In: International Seminar on Manufacturing Systems, pp. 219- 223, 2003
[BMA\$07]	Eederal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of Germany (RMAS): Verordnung zum Schutz
[10111100/]	der Beschöftigten vor Gefährdungen durch Lärm und Vibrationen (Lärm und Vibratione
	Arbeiteschutzvorordnung LörmVibrations ArbSabW 2007
[Dott05]	Anochestenauz verorunung - Lann viorations Aroselliv), 2007.
[D01193]	bolleuroolein, D.: Finne-difference unne-domain simulation of low-frequency room acoustic
[Bori84]	Borish, J.: Extension of the image model to arbitrary polyhedral. In: The Journal of the
	Acoustical Society of America, Volume 75, Issue 6, 1827-1836, 1984.
[Born99]	Born M.; Wolf, E.: Principles of Optics. 7th edition, Pergamon Press, 1999.

	253.
[Brac06] [Brac10]	Bracht, U.; Fahlbusch, M.: Fabrikplanung mit Virtual Reality. ZWF 96 (2001) H. 1-2, S. 20–26 Bracht, U.; Reichert, J.: Digitale Fabrik auf Basis der 3D-CAD-Fabrikplanung. In: wt Werkstattstechnik online, Jahrgang 100, H. 4, 2010, pp. 247-253.
[Brac11]	Bracht, U.; Geckler, D.; Wenzel, S.: Digitale Fabrik. Berlin u.a.: Springer-Verlag, 2011.
[Brec09]	Brecher, C., Witt, S.: Interactive analysis of the structural mechanic behaviour of machine
	tools. In: Production Engineering 3, Numbers 4-5, 475–481, 2009.
[Brig96]	Briggs, J. C.: The Promise of Virtual Reality. The Futurist, Vol. 30, 1996.
[Bril08]	Brill, M.: Virtuelle Realität. Gabler Wissenschaftsverlage, 2008.
[Brit10]	British safety council: Noise at work. February, 2010.
[Broo99]	Brooks, F.P.: What's Real About Virtual Reality? In: IEEE Computer Graphics and
	Applications, Vol. 19, Issue 6, pp.16-27, 1999.
[Bues07]	Bues, M.; Dangelmaier, M.; Wenzel, G.: Virtuelle Prototypen mit VRfx: Ein effizientes Werkzeug für kollaborative Prozesse. In: wt Werkstattstechnik online, Vol. 97, No.1/2, pp.17-22, 2007.
[Burd93]	Burdea, G.: Virtual Reality Systems and Applications. In: Electro'93 International Conference, Edison, NJ: 1993.
[Burd03]	Burdea, G. C.; Coiffet, P.: Virtual reality technology. 2. Edition, Wiley-Interscience, 2003.
[Brae03]	Braess, D.: Finite Elmente: Theorie, schnelle Löser und Anwendungen in der
	Elastizitätstheorie. Springer, Berlin: 3., korrigierte und ergänzte Auflage, 2003.
[Brüe91]	Brüel & Kjaer (ed.): Handbuch Schallintensitätskalibrator Typ 3541, Naerum: Brüel & Kjaer, 1991.
[Brüe94]	Brüel & Kjaer (ed.): Measurement Microphones. 2. ed. Naerum: Brüel & Kjær, 1994.
[Brüe96]	Brüel & Kjær (ed.): Technical Documentation. Microphone Handbook Vol.1.Theorie. Naerum: Bruel & Kjær, 1996
[Capu06]	Caputo , F.; Di Gironimo, G.; Marzano, A.: A Structured Approach to Simulate Manufacturing Systems in Virtual Environment. XVIII Congreso International de Ingenieria Grafica, 2006.
[CARA12]	CARA: Computer Aided Room Acoustics: http://www.cara.de, 2012.
[CDC11]	CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention): http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/noise/, USA: 2011.
[Ceci07]	Cecil, J.; Kanchanapiboon, A.: Virtual engineering approaches in product and process design. In: International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology, No. 31, pp. 846-856, 2007.
[CGAL12]	CGAL: http://www.cgal.org/, 2012.
[Chri00]	Christensen, N.J.; Jensen, H.W.: A Practical Guide to Global Illumination using Photon Maps. In: SIGGRAPH'00, Course 8, 2000, Stanford, USA.
[Chry00]	Chryssolouris, G.; Mavrikios, D.; Fragos, D.; Karabatsou, V.: A Virtual Reality based experimentation environment for the verification of human related factors in assembly processes. In: Robotics & Computer Integrated Manufacturing, Vol. 16, No 4, pp. 267-276, 2000.
[Clar91]	Clark, W.; Lambert, P.: Hearing loss: occupational and non-occupational. In: Combating Noise In The '90s: A National Strategy for the United States, American Speech-Language-Hearing
[Cohe85]	Association, washington, D.C., pp. 29-31, 1991.
[Cook 84]	Computer Graphics, 19(3), 31-40, July 1985.
[CUUK04]	SIGGRAPH'84, ACM Computer Graphics, 18(3), 137–146, July 1984.
[Cowa94]	Cowan, J.P.: Handbook of environmental acoustics. John Wiley & sons, Inc., New York: 1994.
[Crem78]	Cremer, L.; Müller, H. A.: Wissenschaftliche Grundlagen der Raumakustik, Band I, S. Hirzel Verlag, Stuttgart, 1978.
[Crus12]	CrustaMars: http://keckcaves.org/research/crustamars, 2012.
[Cruz92]	Cruz-Neira, C.; Sandin, D. J.; DeFanti, T. A.; Kenyon, R. V.; Hart, J. C.: The CAVE: audio visual experience automatic virtual environment. In: Communications of the ACM 35(6), pp. 64-72, 1992.
[Cruz93]	Cruz-Neira, C.; Sandin, D. J.; DeFanti, T. A.: Surround-screen projection-based virtual reality: the design and implementation of the CAVE. In: Proceedings of the 20th annual conference on Computer graphics and interactive techniques (SIGGPAPH '93) pp. 135–142. ACM 1993
[Csik75]	Csikszentmihalyi, M.: Beyond Boredom and Anxiety. San Francisco, USA: Jossey-Bass Inc Pub: 1st edition, 1975.
[Dado85]	Dadoun, N.; Kirkpatrick, D.G.; Walsh, J.P.: The geometry of beam tracing. In: Proceedings of the Symposium on Computational Geometry, 55-71, 1985.

[Dang05]	Dangelmaier, W.; Fischer, M.; Gausemeier, J.; Grafe, M.; Matysczok, C.; Mück, B.: Virtual and augmented reality support for discrete manufacturing system simulation. In: The
	International Working Conference of the IFIP Working Group 5.7 "Integration in Production
[Dory05]	Management", Karlsruhe, October 2003, pp. 371-383, Elservier, 2005.
[Dai (93]	Designing environmental sounds based on the results of interaction between objects in the real world. In: Nordby, K. el at. (eds.) Human-Computer Interaction – Interact'95, London:
[Dein06a]	Chapman & Hall, 38-42. Deines E: Bertram M: Mohring I: Jegorovs I: Michel E: Hagen H: Nielson GM:
[Demota]	Comparative Visualization for Wave-based and Geometric Acoustics. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, Volume 12, Issue 5, 1173-1180, 2006.
[Dein06b]	Deines, E.; Michel, F.; Bertram, M.; Hagen, H.; Nielson, G.: Visualizing the phonon map. In Eurographics/IEEE-VGTC Symposium on Visualization, Lisbon, Portugal: 2006.
[Dein08]	Deines, E.: Acoustic Simulation and Visualization Algorithms. PhD Thesis, Department of Computer Science, University of Kaiserslautern, 2008.
[Dein10]	Deines, E.; Bertram, M; Mohring, J.; Jegorovs, J.; Hagen, H.: Audio-visual Virtual Reality System for Room Acoustics. Hagen, H. ed.: Scientific Visualization: Advanced Concepts, Schloss DagstuhlLeibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik, 303-320, 2010.
[DIN96]	DIN EN ISO 9614-2: Acoustics - Determination of sound power levels of noise sources using sound intensity - Part 2: Measurement by scanning (ISO 9614-2:1996); German version EN ISO 9614-2:1096 December 1096
[DIN97]	DIN 45645-2: Determination of rating levels from measurements - Part 2: Noise immissions at
[the work place. July, 1997.
[DIN02]	DIN EN 60804: Integrating-averaging sound level meters (IEC 60804:2000); German version EN 60804:2000, January, 2002.
[DIN03a]	DIN EN 60651/A2: Sound level meters (IEC 60651:1979/A2:2000); Amendment A2; German version EN 60651:1994/A2:2001, March, 2003.
[DIN03b]	DIN EN ISO 354: Acoustics - Measurement of sound absorption in a reverberation room (ISO 354:2003); German version EN ISO 354:2003, December, 2003.
[DIN04]	DIN EN 60942: Electroacoustics - Sound calibrators (IEC 60942:2003); German version EN 60942:2003, May, 2004.
[DIN09a]	DIN EN ISO 9612: Acoustics - Determination of occupational noise exposure - Engineering
[DIN09b]	DIN EN ISO 9612:2009); German version EN ISO 9612:2009, September, 2009. DIN EN ISO 9614-1: Acoustics - Determination of sound power levels of noise sources using
	sound intensity - Part 1: Measurement at discrete points (ISO 9614-1:1993); German version EN ISO 9614-1:2009, November, 2009.
[DIN09c]	DIN EN ISO 9614-3: Acoustics - Determination of sound power levels of noise sources using sound intensity - Part 3: Precision method for measurement by scanning (ISO 9614-3:2002); German version EN ISO 9614-3:2009, November, 2009.
[DIN10a]	DIN EN ISO 10534-1: Acoustics - Determination of sound absorption coefficient and impedance in impedances tubes - Part 1: Method using standing wave ratio (ISO 10534-1:1996): German version EN ISO 10534-1:2001 October 2010
[DIN10b]	DIN EN ISO 10534-2: Acoustics - Determination of sound absorption coefficient and impedance in impedance tubes - Part 2: Transfer-function method (ISO 10534-2:1998);
[DIN10c]	DIN EN 61672-1: Electroacoustics - Sound level meters - Part 1: Specifications (IEC 29/724/CDV:2010): German version prEN 61672-1:2010. December, 2010.
[DIN10d]	DIN EN ISO 11203: Akustik - Geräuschabstrahlung von Maschinen und Geräten - Bestimmung von Emissions-Schalldruckpegeln am Arbeitsplatz und an anderen festgelegten
[Ding09]	Orten aus dem Schallleistungspegel. 2010 Ding, W.; Chen, P.; Al-Mubaid, H.; Pomplun, M.: A Gaze-Controlled Interface to Virtual Paolity Applications for Motor, and Speech Impeired Ligar. In: HCI International San Diago
	CA, 2009.
[Doro10]	Dorozhkin, D.V.; Vance, J.M.; Rehn, G.D.; Lemessi, M.: Coupling of interactive manufacturing operations simulation and immersive virtual reality. In: Virtual Reality, 2010,
[Duch02]	pp. 1-9. Duchowski A T · Medlin E · Cournia N · Gramonadhye A K · 3D Eve Movement Anal-vsis
[]	for VR Visual Inspection Training. In: Proceedings of the Eye Tracking Research Application Symposium, ETRA 2002, 25,-27, März 2002, pp. 103-110. New Orleans, USA
[EC03]	EC Directive: 2003/10/EC on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (noise) (Seventeenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC). The European
	Parliament and the Council, 6th February 2003.
[EC06]	EC Directive: 2006/42/EC on machinery, and amending Directive. The European Parliament and the Council 17th May 2006
----------------------	--
[Embl97]	Embleton, T. F. W.: Technical Assessment of Upper Limits on Noise in the Workplace. The Interpretional Institute of Noise Control Engineering, No. 07, 1, 1007
[Embr01]	Embrechts, J.J.; Archambeau D.; Stan, G.B.: Determination of the scattering coefficient of random rough diffusing surfaces for room acoustics applications. Acta acustica - Acustica, 87, 482-494, 2001
[Fach07]	Fachausschuss- Informationsblatt: Auswahl/Beschaffung leiser Maschinen. Nr. 013, Ausgabe 08/2007. Erarbeitet von Mitgliedern des AK "Betriebslärmbekämpfung" im Fachausschuss "Maschinenbau Fertigungssysteme, Stahlbau" (FA MES).
[Faso84]	Fasold, W.; Kraak, W.; Schirmer, W. (ed.): Taschenbuch Akustik. VEB Verlag Technik, Berlin: 1984
[Fish86]	Fisher, S.S.; McGreevy, M.; Humphries, J.; Robinett, W.: Virtual Environment Display System. In: ACM 1986 Workshop on 3D Interactive Graphics, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, October 23–24, 1986.
[Flai98]	Flaig, T.; Grefen, K.: Integrative Factory and Logistics Planning with Virtual Reality. In: Simulation, Virtual Reality and Supercomputing Automotive Applications, the 31th International Symposium on Automotive Technology and Automation ISATA, Düsseldorf, pp. 201–210, 1998.
[Fort99]	Fortune, S.J.: Topological beam tracing. In: Proceedings of 15th ACM Symposium on Computational Geometry, 59-68, 1999.
[Funk98]	Funkhouser, T.; Carlbom, I.; Elko, G.; Pingali, G.; Sondhi, M.; West, J.: A beam tracing approach to acoustic modeling for interactive virtual environments. In: Proceedings of the 25th Annual Conference on Computer Graphics and interactive Techniques SIGGRAPH '98. ACM, New York, NY: 21-32, 1998.
[Funk99]	Funkhouser, T.; Min, P.; Carlbom, I.: Real-time acoustic modeling for distributed virtual environments. In: Proceedings of SIGGRAPH'99, ACM Computer Graphics, 365-374, 1999.
[Fuch10]	Fuchs, H.: Schallabsorber und Schalldämpfer. 3., wesent. erw. und aktual. Auflage, Berllin: Springer, 2010.
[Furn86]	Furness, T.A.: The Super Cockpit and Human Factors Challenges. In: Proceedings of Human Factor Society – 30 th Annual Meeting, 1986.
[Gelf90]	Gelfand, S.A.: Hearing: An introduction to psychological and physiological acoustics. 2nd edition, New York and Basel: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1990.
[Gibs84]	Gibson, W.: Neuromancer, ACE, New York: 1984.
[Giga93]	Gigante, M.A.: Virtual Reality: Definitions, History and Applications. In: Earnshaw, R.A., Gigante, M.A. and Jones, H. (ed.): Virtual reality systems. London; San Diego: Academic Press, 1993.
[GLUT12] [Grim91]	GLUT: http://www.opengl.org/resources/libraries/glut/, 2012. Grimsehl, E. (ed.): Lehrbuch der Physik. Band 1. Mechanik – Akustik - Wärmelehre. 27. Auage, B.G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft KG, Leipzig: 1991.
[Guas02]	Guasch, O.; Magrans, F.X.; Rodriguez, P.V.: An inversion modelling method to obtain the acoustic power of the noise sources in a large factory. In: Applied Acoustics, Volume 63, Issue 4.401, 417, 2002
[Haff09]	 4, 401–417, 2002. Haffegee, A.; Barrow, R.: Eye Tracking and Gaze Based Interaction within Immersive Environements. In: Allen, G. et al. (Eds.): Computational Science – ICCS, Part II, 9th International Conference Baton Rouse, pp. 729-736. Los Angeles, USA
[Hans05]	Hansen, Colin H.: Current and future industrial applications of active noise control. In: Noise Control Engineering Journal. Vol. 53 (5), pp.181-196, Institute of Noise Control Engineering, 2005.
[He09]	He, H.; Wu, Y.: Web-based virtual operation of CNC milling machine tools. In: Computer in Industry, Vol. 60,2009, pp. 686-697.
[Hege98]	Heger, R.: Entwicklung eines Systems zur interaktiven Gestaltung und Auswertung von manuellen Montagetätigkeiten in der virtuellen Realität. PhD Thesis, University of Stuttgart, IPA-IAO Forschung und Praxis, 273, Springer, 1998.
[Henn08]	Henn, H.; Sinambari, G. R.; Fallen, M.: Ingenieurakustik. 4. überarb. und erw. Aufl Wiesbaden: Vieweg + Teubner, 2008.
[Helm60]	Helmholtz, H.: Theorie Der Luftschwingungen in Röhren Mit Offenen Enden. In: Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik, Vol. 57, pp.1-72, 1860.
[Hein93]	Heinz, R: Binaural room simulation based on an image source model with addition of statistical methods to include the diffuse sound scattering of walls and to predict the raverberant tail. In: Applied Acoustics, 38,145-159, 1993.
[Hend96]	Hendrix, C.; Barfield, W.: The sense of presence within auditory virtual environments. Presence-Teleoper. Virtual Environ. 5, pp. 290-301, 1996.

[Hoes75]	Hoesch-Werke: Lärmminderung am Arbeitsplatz. In: Menschengerechte Arbeitsgestaltun. Hoesch-Werke, Stabsstelle Ergonomie, Dortmund: 1975.
[Hoff08]	Hoffmann, H.; Dangelmaier, M.: Immersive Gestaltung und Optimierung von industriellen Handarbeitsplätzen, wt Werkstattstechnik online, Jahrgang 98, H. 1/2, 2008, pp. 77-79.
[Huhn02]	Huhn, S.; Siegert, K.: Anwendung der virtuellen Realität in der Prozessoptimierung und Werkzeugentwicklung. wt Werkstattstechnik online, Jahrgang 92, H. 10, 2002, pp. 472-476.
[Ihle98]	Ihlenburg, F.: Finite element analysis of acoustic scattering, Springer, New York; 1998.
[ISO97]	ISO/IEC 14772-1: Information technology Computer graphics and image processing The
[]	Virtual Reality Modeling Language Part 1: Functional specification and UTF-8 encoding, 1997.
[ISO03a]	ISO 7731: Ergonomics – Danger signals for public and work areas – Auditory danger signals. 2003.
[ISO03b]	ISO 9921: Ergonomics – Assessment of speech communication. 2003.
[Jaco93]	Jacobson, L.: Welcome to the virtual world. In: Swadley, R. (Ed.), On the cutting edge of technology (69–79). Carmel, IN: Sams.
[Jens96]	Jensen, H.W.: Global Illumination using Photon Maps. In: Pueyo, X.; Schröder, P. (Hrsg.): Rendering Techniques'96. Berlin u.a.: Springer-Verlag, 1996.
[JIM12]	JIM, Jacobsen Industrie- und Maschinenbau GmbH: www.jim-gmbh.de, 2012.
[Jime07]	Jimeno, A.; Puerta, A.: State of the art of the virtual reality applied to design and manufacturing processes. In: The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology, Vol. 33, pp.866-874, 2007.
[Jin07]	Jin, L.; Wen, Z.; Oraifige, I.A.: Distributed VR for Collaborative Design and Manufacturing. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference Information Visualization, pp. 792-797. Zurich. 2007
[Kaga92]	Kagawa Y Tsuchiya T Yamahuchi T Kawabe H Fujiji T Finite element simulation of
[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[non-linear sound wave propagation. Journal of Sound and Vibration, Volume 154, Issue 1, 125-145, 1992.
[Kaga98]	Kagawa, Y.; Tsuchiya, T.; Fujii, B.; Fujioka, A.: Huygens' Model Approach to Sound Wave Propagation. Journal of Sound and Vibration, Volume 218, Issue 3, 419-444, 1998.
[Kaji86]	Kajiya, J.T.: The rendering equation. In: Proceedings of SIGGRAPH'86, ACM Computer Graphics, 20(4), 1986.
[Kala93a]	Kalawsky, R.S.: The science of virtual reality and virtual environments: a technical, scientific and engineering reference on virtual environments. Addison-Wesley Longman, Amsterdam: 1993.
[Kala93b]	Kalawsky, R.S.: A Comprehensive Virtual Environment Laboratory Facility. In: Earnshaw, R.A., Gigante, M.A. and Jones, H. (ed.): Virtual reality systems. London; San Diego:
[Kapr04]	Kanralos B: Jankin M: Millios E: Sonal manning: Acoustic modaling utilizing an acoustic
[Ixapi0+]	version of photon mapping. In: IEEE International Workshop on Haptics Audio Visual Environments and their Applications (HAVE 2004). Ottawa, Canada: October, 2-3, 2004.
[Kapr06]	Kapralos, B.: The Sonel Mapping. Acoustical Modeling Method. PhD thesis, York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada: 2006.
[Kels98]	Kelsick, J.J.; Vance, J.M.: The vr factory: discrete event simulation implemented in a virtual environment. In: Proceedings of ASME Design for Manufacturing Conference, Atlanta, GA, 1998.
[Kim04]	Kim, H.; Fellner, D.W.: Interaction with hand gesture for a back projection wall. In: Computer Graphics International, 2004.
[Koca10]	Kocar, V.; Akgunduz, A.: ADVICE: A virtual environment for Engineering Change Management. In: Computers in Industry, Vol. 61, Issue 1, 2010, pp. 15–28.
[Kopu95]	Kopuz, S.; Lalor, N.: Analysis of interior acoustic fields using the finite element method and the boundary element method. Applied Acoustics, 45:193-210, 1995.
[Khou98]	Khoury, S.; Freed, A.; Wessel, D.: Volumetric Visualization of Acoustic Fields in CNMAT's Sound Spatialization Theatre. In: Proceedings of IEEE Visualization' 98, pp. 439-442, 1998.
[Khur00]	Khuraibet, A.M.; Al-Attar, F.: Preliminary assessment of indoor industrial noise pollution in Kuwait. In: The Environmentalist, Volume 20, Number 4, pp. 319-324, 2000.
[Kirc83]	Kirchhoff, G.: Toward a Theory of Light Rays. In: Ann. Phys. Chem., 18, 663-695, 1883.
[Kuh199]	Kuhlen, T.: Virtuelle Realität auf dem Weg vom Spiel- zum Werkzeug. 3DLive - Das Fachmagazin für Visual Computing, Vol. 4, pp.46-47, 1999.
[Kühn06]	Kühn, W.: Virtual factory: an integrated approach to manufacturing systems modeling. Carl Hanser Verlag, 2006.
[Kulo84]	Kulowski. U.: Algorithmic representation of the ray tracing technique. In: Applied Acoustics, 18, 449-469, 1984.

[Kutt00] Kuttruff, H.: Room acoustics. Taylor & Francis, 4th edition, London: 2000.

[Krau00]	Krause, FL.; Neumann, J.; Rothenburg, U.: VR-unterstütztes Montage und Demontageplanungssystem, wt Werkstattstechnik online, Jahrgang 92, H. 7/8, pp. 287-291, 2000.
[Kris93]	Kristiansen, U.R.; Krokstad, A.; Follestad, T.: Extending the image method to higher order reflections. In: J. Applied Acoustics, 38(2–4), 195–206, 1993
[Kroc68]	Krockstadt. U.: Calculating the acoustical room response by the use of a ray tracing technique. In: Journal of Sound and Vibrations, 8(18), 118-125, 1968.
[Krue83]	Krueger, M.W.: Artificial reality. Addison-Wesley, 1983.
[Kryt94]	Kryter, K.D.: The handbook of hearing and the effects of noise: physiology, psychology, and public health. Academic Press, Boston, 1994.
[Lang04]	Lang, U.; Wössner, U.: Virtual and augmented reality developments for engineering applications. In: Proceedings of the European Congress on Computational Methods in Applied Sciences and Engineering (ECCOMAS), Jvyäskylä, Finland, 2004.
[LaVi00]	LaViola, J.J.: A discussion of cybersickness in virtual environments. In: ACM SIGCHI Bulletin, Volume 32, Issue 1, 2000.
[Laws06]	Lawson, G.; D'cruz, M.; Wilson, J.R.; Smith, S.; Bourguignon, D.; Pentenrieder, K.; Pavlopoulos, C.: Ergonomic requirements for human safety and productivity. DiFac report D3, IST5-035079, The University of Nottingham, Nottingham, 2006.
[Lenz07]	Lentz, T.; Schröder, D.; Vorländer, M.; Assenmacher, I.: Virtual Reality System with Integrated Sound Field Simulation and Reproduction. In: EURASIP Journal on Applied Signal Processing, Volume 2007, Issue 1.
[Lewe93]	Lewers, T.: A combined beam tracing and radiant exchange computer model of room acoustics. In: Applied Acoustics, 38, 161-178, 1993.
[Ljun07]	Ljungberg, J.K., Neely, G.: Stress, Subjective Experience and Cognitive Performance during Exposure to Noise and Vibration. In: Journal of Environmental Psychology, vol. 27, 2007, pp. 44-54.
[Lehn93]	Lehnert, H.: Systematic errors of the ray-tracing algorithm. In: Applied Acoustics, 38, 1993.
[Lokk06]	Lokki, T.; Nenonen, V.: Immersive Visualization of Room Acoustics. In: Joint Baltic-Nordic Acoustics Meeting Gothenburg Sweden, Citeseer, 8-10, 2006.
[Lune93]	Lunenfeld, P.: Digital Dialectics: A Hybrid Theory of Computer Media. In: Journal of Media Arts and Cultural Criticism, 21, pp. 5-7, 1993.
[Luzz86]	Luzzato,E.; Lecointre, C.: Some simple and effective methods for sound source identification with geometrical acoustic models. Journal of Sound and Vibration, Volume 105, Issue 3, 473-490, 1986.
[McG195]	McGlashan, S.: Speech Interfaces to Virtual Reality. In: Proceedings of 2nd International Workshop on Military Applications of Synthetic Environments and Virtual Reality.
[Mala11]	Malak, R.; Yang, X.; Aurich, J.C.: Analysing and Planning of Engineering Changes in Manufacturing Systems. In: Proceedings of 44th CIRP International Conference on Manufacturing Systems, June 1-3, 2011, Madison, Wisconsin, USA.
[Mane95]	Manetta C.; Blade R.: Glossary of Virtual Reality Terminology. In: International Journal of Virtual Reality, Vol.1, Nr.2, 1995.
[Mans06]	Manseur, R.: Virtual Reality in Science and Engineering Education. In: Proceedings of Frontiers in Education, 35th Annual Conference, Indiana, 2005, Session F2E, pp. 8-13.
[Mart94]	Martin, H.: Grundlagen der menschengerechten Arbeitsgestaltung - Handbuch für die betriebliche Praxis. Neuaufl., Köln: Bund-Verl. [u.a.], 1994.
[Mazu96]	Mazuryk, T.; Gervautz, M.: Virtual Reality History, Applications, Technology and Future. Institute of Computer Graphics and Algorithms, Vienna University of Technology, 1996.
[Mers02]	Mersinger, M.; Westkämper, E.: Virtual reality for supporting the configuration of transformable assembly systems. Journal of advanced manufacturing systems, 1 (2002), No. 1, pp. 107–112.
[McLe04]	McLellan, H.: Virtual Realities. In D. Jonassen, (Ed.), Handbook of research on educational communications and technology. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers, 2 nd ed., 461-497.
[Mich08]	Michel, F.: Simulation and Visualization of In- and Outdoor Sound. PhD Thesis, Department of Computer Science, University of Kaiserslautern, 2008.
[Mine95]	Mine, M.R.: Virtual Environment Interaction Techniques. Technical Report TR95-018, University of North Carolina, 1996.
[MinG12]	MinGW: http://www.mingw.org/, 2012.
[Monk00]	Monks, M.; Oh, B.M.; Dorsey, J.: Audioptimization: Goal-based acoustic design. In: IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, 20(3), pp.76-91, 2000.
[Möse07]	Möser, M.: Technische Akustik. 7, erw. und aktual. Aufl. Berlin: Springer, 2007.
[Möse10a]	Möser, M (ed.) : Messtechnik der Akustik. 1. Edition, Berlin, Springer, 2010.
[Möse10b]	Möser, M.; Kropp, W.: Körperschall. 3. aktual. Auflage, Berlin, Springer, 2010.

[Mujb04]	Mujber, T.S.; Szecsi, T.; Hashmi, M.S.: Virtual reality applications in manufacturing process simulation. In: Journal of Materials Processing Technology, Volume: 155-156, pp. 1834-1838, 2004.
[Nayl93]	Naylor, G.M.: Odeon - another hybrid room acoustical model. In: Applied Acoustics, 38, 131- 143, 1993.
[Neug11]	Neugebauer, R.; Wittstock, V.; Mayer, A.; Glänzel, J.; Paetzold, M.; Schumann, M.: VR tools for the development of energy-efficient products. In: CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology, Vol. 4, Issue 2, 2011, pp. 208-215.
[Ni06]	Ni, T.; Schmidt, G.S.; Staadt, O.G.; Livingston, M.A.; Ball, R.; May, R.: A Survey of Large High-Resolution Display Technologies, Techniques, and Applications. In: Proceedings of Virtual Reality Conference, pp. 223-236, 2006
[Nosa04]	Nosal, E.M.; Hodgson, M.; Ashdown, I.: Improved algorithms and methods for room sound-field prediction by acoustical radiosity in arbitrary polyhedral rooms. In: Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 116(2), 970-980, 2004.
[Nube01]	Nuber, C.: Integration von Virtual Reality und Simulationen: Einsatzmöglichkeiten für Produktentwicklung und Betrieb in der Raumfahrt. Dissertation, Universität Kaiserslautern, Kaiserslautern, Shaker Verlag, 2001.
[Oliv07]	Oliveira, D.M., Cao, S.C., Hermida, X.F., Rodríguez, F.M.: Virtual Reality System for Industrial Training. In: IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics, 1715-1720, Vigo, Spain, 2007.
[Oste08]	Ostermayer, D.: Kontinuierliche Verbesserung von Produktionsprozessen mit Virtual Reality- Technologie. PhD Thesis, Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Kaiserslautern, 2008.
[Pach06]	Pacheco, P.A.V.; Dreux, M.A.: Distributed visualization of engineering models. In: Revista Ciências Exatas, Vol. 12, No 1, pp.93-98, 2006.
[Payn04]	Payne, Richard: Uncertainties associated with the use of a sound level meter. NPL Report DOL-AC 002, Middlesex, 2004.
[Petr05]	Petrausch, S.; Rabenstein, R.: Highly efficient simulation and visualization of acoustic wave fields with the functional transformation method. In: Simulation and Visualization, pp. 279-290. Otto von Guericke Universität. Magdeburg, 2005.
[Pfei08]	Pfeiffer, T.; Latoschik, M.E.; Wachsmuth, I. Conversational Pointing Gestures for Virtual Reality Interaction: Implications from an Empirical Study. In: Proceedings of IEEE Virtual Reality Conference, pp. 281-282, 2008.
[Phil99]	Philippsen, N. (ed.): Virtuelle Realität. Hochschule Esslingen, 1999.
[Phoo90]	Phoon, W. H.; Chan, O. Y.: Statutory medical examinations and designated factory doctors in Singapore. In: Journal of the Society of Occupational Medicine, 1990, 40(2), pp. 55-58.
[Port12]	PortAudio: Portable Cross-platform Audio I/O. http://www.portaudio.com/, 2012.
[Qt12]	Qt: A cross-platform application and UI framework. http://qt.nokia.com/products/qt-sdk, 2012.
[Rabe97]	Rabenstein, R.; Schips, O.; Stenger, A.: Acoustic Rendering of Buildings. In: Proceedings of the 5th Int. IBPSA Conference Building Simulation, volume 2, 181-188, Prag: 1997.
[Ragh10]	Raghuvanshi, N.; Snyder, J.; Mehra, R.; Lin, M.; Govindaraju, N.: Precomputed Wave Simulation for Real-Time Sound Propagation. In: ACM Transactions on Graphics (TOG) - Proceedings of ACM SIGGRAPH 2010, Volume 29, Issue 4, 2010.
[Rang00]	Ranga, K.; Gramoll, K.: 3-D Finite Element Analysis on the Internet using Java and VRML. In: ASEE Conference and Exposition, St Louis, USA, 2000, Session 1368.
[Rein02]	Reinhart, G.; Patron, C.; Meier, P.: Virtual Reality und Augmented Reality in der Montage: Durchgängiger Einsatz von VR und AR im Bereich der manuellen Montage. wt Werkstattstechnik online, Jahrgang 92, H. 1/2, 2002, pp. 12-15.
[Rhei91]	Rheingold, H.: Virtual reality, Reading, MA: Addison Wesley, 1991.
[Rile02]	Riley, K.F.; Hobson, M.P.; Bence, S.J.: Mathematical methods for physics and engineering. Cambridge University Press, Chapter 20, 2002.
[Robe93]	Robertson, G.G.; Card, S.K.; Mackinlay, J.D.: Non-Immersive Virtual Reality. In: IEEE Computer 26, pp. 81-83, 1993.
[Rohr00]	Rohrer, M.W.: Seeing is believing: the importance of visualization in manufacturing simulation. In: Proceedings of Winter Simulation Conference (WSC'00), volume 2, 1211-1216, Atlanta, GA: 2000.
[Rund07]	Runde, C.: Konzeption und Einführung von Virtueller Realität als Komponente der Digitalen Fabrik in Industrieunternehmen. PhD Thesis, Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Stuttgart, 2007.
[Sanc05]	Sanchez-Vives, M.V.; Slater, M.: From presence to consciousness through virtual reality. In: Nature Reviews Neuroscience 6, pp. 332-339, April 2005.

[Savi02]	Savioja, L.; Lokki, T.; Välimäki, V.: The interpolated 3-d digital waveguide mesh method for room acoustic simulation and auralization. In: Proceedings of the Audio Engineering Society (AES) 104 th Convention, Copenhagen, Denmark: August, 2002.
[Savi10]	Savioja, L.: Real-Time 3D Finite-Difference Time-Domain Simulation of Low- and Mid- Frequency Room Acoustics. In: Proceedings of the 13th Int. Conference on Digital Audio Effects (DAFx-10). Graz. Austria: September 6-10, 2010
[Sche98]	Schetelig, T.; Rabenstein, R.: Simulation of three-dimensional sound propagation with multidimensional wave digital filters. In: Proceedings of the 1998 IEEE International Conference on Accurate Science Sci
[Sche04]	Schenk, M.; Blümel, E.; Straßburger, S.; Hintze, A.; Sturek, R.: Produktivitätssteigerung durch Virtual Reality - basierte Dienstleistungen. In: Chemnitzer Produktionstechnisches
[Sche09]	Schenk, M.; Straßburger, S.; Kissner, H.: Combining Virtual Reality and Assembly Simulation for Production Planning and Worker Qualification. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Changeable, Agile, Reconfigurable and Virtual Production (CARV 2005). München Germany 2005
[Sche10]	Schenk, M.; Blümel, E.; Glistau, E.: VR in logistics - virtual development and training centre VDTC in Magdeburg : high tech research, equipment and technologies for industrial
[Schi03]	Schiettecatte, B.; Nackaerts, A.; De Moor, B.: Real-time Acoustics Simulation using Mesh- Tracing. In: Proceedings of the International Computer Music Conference 2003, Singapore.
[Schi06]	Schirmer, W. (ed.) : Technischer Lärmschutz. 2. Edition. Berlin: Springer, 2006.
[Schi08]	Schirra, R.: Entwicklung eines Systems zur immersiven Arbeitssystemgestaltung mit CAD- Schnittstelle. PhD Thesis, Instituts für Arbeitswissenschaft und Technologiemanagement, University of Stuttgart, 2008.
[Schm09]	Schmischke, H.: Lärm am Arbeitsplatz in der Metall-Industrie (BGI 688). Köln: Heymanns, 2009.
[Scho08]	Schoning, M.; Hameyer, K.: Applying Virtual Reality Techniques to Finite Element Solutions. In: IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol. 44, Issue 6, pp.1422-1425, 2008.
[Seth11]	Seth, A.; Vance, J.M.; Oliver, J.H.: Virtual reality for assembly methods prototyping: a review. In: Virtual Reality, Vol.15, Number1, pp. 5-20, 2011.
[Shar97]	Sharma, B.; Molineros, J.; Raghavan, B.: Interactive evaluation of assembly sequences with mixed (real and virtual) prototyping. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Assembly and Task Planning (ISATP), New York, 1997, pp. 287-292.
[Sher90]	Sherwood, N., Griffin, MJ.: Effects of whole body vibration on short-term memory. In: Aviat Space Environ Med, vol. 61(12), 1990, pp. 1092–1097.
[Sher91]	Sheridan, T.B.: Musings on Telepresence and Virtual Presence. In: Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments, Volume 1, Issue 1, pp. 120-126, 1991.
[Sher02]	Sherman, W.R.; Craig, A.B.: Understanding Virtual Reality: Interface, Application, and Design. Elsevier Science & Technology, 2002.
[Shi93]	Shi, J.; Zhang, A.; Encarnação, J.; Göbel, M.: A modified radiosity algorithm for integrated visual and auditory rendering. In: Computer & Graphics, Volume 17, Issue 6, 633-642, 1993.
[Sieg81]	Siegel, R.; Howell, J.R.: Thermal Radiation Heat Transfer. Hemisphere Publishing Corporation, Washington: 1981.
[Silt07a]	Siltanen, S.; Lokki, T.; Kiminki, S. and Savioja, L.: The room acoustic rendering equation. In: Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Volume 122, Issue 3, 1624-1635, 2007.
[Silt07b]	Siltanen, S.; Lokki, T.; Savioja, L.: Acoustic Radiance Transfer Method In: Proceeds of 19th International Congress on Acoustics (ICA'07), Madrid, Spain: 2007.
[Silt10a]	Siltanen, S.; Lokki, T.; Savioja, L.: Room acoustics modeling with acoustics radiance transfer. In: Proceedings of International Symposium on Room Acoustics (ISRA2010), Melbourne, Australia: 2010.
[Silt10b]	Siltanen, S.; Lokki, T.; Savioja, L.: Rays of Waves? : Understanding the Strengths and Weaknesses of Computational Room Acoustics Modeling Techniques. In: Proceedings of International Symposium on Room Acoustics (ISRA2010), Melbourne, Australia: 2010.
[Smit99]	Smith, R.P.; Heim, J.A.: Virtual facility layout design: the value of an interactive three- dimensional representation. In: International Journal of Production Research, 37(17), 1999, pp. 847-860.
[Soun12]	SoundPlan: Introduction to air pollution modeling with SoundPLAN Air Pollution Modules. www.soundplan.eu, 2012.
[Souz06]	Souza, M.C.F.; Sacco, M.; Porto, A.J.V.: Virtual manufacturing as a way for the factory of the future. In: Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing, Volume 17, No. 6, pp. 725-735, December 2006.

[Span10]	Spanner-Ulmer, B.; Mühlstedt, J.: Digitale Menschmodelle als Werkzeuge virtueller Ergonomie. In: Industrie Manager. 26(2010)4, pp. 69-72.
[Stan98]	Stanney, K.M.; Mourant, R.R.; Kennedy, R.S.: Human Factors Issues in Virtual Environments: A Review of the Literature. In: Presence, Vol. 7, No. 4, August 1998, pp. 327–351.
[Step04]	Stephenson, U.M.: Beugungssimulation ohne Rechenzeitexplosion: Die Methode der quantisierten Pyramidenstrahlen - ein neues Berechnungsverfahren für Raumakustik und Lärmimmissionsprognose. Vergleiche, Ansätze, Lösungen. PhD thesis, RWTH Aachen University. 2004.
[Steu92]	Steuer, J.: Defining Virtual Reality: Dimensions Determining Telepresence. In: Journal of Communication, Volume 42, Issue 4, pp. 73–93, December 1992.
[Stra04]	Straube, A.M.: Modularer Ansatz zur Simulation verfahrensübergreifender fertigungstechnischer Prozessketten. PhD Thesis, Fakultät für Maschinenwesen, Rheinisch-Westfälischen Technischen Hochschule, Aachen, 2008.
[Stur94]	Sturman, D.J.; Zeltzer, D.: A survey of glove-based input. In: IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, Vol. 14 (1), pp.30-39, 1994.
[Sund94]	Sundstrom, E., Town, JP., Rice, RW., Osborn, DP., Brill, M.: Office Noise, Satisfaction, and Performance, Environment and Behavior, vol. 26(2), 1994, 195-222.
[Suth65]	Sutherland, I.E: The ultimate display. In: Proceedings of the IFIP Congress, 506-508, 1965, New York, USA.
[Suth68]	Sutherland, I.E.: A head-mounted three dimensional display. In: Proceedings of Fall Joint Computer Conference, 757-764, 1968,
[Sven02]	Svensson, U.P.: Modelling Acoustic Spaces for Audio Virtual Reality. In: Proceedings of the 1st IEEE Benelux Workshop on Model based Processing and Coding of Audio (MPCA), Leuven, Belgium: 2002.
[Talb97]	Talbert, N.: Toward Human-Centered Systems. In: IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, Vol. 17, Issue 4, pp.21-28, 1997.
[Tanr00]	Tanriverdi, V.; Jacob, R.J.K.: Interacting With Eye Movement. In: Virtual Environments. In: Proceedings of Computer Human Interaction – CHI 2000, pp. 265-272., Amsterdam, Niederlande
[Tecn03]	Tecnomatix: eM-Human - Manual assembly design and analysis. www.human-solutions.com, 2003.
[Than10]	Thanh; N.D.: Entwicklung eines virtuellen Bedienkonzepts für Maschinen mittels Virtual Reality, Dissertation, Technische Universität, Dresden, 2010.
[Toki05]	Tokita, Y.; Yamasaki, Y.: Visualization of 3-dimensional sound fields by numerical solutions of particle displacement. In: Acoustical Science and Technology, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 215-217, 2005.
[Tsin07a]	Tsingos,N.; Dachsbacher, C.; Lefebvre, S.; Dellepiane, M.: Instant Sound Scattering. In: Rendering Techniques (Proceedings of the Eurographics Symposium on Rendering), 2007.
[Tsin07b]	Tsingos, N.; Lefebvre, S.; Dachsbacher, C. and Dellepiane, M.: Extending geometrical acoustics to highly detailed architectural environments. In: 19th International Congress on Acoustics (ICA2007), Madrid, Spain, 2007.
[Usta04]	Ustarroz, A.; Lozano, A.; Matey, L.; Siemon, J.; Klockmann, D.; Berasategi, M.I.: VIRTOOL – Virtual Reality for Machine – Tool Training. In: Mécanique & Industries, Vol. 5, 2004, pp. 207-212
[VDI83a]	VDI 2720 Blatt 2: Schallschutz durch Abschirmung in Räumen, April, 1983.
[VDI83b]	VDI 2720 Blatt 3: Schallschutz durch Abschirmung im Nahfeld; teilweise Umschließung. Februar, 1983.
[VDI88]	VDI 2058 Blatt 2: Assessment of noise with regard to the risk of hearing damages. In: VDI manual Noise Reduction, 1988.
[VDI96]	VDI 3760: Berechnung und Messung der Schallausbreitung in Arbeitsräumen, (Computation and measurement of sound propagation in workrooms). Ausgabe Amtsblatt der europäischen Gomeinschaft Fahruery 1006
[VDI99]	VDI 2058 Blatt 3: Assessment of noise in the working area with regard to specific operations, In: VDI manual Noise Reduction 1999
[VDI09]	VDI 3633: Simulation von Logistik-, Materialfluss- und Produktionssystemen. Blatt 11 - Simulation und Visualisierung 2009
[Vier29]	Viereck, G.S.: What Life Means to Einstein: An Interview by George Sylvester Viereck. In: The Saturday Evening Post. Vol. 202 p. 117–26 October 1929
[Viga09]	Viganò, G.; Greci, L.; Sacco, M.: Giove virtual factory: the digital factory for human oriented production systems. In: Proceedings of CARV 3 rd CIRP International Conference on Changeable Munich Germany 2009
FN7 1001	

[Vorl88] Vorländer, M.: Ein strahlenverfolgungs-verfahren zur berechnung von schallfeldern in räumen. In: Acusica, 65, 138-148, 1988.

[Vrab09]	Vrabic, R.; Krajnik, P.; Drazumeric1, R.; Meyer, B.; Butala, P.; Kopac, J.: CAVE Simulation of Centreless Grinding Process. In: Proceedings of 42nd CIRP Conference on Manufacturing Systems. Grenoble Erance 2009
[Vrm112]	VrmlPad 3.0: http://www.parallelgraphics.com/products/vrmlpad/, 2012.
[VK5112] [Wang04]	Wang X · Zheng P · Wei Z · Sun Y · Luo B · Li Y · Development an Interactive VR
[wang0+]	Training for CNC Machining. In: Proceedings of the 2004 ACM SIGGRAPH international conference on Virtual Reality continuum and its applications in industry (VRCAI'04), pp.131-
[Wain08]	154, Singapore, 2004. Weinziert S. (ed.) : Handbuch der Audiotechnik Berlin: Springer 2008
[West06]	Wenzieh, S. (ed.) Handbuch der Audiotechnik. Bernit. Springer, 2008. Westkämper, E.; Runde, C.: Anwendungen von Virtual Reality in der Digitalen Fabrik – eine Übersicht In: wt Werkstattstechnik online. Jahrgang 96, H. 3, 2006, pp. 99-103.
[West09]	Westkämper, E.; Zahn, H.E.: Wandlungsfähige Produktionsunternehmen – Das Stuttgarter Unternehmensmodell. Springer, Berlin, 2009.
[Wien08]	Wienss, C.; Scharping, J.; Muller, S.; Nikitin, I.; Goebbels, G.; Gobel, M.; Hornung, N.: Complex Cable Bundle Simulation and Validation in VR. In: Second UKSIM European Symposium on Computer Modeling and Simulation (FMS'08) pp. 412-417, 2008
[Wien02]	Wiendahl, HP.; Fiebig, C.; Harms, T.: Die Digitale Fabrik – Mehrwert in der Fabrikplanung durch den Einsatz von VR. In: Tagungsband "Die Digitale Fabrik – Mit Virtual Reality und Simulationstechnik zur erfolgreichen Produktion von morgen", Büren, 2002.
[Wiki12]	Wikipedia: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Virtual_reality, 2012.
[Wils04]	Wilson, D.K.; Symons, N.P.; Patton, E.G.; Sullivan, P.P.; Marlin, D.H.; Aldridge, D.F.; Ostashev, V.E.; Ketcham, S.A.; Andreas, E.L.; Collier, S.L.: Simulation of sound propagation through high-resolution atmospheric boundary layer turbulence fields. In: Proceedings of the 16th Symposium on Boundary Layers and Turbulence, Portland, ME: 2004.
[Wong90]	Wong, T.T.C.; Lin, W.L.T.: Major factors of industrial noise-induced hearing loss in Hong Kong. In: Earth and Environmental Science, Volume 19, Numbers 1-3, pp. 525-537, 1990.
[Work02]	Workers Health Centre: Noise - Loud noise can damage your health. Australia: 2002.
[WSDG11]	Walters-Storyk Design Group (WSDG): http://www.wsdg.com/, 2011.
[Wu00]	Wu, T.W. (ed.): Boundary element acoustics: Fundamentals and computer codes. WIT Press, Southhampton: 2000.
[Yang07a]	Yang, R.D.; Fan, X.M.; Wu, D.L.; Yan, J.Q.: A virtual reality-based experiment environment for engine assembly line workplace planning and ergonomics evaluation. In: Proceedings of the 2nd international conference on Virtual reality, pp. 594-603, 2007.
[Yang07b]	Yang, U.; Lee, G.A.; Shin, S.; Hwang, S.; Son, W.: Virtual Reality based Paint Spray Training System. In: Proceedings of IEEE Virtual Reality Conference (VR'07), pp. 289-290, 2007.
[Yang10]	Yang, X.; Deines, E.; Lauer, C.; Aurich, J.C.: Virtual Reality Enhanced Human Factor – An Investigation in Virtual Factory. In: Proceedings of Joint Virtual Reality Conference of EGVE – ICAT – EuroVR, September 27 – October 1st, 2010, Stuttgart, Germany.
[Yang11a]	Yang, X.; Schröder, S.; Hering-Bertram, M.; Biedert, T.; Hagen, H.; Aurich, J.C.: Noise Investigation in Manufacturing. In: Proceedings of 44th CIRP International Conference on Manufacturing Systems, June 1-3, 2011, Madison, Wisconsin, USA.
[Yang11b]	Yang, X.; Malak, R.C.; Lauer, C.; Weidig, C.; Hagen, H.; Hamann, B.; Aurich, J.C. : Virtual reality enhanced manufacturing systems design. In: Proceedings of 7th International Conference on Digital Enterprise Technology, pp. 125-133, September, 2011, Athens, Greece.
[Yang11c]	Yang, X.; Max, T.; Zimmermann, M.; Hagen, H.; Aurich, J.C.: Virtual Reality Animation of Chip Formation during Turning. In: Advanced Materials Research, Vol. 223, pp. 203-211, 2011.
[Yee66]	Yee, K.: Numerical solution of initial boundary value problems involving Maxwell's equations in isotropic media. In: IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation 14 (3), 302–307, 1966.
[Yoko02]	Yokota, T.; Sakamoto, S.; Tachibana, H.: Visualization of sound propagation and scattering in rooms. In: Acoustical Science and Technology, Vol. 23, No.1, pp. 40-46, 2002.
[Zach00]	Zachmann, G.: Virtual Reality in Assembly Simulation - Collision Detection, Simulation Algorithms and Interaction Techniques. PhD Thesis, Department of Computer Science, University of Darmstadt, 2000.
[Zhao09]	Zhao, Q.: A survey on virtual reality. In: Science in China Series F: Information Sciences, Volume 52, Number 3, pp. 348-400, 2009.
[Zhou09]	Zhou, N.N.; Deng, Y.L.: Virtual Reality: A State-of-the-Art Survey. In: International Journal of Automation and Computing, 6(4), November 2009, pp. 319-325.
[Zhou11]	Zhou, Z.; Feng, Y.; Rong, G.; Zhu, F.: Virtual Factory Integrated Manufacturing System for Process Simulation and Monitoring. In: World Congress, Vol. 18, Part 1, 2011.
[Zülc05]	Zülch, G.: Integrating Human Aspects into the Digital Factory. In: New Tools for the Human- oriented Design of Production Systems, Volume 160, pp. 85-99. Springer Boston, 2005.

Supervised bachelor's and master's theses relating to this PhD topic:

Bonnert, Dirk: Akustische Untersuchungen von Fertigungseinrichtungen, Diplomarbeit, 2011.

Cichos, Daniel: Programmierung eines Software-Demonstrators zur Analyse und Planung technischer Änderungen, Studienarbeit, 2011.

Yan, Qibo: Modellierung und Animation der Spannbildung in der virtuellen Realität - eine VRML und Java basierte Methode, Masterarbeit, 2011.

Winkes, Pascal: Konzept zur Implementierung physikalischer Eigenschaften in die Virtuelle Realität, Diplomarbeit, 2011.

Goienetxe, Bladi: Animation of Cutting Processes using VRML, Bachelor's thesis, 2012

Borgardt, Katharina; Fecher, André; Roser, Michael: Lichtsimulation in der Digitalen Fabrik, Projektarbeit, 2012.

9 List of Figures

Figure 1: Scale of SPLs in common situations	3
Figure 2: Recognized occupational diseases in Germany 2009, based on DGUV data	4
Figure 3: The sign of a noise-identified area (a) and various hearing protection tools (b)	9
Figure 4: Noise reduction method classification	10
Figure 5: The noise isolation cabin (a) and noise absorption shield (b) [JIM12]	10
Figure 6: The illustration of plane wavefronts and spherical wavefronts [Dein08]	12
Figure 7: The illustration of sound wave reflection at surfaces (specular and diffuse)	12
Figure 8: The refraction of sound waves	13
Figure 9: The diffractions of sound waves	14
Figure 10: Illustrated principle of image source [Rabe97]	17
Figure 11: Illustrated basic principle of ray tracing method [Funk98]	17
Figure 12: Illustrated basic principle of beam tracing method [Funk98]	18
Figure 13: Illustration of the radiosity method [Cohe85]	18
Figure 14: The Sensorama system (a) [Rhei91] and the VIVED system (b) [Fish86]	24
Figure 15: The three I's of VR systems [Burd93 and Burd03]	27
Figure 16: Fly stick (a), finger tracker (b) and 3D glasses with markers from A.R:T., gesture	e
tracker (d) from Microsoft and eye tracker (e) from Tobi	31
Figure 17: Various VR systems. From left to right: HMD from SONY, Powerwall at the	
University of California, Davis and CAVE system at the FBK institute	32
Figure 18: Hierarchical manufacturing levels of an enterprise [West09]	34
Figure 19: The research issue in this thesis	43
Figure 20: A road map of the tasks (objectives)	44
Figure 21: Development of the approach and the structure of chapter 4	45
Figure 22: Manufacturing Lab in institute FBK	46
Figure 23: A blueprint of Manufacturing Lab layout	47
Figure 24: Absorption functions provided by CARA [Dein08]	48
Figure 25: Devices for sound intensity measurement: a) a sound intensity probe, b) a pressu	re
calibrator, and c) setting of the probe	50
Figure 26: Measuring surface and measuring positions	50
Figure 27: Measurement setting for sound energy	51
Figure 28: SPLs of sub-surfaces at spindle speed =1120 rpm/SWL 92.8 dB	52
Figure 29: Linearly estimated SWLs of turning lathe	52
Figure 30: Devices for SPL measurement from company Brüel&Kjær: a) condenser	
microphone, b) SPL meter, and c) microphone calibrator	53
Figure 31: Comparison of average SPL of grinding machine during idling and machining	54
Figure 32: Comparison of average SPL of grinding machine during idling and machining	54
Figure 33: Measurements setup and measured positions in Manufacturing Lab	55
Figure 34: Average SPLs at 11 measured positions in the Manufacturing Lab	56
Figure 35: Modeling of a virtual environment	57
Figure 36: 3D modeling of a virtual environment with real lighting effects	58
Figure 37: Representation of a sphere-like sound source	60
Figure 38: Different human models [Span10] (a) and the ergonomic study using software el	M -
Human [Tecn03] (b)	60
Figure 39: Human model and used color scale	61
Figure 40: Flow chat diagram of the phonon tracing step [Dein08]	62
Figure 41: Illustration of phonon collection	63
Figure 42: Data flow of COVISE within one workstation	64
Figure 43: Data flow of COVISE using a distributed computing	65
Figure 44: Data flow among simulation server and COVISE modules	66
Figure 45: User interfaces for both simulation and VR	66

Figure 46: Illustrated CAVE system from front side (left) and back side (right)	67
Figure 47: Layout illustration of a CAVE based immersive VR system	68
Figure 48: The CAVE system at FBK	69
Figure 49: The devices contained in CAVE system: a) projectors and VR cluster, b) fly	stick
and 3D glasses with tracking markers, and c) IR-camera	69
Figure 50: a) user interfaces of GLview and b) Cortona3D Viewer	70
Figure 51: Illustration of a typical COVISE module	71
Figure 52: Module browser and mapping tool "MapEditor" of COVISE [Aumü08b]	71
Figure 53: A scene graph visualized using COVISE in display (a) and in CAVE (b)	72
Figure 54: Function diagram of simulation and visualization software tool	74
Figure 55: Modifying VRML file using software tool VrmlPad	76
Figure 56: Geometric modeling as data basis for software implementation	76
Figure 57: Main interface (left) and output monitoring (right) of simulation server	79
Figure 58: a) file navigation and b) simulation start in Cortona3D viewer	79
Figure 59: Visualization of phonon propagation and SPL at operation position	80
Figure 60: Sound particle (phonon) propagation and reelections on surfaces	81
Figure 61: Distributed application based on TCP/IP protocol	82
Figure 62: Visualization of single source and multi-sources of sound	83
Figure 63: Visualization of phonon propagation and SPL at an operation position	84
Figure 64: Visualization of SPL at more operation positions	84
Figure 65: Simulation and visualization interface in CAVE	85
Figure 66: The initial situation of use case 1 and three reschedule possibilities	86
Figure 67: Three rescheduled layout solutions	87
Figure 68: Improved noise situation after change 2	87
Figure 69: Measurement results (a), defined 11 positions for measuring (b)	88
Figure 70: Color scaled SPLs	88
Figure 71: An animation auto play of phonon propagation	89
Figure 72: Interactive animation of phonon propagation	90
Figure 73: Distributed implementation of sound simulation and visualization	91

10 List of Tables

Table 2-1: A brief summary of various legal limitations in Germany	7
Table 2-2: Employer duties as this noise arrived specific limits [Schm09]	8
Table 2-3: Example air attenuation coefficients at 20 °C with normal pressure [Kutt00]	14
Table 2-4: A comparison of main sound simulation methods	22
Table 2-5: An overview and comparison of commonly used VR software	29
Table 2-6: Comparison of four typical VR systems	32
Table 4-1: The absorption coefficient of common materials at different frequencies	48
Table 4-2: A comparison of sound power measurement methods	49
Table 4-3: Description of the measurement positions	55
Table 4-4: Operation status of five machines during measurement	56
Table 4-5: A brief summary of data acquisition	73
Table 5-1: An overview and comparison of VRML software tools	77
Table 6-1: Description of the measurement positions	88

11 Appendix

11.1 IIDB assessment from 2003/04 to 2008/9

Table	IIDB 2	003/04	1-200	8/09											
Prescribed	industrial o	diseases; no	on - lung (diseases in Enç	gland, Wa	ales and Scotla	and by di	sease ^(a)							
Discourse				0000	uo 4 ^(d)	0004	E (م.ت	ngland				0007/00 ^(d)	(e)	0000 (00 ^(d)	(e)(p)
Disease	• • •(b)			2003	/04	2004	/05	2005/06	(2006/07		2007/08		2008/09**	
Musculosk	keletal ^(e)			310	(185)	325	(215)	210	(125)	180	(110)	210	(120)	955	(80)
Vibration	nai deathe	ess		240	- (E)	205	(5)	155	-	135	- (E)	1/0	-	170	
Carpal tup	vinite ninge	ome		570	(5)	495	- (35)	370	- (35)	335	(30)	385	- (40)	350	- (25)
	ninitie			70	(5)	435	(5)	370	(5)	35	(10)	303	(40)	35	(5)
Dermatitis				140	(30)	125	(40)	105	(30)	100	(30)	80	(15)	60	(20)
Others				65	(10)	55	(5)	50	(10)	55	(15)	55	(10)	45	(5)
Total				2115	(-)	1880	(-)	1395	(- /	1225	(-)	1550	(- /	2275	(-)
								Wales							
Disease				2003	/04 ^(d)	2004	/05 ^(d)	2005/06 ^(d)		2006/07 ^(d)		2007/08 ^(d)		2008/09 ^(d)	
Musculosk	keletal ^(b)			20	(10)	20	(10)	10	(10)	15	(10)	30	(5)	135	-
Occupatio	nal deafne	ess		30		25		20		15		5		15	
Vibration v	vhite finge	er		125		105		75		65		280		70	
Carpal tun	nel syndro	ome		125	(5)	80	(10)	60	-	45	(5)	45	-	30	
Allergic Rh	ninitis			15		15		10		5	-	5		-	
Dermatitis				10	(5)	20	(5)	20	(5)	5	-	10	(5)	5	-
Others				5		5	-	5	-	5	-	5		-	
Total				330		270	-	200		160		375		260	
					(d)		(d)	cotiand		0000 (d)		(h) o o o = (o o (d)	(e)(p)	(d)	(e)(n)
Disease	(b)			2003	/04 ^(a)	2004	/05 ^(a)	2005/06(4)		2006/07(3)		2007/08(4)	(0)(0)	2008/09(4)	(0)(p)
Musculosk	keletal ⁽⁰⁾			20	(5)	20	(5)	20	(5)	20	(10)	15	(5)	175	(5)
Occupation	nal deathe	ess		60	-	25		35		20		35	-	20	
Vibration V	vnite tinge	er		105	(00)	150	(00)	95	-	70	(15)	100	(00)	120	(10)
Carpai tun	nei synar	ome		125	(20)	100	(20)	90	(20)	55	(15)	100	(20)	85	(10)
Dermatitie	nnus			20	- (5)	20	(5)	20	(5)	- 10	_	- 15	-	10	(5)
Others				5	-	5	(3)	5	(3)	15		10	-	10	-
Total				390		335		280		190		290		420	
							Grea	t Britain ^(c)							
Diseasee				2003	/0/1 ^(d)	2004	/05 ^(d)	2005/06 ^(d)		2006/07 ^(d)		2007/08 ^(d)	(e)	2008/00 ^(d)	(e)(p)
Mussulask	(alatal ^(b)			2003	(200)	2004	(020)	2003/00	(145)	2000/01	(105)	2001/00	(120)	2000/03	(05)
Occupation	nal deafne	200		345	(200)	255	(230)	243	(145)	175	(125)	200	(130)	205	(65)
Vibration v	vhite finge			1015	(5)	865	(3)	645		515	(5)	1005	-	850	-
Carpal tun	nel syndro	ome		820	(90)	675	(65)	520	(55)	435	(45)	530	(65)	465	(30)
Allergic Rh	ninitis	00		90	(10)	90	(10)	50	(5)	45	(10)	40	(5)	40	(5)
Dermatitis				170	(35)	165	(50)	145	(35)	115	(35)	105	(20)	75	(25)
Others				75	(10)	65	(10)	60	(10)	75	(15)	70	(15)	60	(5)
Total				2845		2490		1880		1575		2215		2960	
Notes:															
(a) Figures	are for yea	ars ending (30 Septe	mber, except fo	or occupa	tional deafnes	s where a	calendar years	1996 - 20	009 are show	n.				
Bracketed gender br	d figures ar eakdown v	e for female vas not avai	es. Wher ilable).	e not shown, all	cases a	re male (excep	ot for occ	upational deaf	ness befo	re 1998, whe	n the				
(c) Figures developed	for Great E d industrial	Britain incluc diseases fr	d Diseas le a smal rom empl	l number of cas	es not in t Britain,	cluded in Engla	and, Wale	sulting in an in es and Scotlar to live oversea	crease in nd breakd s.	owns. These i	ndividuals	5			
(u) From Ap	uboro the	e iigures in	uude a s	had not been	cases W	the time of art	lination	due to the pro-	as sunérii	ny but with no	IUSS OT				
acuity, or	where the	r Prescriber	d Diseas	o Δ11 came int	cuded at	in the 1st Octob	2007 or 2007	uue to the prov	increase	in claims and	id.	nte			
(n/a) Not a	vailable	i i rescriber	u Diseas		0 10108 0	The Ist Octor	2007	resulting in an	ncrease	in claims and	a35835118	11.0.			
(n) Provisio	nal														
- Nil or peg	liaible.														
To maintain	the anonv	mity of cust	omers all	100% data has	s been ro	unded to the n	earest 5.	Therefore tota	ls may no	ot sum.					
SOURCE :	DWP	,										1			

	0				
Country (Jurisdiction)	8-hour average A-weighted sound pressure level (dB)	Exchange rate (dB)	8h-average A-wtd limit for engineer- ing or administra- tive controls (dB)	8-h-average A- wtd limit for monitoring hear- ing (dB)	Upper limit for peak sound pres- sure level (dB)
Argentina	90	3			110 A Slow
Australia (varies by State)	85	3	85	85	140 unwgted pea
Austria (a), (c)	85		90		
Brazil	85	5	90, no exposure > 115 if no protec- tion, no time limit	85	130 unwgted peat or 115 A Slow
Canada (Federal)	87	3	87	84	
(ON, PQ, NB)	90	5	90	85 (b)	140 C peak
(Alta, NS, NF)	85	5	85		
(BC)	90	3	90		
Chile	85	5			140 unwgted peal or 115 A Slow
China	70-90	3			115 A slow
Finland (c)	85	3	90		
France (c)	85	3	90	85	135 C peak
Germany (c), (d)	85	3	90	85	140 C peak
Hungary	85	3	90		140 C peak or 125 A Slow
India	90				140 A peak
Israel	85	5			140 C peak or 115 A Slow
Italy (c)	85	3	90	85	140 C peak
Japan	90		85 hearing protection mandatory at 90	85	
Netherlands (c)	85	3	90	80	140 C peak
New Zealand	85	3	85	85	140 unwgted pea
Norway	85	3		80	110 A Slow
Poland	85	3			135 C peak or 115 A Slow
Spain (c)	85	3	90	80	140 C peak
Sweden (c)	85	3	90	80	140 C peak or 115 A Fast
Switzerland	85 or 87	3	85	85	140 C peak or 125 ASEL
United Kingdom	85	3	90	85	140 C peak
USA (e) USA (Army and Air Force)	90 (TWA) 85	5 3	90	85 85	140 C peak or 115 A Slow 140 C peak

11.2 Some features of legislation in various countries [Embl97]

57

Arbeitstisch 16

Objektname Objektklasse Nummer Wand 1 Wand 1 Wand 2 Wand 2 Wand 3 Wand 1 3 Wand 4 Wand 2 4 Doppeltür 1 Doppeltür 5 Schaltschrank 1 Schaltschrank 6 Regal 1 Regal 1 Doppeltür 2 8 Doppeltür Laser 1 Laser 10 Doppeltür 3 Doppeltür 11 Werkzeugschrank 1 Werkzeugschrank 1 12 Spüle 1 Spüle 1 13 Arbeitstisch 1 Arbeitstisch 1 14 Schrank 1 Schrank 1 15 Arbeitstsich 2 Arbeitstisch 2b Arbeitstisch 3 Arbeitstisch 3 16 17 Werkzeugschrank 2 Werkzeugschrank 1 Arbeitstisch 4 18 Arbeitstisch 4 19 Hallentor Hallentor 20 Spüle 2 Spüle 1 21 Arbeitstisch 5 Arbeitstisch 1 22 Kühlschank 1 Kühlschrank 1 Kühlschrank 2 23 Kühlschank 2 24 Doppeltür 4 Doppeltür 25 Tür 1 Tür 26 Tür 2 Tür 27 Tür 3 Tür 28 Tür 4 Tür 29 Regal 2 Regal 2 Regal 3 Regal 2 30 Regal 2 31 Regal 4 32 Schrank 2 Schrank 1 33 Schrank 3 Schrank 1 Werkzeugschrank 1 34 Werkzeugschrank 3 35 Werkzeugschrank 4 Werkzeugschrank 1 36 Schrank 4 Schrank 1 NG 200 37 Drehmaschine 1 38 Arbeitstisch 6 Arbeitstisch 5 39 Arbeitstisch 7 Arbeitstisch 5 40 Arbeitstisch 8 Arbeitstisch 9 41 Arbeitstsich 9 Arbeitstisch 9 42 Bohr/Fräszentrum 1 DMU 43 Arbeitstisch 8 Arbeitstsich 10 44 Arbeitstisch 11 Arbeitstisch 2 45 Werkzeugschrank 5 Werkzeugschrank 46 Werkzeugschleifmaschine 1 Walter 47 Arbeitstisch 12 Arbeitstisch 6 48 Arbeitstisch 13 Arbeittisch 5 49 Werkzeugschrank 6 Werkzeugschrank 2 50 Werkzeugschrank 7 Werkzeugschrank 3 Stehtisch 1 51 Stehtisch 1 52 Werkzeugschrank 8 Werkzeugschrank 53 Arbeitstisch 14 Arbeitstisch 2 54 Schrank 4 Schrank 2 55 Schrank 5 Schrank 2 56 Arbeitstisch 15 Arbeitstsich 5

Arbeitstisch 5

11.3 A list of to be modeled objects in FBK Manufacturing Lab

Checkliste Halle			
FBK Maschinenhalle			
Raumplan der Halle			
##	1		
<u></u>			
Siehe zusatzlich Extrablatt	Hallenpla	'n	
Bereich 1: Tempero	aturschwo e Bodens	ankungen tabilität	Bereich 4: Bereich 5: Bereich 6:
	Ja	Nein	Weitere Angaben (auszufüllen bei "Ja")
lst ein Hallenplan (z.B. Bau- oder Fluchtplan)			Höhe: 3,40, außer im Gang, dort nur 2,30m Länge und Breite siehe Plan
vorhanden?			Höhe x Länge x Breite der Halle (falls verschiedene Höhen in der Halle existiere
			Boden: grau/ weiß
	X		Wände: weiße Steine mit grauen Fugen Decke: Beton: weiß/ grau
			Aus welchen Materialien bestehen Boden, Wände und Decke der Halle?
			Wurden Bilder der Halle eingefügt (falls nicht, grob Farbe des Bodens, der Wä und der Decke beschreiben)?
Gibt es Türen/Tore, die auf dem Plan nicht verzeichnet sind oder deren Größe und/oder Lage durch den Plan nicht bestimmt ist?		\times	Größe und Position der Türen/Tore, nach Möglichkeit auch Angabe der Farben

11.4 A filled check list of modeling of machine NG 200

Name der Halle: FBK Maschinenhalle Wurden Versorgungsanschlüsse (Strom, Druckluft, KSS, Kühlwasser, Gase, etc.) auf dem Plan gekennzeichnet? Position und Art der vorhandenen Anschlüsse Gibt es Bereiche der Halle, die besonderen Temperaturschwank-Im Bereich des Lichteinfalls durch die Fenster ungen ausgesetzt sind (durch große Tore oder große Glasflächen am Gebäude) oder speziell klimatisierte Bereiche? Position und Größe der Bereiche mit der jeweils möglichen Temperatur bzw. den Temperaturschwankungen Gibt es Bereiche der Halle, in der die Luftfeuchtigkeit stark schwankt oder extreme Werte annimmt? Position und Größe der Bereiche mit der jeweils möglichen Luftfeuchtigkeit Gibt es Bereiche der Halle, die speziell beleuchtet sind oder in Durch große Fensterfront teilweise natürliche der die Beleuchtung stark Beleuchtungssituation schwankt (z.B. durch große Tore oder Position und Größe der Bereiche mit jeweils genauen Beschreibung der Fenster)? Beleuchtungssituation Gibt es Bereiche in der Halle, die frei zu halten Gang sowie Zugänge zu Türen sind (Fluchtwege, Transportwege, Kranabsatzflächen, etc.) Position und Größe der freizuhaltenden Bereiche Weist der Boden der Halle unterschiedliche Tragfähigkeiten auf (z.B. Produktion auf verschiedene Etagen verteilt oder unterschiedliche Fundamente)? Position und Größe der verschiedenen Bereiche und deren Tragfähigkeit Gibt es Bereiche in der Halle, an die spezielle Lautstärkeanforderungen gestellt werden (z.B. durch umliegende Position und Größe der verschiedenen Bereiche mit der jeweils zulässigen Gebäude)? Lautstärke (in dB) Seite 2 von 3 Wichtige zusätzliche Informationen



11.5 Absorption coefficient of common building materials [WSDG11]

					Absorption Coefficients		nts			
Material	Description	Thickness	Mounting	Unit Size	125Hz	250Hz	500Hz	1kHz	2kHz	4kHz
ASCPac Acustadek B	Steel deck, perforated webs, absorptive backing	1,50	A	108 x 96	0,23	0,67	1,21	0,82	0,46	0,24
ASCPac Acustadek B	Steel deck, total perforated absorptive backing	1,50	A	108 x 96	0,23	0,48	0,92	0,97	0,95	0,76
ASCPac Acustadek BF	Steel deck, pan perforated absorptive backing	1,50	A	108 x 96	0,53	0,58	0,75	0,97	0,86	0,57
ASCPac Acustadek N	Steel deck, perforated webs, absorptive backing	3,00	Δ	108 x 96	0,38	0,94	1,18	1.05	0,44	0,24
ASCPac Acustadek NF	Steel deck, ban perforated absorptive backing	3.00	A	108 x 96	0,40	0,01	1,01	0.88	0.69	0,70
AWI Type 2906	Fiberglass panel with perforated vinyl film facing	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,68	0,68	0,67	0,84	0,86	0,71
AWI Type 2907	Vinyl-faced fiberglass with vinyl film facing	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,53	0,37	0,50	0,82	0,82	0,72
AWI Type 2921	Vinyl membrane facing over fiberglass lay-in panel	1,50	E-400	24 x 48	0,57	0,79	0,77	0,90	0,71	0,47
AWI Type 2925	Vinyi-film-faced, fiberglass lay-in panel	1,00	E-400	24 X 48	0,55	47,00	0,72	0,80	0,74	0,54
AWI Type 2946	Microperforated vinyl film-faced fiberglass panel	1,00	E-400	24 x 48	0,02	0,89	0,30	1.01	1,00	0.93
AWI Type 3101	Cloth-faced, fiberglass lay-in panel, painted	0,75	E-400	24 x 48	0,71	0,87	0,62	0.86	0,96	1.07
AWI Type 3103	Woven glass fibers adhered to fiberglass board, painted	1,00	E-400	24 x 48	0,70	0,95	0,75	0,99	1,04	1,01
AWI Type 3105	Cloth-faced fiberglass lay-in panel, factory painted	1,50	E-400	24 x 48	0,74	0,97	0,85	1,03	1,05	1,00
AWI Type 3301	Cloth-taced, tiberglass lay-in panel, painted	0,75	E-400	24 x 48	0,48	0,35	0,71	0,96	1,05	1,04
AWI Type 537	Mineral fiber lawin panel with factory applied paint	0,63	E-400 E-400	24 x 40 24 y 48	0,35	0,34	0,40	0,69	0,00	0,92
AWI Type 602	Ceramic and mineral fiber, non-combustible, lay-in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,23	0,00	0,50	0,77	0,91	0.86
AWI Type 704	Fissured mineral fiber, "Cortega" lay-in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,35	0,27	0,47	0,65	0,74	0,82
AWI Type 737	Surface-textured, mineral, "Minatex" lay in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,36	0,28	0,47	0,65	0,76	0,82
AWI Type 769	Fissured mineral fiber, "Cortega" lay in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,31	0,32	0,51	0,72	0,74	0,77
AWI Type 775	Surfaced-textured, mineral, "Minatex" lay in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,30	0,28	0,43	0,64	0,76	0,68
AWI Type 823	Fissured mineral fiber, fire-resistive lav-in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,23	0,34	0,50	0,73	0,70	0,84
AWI Type 863	Vinyl-faced aluminum surface mineral fiber, lay-in panel	0,63	E-400	24 x 48	0,35	0,36	0,55	0,90	0,74	0,46
BHS Limpet	Spray-on mineral-fiber material	2,50	А	NONE	0,05	0,30	0,75	1,00	1,07	1,05
BHS Pyrok	Spray-on, medium structure material	2,00	A	NONE	0,06	0,14	0,30	0,59	0,92	0,56
BradIns	Glasswool building blanket	(50)	A	120cm x 15m	0,68	0,75	1,05	1,04	1,05	1,11
Bradins	Glasswool building blanket with perforated foil facing	(50)	A	120cm x 15m	0,55	0,69	1,07	1,07	0,99	1,00
Bradins	Glasswool building blanket with perforated foil facing	(50)	A	120cm x 15m	0,56	0.87	1.09	1.03	0,21	0,14
Bradins	Glasswool building blanket with perforated foil facing	(100)	A	120cm x 15m	0,75	0,93	1,14	1,00	1,03	0,00
BradIns	Suspended rockwool panels enclosed in polypropylene film	(50)	hung	50cm x 120cm	0,18	0,44	0,83	1,25	1,14	0,96
BradIns	Glasswool building blanket with perforated foil facing	(75)	Α	120cm x 15m	0,47	0,96	1,11	1,05	1,01	0,88
BradIns Fibertex 350	Rockwool blanket	(25)	A	90cm x 150cm	0,18	0,29	0,69	0,86	1,05	1,20
Bradins Fibertex 350	Rockwool blanket	(50)	A	90cm x 150cm	0,29	0,70	1,19	1,04	1,14	1,06
Bradins Fibertex 350	Duct liner	(75)	Δ	120cm x 150 cm	0,60	0.29	1,13	0,99	1,07	1,01
Bradins Fibertex R4	Duct liner	(50)	A	120cm x 150cm	0,10	0,20	1.20	1.04	1,14	1.06
BradIns Fibertex R4	Duct liner, perforated foil facing	(25)	А	120cm x 150cm	0,36	0,21	0,30	0,97	1,06	0,67
BradIns Fibertex R4	Duct liner, perforated foil facing	(50)	Α	120cm x 150cm	0,31	0,83	1,15	0,99	0,90	0,78
BradIns Fibertex R6	Duct liner	(25)	A	120cm x 150cm	0,11	0,20	0,80	1,10	1,02	1,12
Bradins Fibertex R6	Duct liner	(50)	A	120cm x 150cm	0,36	0,91	1,19	1,20	1,07	1,05
Bradins Fibertex R6	Duct liner, perforated foil facing	(25)	Δ	120cm x 150cm	0,12	0,27	0,80	1,17	1,16	0,80
Bradins Flexitel	Glasswool building blanket	(25)	A	120cm x 15m	0.33	0,31	0.61	0.89	1,00	1.05
BradIns Flexitel	Glasswool building blanket	(25)	A	120cm x 15m	0,03	0,33	0,68	1,04	1,15	0,95
BradIns Flexitel	Glasswool building blanket	(50)	Α	120cm x 15m	0,42	0,64	0,92	1,07	0,98	1,02
BradIns Flexitel	Glasswool building blanket	(50)	A	120cm x 15m	0,39	0,84	1,08	1,20	1,06	1,01
Bradins Supertel	Glasswool blanket	(25)	A	120cm x 240cm	0,12	0,41	0,63	0,90	1,01	0,99
Bradins Supertel	Glasswool blanket with perforated foil facing	(25)	Δ	120cm x 240cm	0,08	0,39	0,73	0.83	1,12	0,04
Bradins Supertel	Glasswool blanket with 23um Mylar film facing	(25)	A	120cm x 240cm	0,15	0,62	0,67	1.07	1,08	0,71
BradIns Supertel	Glasswool blanket with 50 um Mylar film facing	(25)	Α	120cm x 240cm	0,13	0,44	0,92	1,14	0,82	0,45
BradIns Supertel	Glasswool blanket with 23um Mylar film facing	(50)	A	120cm x 240cm	0,20	0,55	1,20	1,15	1,04	0,83
Bradins Supertel	Glasswool blanket with 59um Mylar film facing	(50)	A	120cm x 240cm	0,30	0,60	1,16	1,07	0,85	0,59
Conweb Tufflex G-37	Cellulose, nonwoven panel core	1,00	A	NONE	0,12	0,29	0,65	0,94	1,05	0,91
Conweb Tufflex G-40	Cellulose, nonwoven panel core	0,75	A	NONE	0,12	0,10	0,55	0,72	0,91	0,89
CTeed lb150	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,00	A	24 x 48	0,19	0,62	0,72	0,82	0,88	0,89
CTeed IB150	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,50	Α	24 x 48	0,19	0,51	0,82	0,86	0,95	0,97
CTeed IB150	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	2,50	A	24 x 48	0,41	0,78	0,96	0,94	0,93	0,97
CTeed IB150	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	2,50	F-25	24 x 48	0,54	0,85	0,97	0,96	0,93	0,97
CTeed IB200	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,00	A	24 x 48	0,15	0,55	0,73	0,86	0,92	0,94
CTeed IB250	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,00	A	24 x 48	0,25	0,32	0,71	0,83	0,89	0,95
CTeed IB250	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	3,00	A	24 x 48	0,44	0.91	1,07	0,99	1,02	0,99
CTeed IB300	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,00	А	24 x 48	0,19	0,49	0,69	0,87	0,92	0,94
CTeed IB420	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,00	Α	24 x 48	0,33	0,40	0,70	0,94	1,00	0,98
CTeed IB420	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	1,50	A	24 x 48	0,09	0,45	0,91	0,99	1,02	0,96
CTeed IB420 CTeed IB600	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	3,00	A	24 X 48	0,54	1,01	1,05	0,98	1,01	0,97
CTeed IB600	Unfaced fiberglass board, bonded with thermosetting resin	2.50	A	24 x 48	0,12	0,32	1.02	0,84	1.00	0,93
CTeed MBP	Fiberglass blanket, flexible, unfaced	3,50	A	rolls	0,38	0,90	1,00	0,93	0,94	0,99
CTeed MBP	Fiberglass blanket, flexible, unfaced	5,00	A	rolls	0,68	1,11	1,06	0,94	1,00	0,97
CTeed MBP	Fiberglass blanket, flexible, unfaced	6,00	A	rolls	0,88	1,19	1,03	0,96	1,02	1,00
CTeed Ultracoustic	Fiberglass blanket with flexible internal septum	3,00	A	roll	0,43	0,91	0,99	0,98	0,95	0,93
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberglass duct liner with surface coating	1,00	F-25	roll	0,34	0,42	0,47	0,84	0,80	0,79
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberglass duct liner with surface coating	2.00	F-25	roll	0.32	0.71	0.83	0.91	0,95	1.01
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberglass duct liner with surface coating	1,00	F-25	roll	0,23	0,47	0,57	0,74	0,85	0,87
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberglass duct liner with surface coating	1,50	F-25	roll	0,33	0,57	0,79	0,91	0,92	0,89
CT eed Ultralite	Herglass duct liner with surface coating	2,00	F-25	roll	0,39	0,69	0,92	0,98	0,93	1,00
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberglass duct liner with surface coating	1,00	F-25	roll	0,23	0,47	0,61	0,79	0,88	0,91
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberalass duct liner with surface coating	2.00	F-25	roll	0.36	0,03	0,80	0.99	0.93	0.97
CTeed Ultralite	Fiberglass duct liner with surface coating	1,00	A	roll	0,10	0,28	0,50	0,70	0,82	0,83
		-								

Curriculum vitae

Xiang Yang



School:

Sep 1986 – Jul 1992	Primary school Yucai, Yangzhou, China
Sep 1992 – Jul 1998	Gymnasium Yangzhou, Yangzhou, China
	Certificate: Higher education entrance qualification

Education:

Sep 1998 – Jun 2001	Department of Architecture, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China
Oct 2002 – Sep 2008	Department of Industrial Engineering, University of Kaiserslautern,
	Kaiserslautern, Germany
	Degree: Diplom-Wirtschaftsingenieurin (DiplWirtschIng.)

Professional Activities:

Jun 2001 – Sep 2001	Intern, Yaxing-Benz Co., Ltd., Yangzhou, China
Sep 2005 – Feb 2006	Intern, Heidelberger Druckmaschinen AG, Wiesloch, Germany
Jun 2006 – Mar 2008	Research Assistant, Institute for Composite Materials, Kaiserslautern, Germany
Oct 2008 – Oct 2012	Research Engineer, Institute for Manufacturing Technology and Production Systems, Kaiserslautern, Germany
Since Dec 2012	Employee, Daimler AG, Böblingen, Germany

Scholarship and Exchange Program

Oct 2008 – Oct 2011	Fellowship of DFG IRTG 1131
Nov 2009 – Apr 2012	Visiting Scholar, Institute for Data Analysis and Visualization,
	University of California, Davis, USA